Notice of Meeting

Adults and Health Select
Committee
Date & time
Thursday, 15
October 2020 at
10.30 am

Place
REMOTE MEETING
Streaming here:
https://surreycc.publici.tv/core/portal/home

Contact
Ben Cullimore, Scrutiny
Officer
Room 122, County Hall
Tel 0208 213 2782

Chief Executive
Joanna Killian
We’re on Twitter:
@SCCdemocracy

ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in
another format, eg large print or braille, or another language please
email ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk.
This meeting will be held in public and remotely. If you would like to
attend and you have any special requirements, please contact Ben
Cullimore, Scrutiny Officer on 0208 213 2782.
Elected Members
Dr Bill Chapman (Vice-Chairman), Mrs Clare Curran, Mr Nick Darby (Vice-Chairman), Mr Bob
Gardner, Mrs Angela Goodwin, Mr Jeff Harris, Mr Ernest Mallett MBE, Mr David Mansfield, Mrs
Marsha Moseley, Mrs Tina Mountain, Mrs Bernie Muir (Chairman) and Mrs Fiona White
Independent Representatives:
Borough Councillor Neil Houston (Elmbridge Borough Council), Borough Councillor Vicki
Macleod (Elmbridge Borough Council) and Borough Councillor Darryl Ratiram (Surrey Heath
Borough Council)

TERMS OF REFERENCE









Statutory health scrutiny
Adult Social Care (including safeguarding)
Health integration and devolution
Review and scrutiny of all health services commissioned or delivered within Surrey
Public Health
Review delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Health and Wellbeing Board
Future local delivery model and strategic commissioning

Page 1

AGENDA

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
To receive apologies for absence.

2

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS: 14 JULY 2020 AND 7
AUGUST 2020

(Pages 5
- 24)

To agree the minutes of the previous meetings of the Adults and Health
Select Committee as true and accurate records of proceedings.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or
as soon as possible thereafter:
I.

Any disclosable pecuniary interests and/or

II.

Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any
item(s) of business being considered at this meeting.
NOTES:

4



Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item
where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest



As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of
which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or
civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a
spouse or civil partner)



Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the
discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be
reasonably regarded as prejudicial

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, all questions and petitions received will be
responded to in writing and will be contained within the minutes of the
meeting.
NOTES:
1. The deadline for Members’ questions is 12pm four working days
before the meeting (9 October 2020).
2. The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting
(8 October 2020)
3. The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no
petitions have been received.

5

REPORT OF THE MENTAL HEALTH TASK GROUP
Purpose of the report: The Select Committee will be provided with a
detailed report on the findings and recommendations of the Mental Health
Page 2

(Pages
25 - 56)

Task Group.

6

UPDATE ON ADULT SOCIAL CARE MENTAL HEALTH
TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

(Pages
57 - 82)

Purpose of the report: The Select Committee will review and scrutinise
the ongoing Adult Social Care (ASC) Mental Health Transformation
Programme, making recommendations accordingly.

7

WINTER PRESSURES IN SURREY HEARTLANDS

(Pages
83 - 136)

Purpose of the report: The Select Committee is to review a follow-up
report that outlines performance against the key themes included in the
original Winter Pressures report, presented to the Select Committee in
October 2019. The Select Committee will also ensure that appropriate
measures are in place for Winter 2020-21, and it will scrutinise the ongoing
work being done to improve the take up of appropriate vaccinations in
Surrey for residents, NHS staff, partners and those who interact with the
system.

8

WINTER PRESSURES IN FRIMLEY HEALTH AND CARE
Purpose of the report: The Select Committee is to review a follow-up
report that outlines performance against the key themes included in the
original Winter Pressures report, presented to the Select Committee in
October 2019. The Select Committee will also ensure that appropriate
measures are in place for Winter 2020-21, and it will scrutinise the ongoing
work being done to improve the take up of appropriate vaccinations in
Surrey for residents, NHS staff, partners and those who interact with the
system.

9

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER AND FORWARD WORK
PROGRAMME

(Pages
137 158)

(Pages
159 172)

Purpose of the report: For the Select Committee to review the attached
recommendations tracker and forward work programme, making
suggestions for additions or amendments as appropriate.

10

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING
The next public meeting of the committee will be held on 17 December
2020.

11

PRIVATE WORKSHOP
Budget Scrutiny: review of the Council’s current financial position and core
planning assumptions.

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive
Published: Monday, 5 October 2020

Page 3

FIELD_TITLE

Page 4

Item 2
MINUTES of the meeting of the ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT
COMMITTEE held at 10.30 am on 14 July 2020 at REMOTE MEETING.
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its meeting on
Thursday, 15 October 2020.
Elected Members:
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Dr Bill Chapman (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs Clare Curran
Mr Nick Darby (Vice-Chairman)
Mr Bob Gardner
Mrs Angela Goodwin
Mr Jeff Harris
Mr Ernest Mallett MBE
Mr David Mansfield
Mrs Marsha Moseley
Mrs Tina Mountain
Mrs Bernie Muir (Chairman)
Mrs Fiona White

Co-opted Members:
*
Borough Councillor Vicki Macleod, Elmbridge Borough Council
*
Borough Councillor Darryl Ratiram, Surrey Heath Borough
Council
*
Borough Councillor Rachel Turner, Reigate and Banstead
Borough Council

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS [Item 1]
None received.

2

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS: 5 JUNE 2020 [Item 2]
The minutes were agreed as a true record of the meeting.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST [Item 3]
Cllr Clare Curran declared that she had an interest in the Learning
Disabilities and Autism Service Update item, as she was Chairman and NonExecutive Director of Surrey Choices. She would withdraw from the meeting
when that item was discussed.
Cllr Bernie Muir declared that she was a patron of Mary Frances Trust.

4

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS [Item 4]
None received.

5

ADULT SOCIAL CARE TRANSFORMATION UPDATE [Item 5]
Witnesses:

Page 5

Karl Atreides, Chair, Independent Mental Health Network
Jonathan Lillistone, Assistant Director of Commissioning (Adult Social Care)
Nick Markwick, Co-Chair, Surrey Coalition of Disabled People
Sinead Mooney, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health
Kate Scribbins, Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Surrey
Liz Uliasz, Deputy Director of Adult Social Care
Simon White, Executive Director of Adult Social Care
Patrick Wolter, Chief Executive Officer, Mary Frances Trust
Ernest Mallett joined the meeting at 10:34am.
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. Members enquired whether the scope of the Market Management
work mentioned in the report included market frailty and the actions
the Council would take to prevent market failure. The Executive
Director of Adult Social Care (ASC) confirmed that it did include
market frailty. While Surrey County Council had a particular interest in
protecting parts of the care market with which it did business, it also
had a more general duty to ensure the care market in Surrey was
successful. Moreover, the Covid-19 pandemic had brought particular
challenges to the care market.
2. A Member noted that in the report, Practice Improvement had been
‘RAG’ rated as amber/red, and expressed concern that this
programme had been slow in implementing the strengths-based
approach. He asked what impact that had had, including impact on the
budget. The Executive Director of ASC responded that the Council
had been taking steps on the strengths-based approach since 2018
and the strengths-based approach was still central to its philosophy.
Unfortunately, the Covid-19 pandemic had had an impact on the
service and shifted the focus towards hospital discharges and funding
requirements, which had somewhat overshadowed the strengthsbased approach. The Deputy Director of ASC added that training on
the strengths-based approach had started again virtually and tools for
implementing the strengths-based approach were being rolled out, so
after the difficulty of the pandemic, the approach was now back on
track.
3. A Member asked for a general update on care package reviews and
queried whether the reviews had resumed yet following the Covid-19
lockdown. The Executive Director of ASC said that reviews were still
taking place and the most challenging area was Learning Disabilities
(LD). The Council was not reaching the level of savings from the
review process that it had anticipated; this may be because the
reviews were being conducted virtually.
4. A Member expressed concern about the topic of rates of pay for
domiciliary carers. He asserted that some contractors paid one rate of
pay for the time spent caring and another for the time spent travelling
between clients, which could mean carers are paid below minimum
wage. The Executive Director of ASC responded that there was no
evidence that any of Surrey County Council’s contractors were using
different rates of pay to subvert the minimum wage. Moreover,
different businesses treated travel times differently. The Assistant
Director of Commissioning (ASC) added that the Council was very
clear from a commissioning perspective that providers were expected
to comply with legal obligations, and if they did not comply, this would
be investigated.

Page 6

5. The Co-Chair of the Surrey Coalition of Disabled People remarked that
during the Covid-19 pandemic, the use of technology to support clients
had become more widespread. However, the section on technology
enabled care (TEC) on page 21 of the report did not include details of
how the Council would use TEC going forward. The Cabinet Member
for Adults and Health said that during lockdown the use of TEC had
improved and the Council was scoping a project to identify
opportunities to further improve its offer to residents, working with
districts and boroughs and NHS colleagues. The Cabinet Member
would keep the committee updated on this.
6. The Co-Chair of the Surrey Coalition noted the possibility of moving
the Direct Payments (DP) function in-house. He asked whether there
had been examples recently where DP support had been removed
from a number of people and they had had to go directly to the Council
for support. At the moment, independent support was available for
people looking for carers; however, bringing the service in-house may
make this more difficult. The Assistant Director of Commissioning
(ASC) stated that the service’s approach was to collaborate with
external partners – like the Surrey Coalition of Disabled People – who
played an important role. The Executive Director of ASC indicated that
the Council had increased the hourly rate that people on DPs could
pay their personal assistants so that was now linked to the London
Living Wage and would be automatically uplifted each year.
7. A Member asked whether the Council was tracking care homes’ use of
the infection control funding that had come from government and what
the outcome of this funding was for care homes. The Executive
Director of ASC replied that the use of the infection control grant was
tightly controlled by government. Three-quarters of the funding had to
be spent directly on infection control, while the Council had more
discretion on the remaining quarter. The infection control grant was
linked to the Care Home Resilience Plan submitted to government,
which included a tracker where care homes had to update their status.
The plan covered elements including personal protective equipment
(PPE), staff moving between homes, and whether staff had the right
guidance. The rate of infection and number of deaths in care homes
were decreasing, indicating that this plan was effective. Moreover, the
Executive Director emphasised that as the pandemic was easing the
Council was reintroducing visits to care homes.
8. A Member remarked that he had heard cases where some care
homes had been charging residents high fees for PPE provision. The
Executive Director responded that PPE was not free in all cases and,
whereas towards the beginning of the pandemic there had been
supplies of PPE from the government and public donations, care
homes were now expected to purchase PPE in the normal way from
suppliers and could therefore legitimately charge residents for PPE.
Some unscrupulous suppliers had taken advantage of the demand for
PPE and increased prices. The Council would only provide PPE to
care providers for free in a short-term emergency. However, the
Executive Director said that if the Member had encountered cases
where self-funders had experienced very high prices for PPE, this
should be taken up with care homes on a case-by-case basis.
9. A Member queried whether the Council was putting in place measures
to alleviate the mental health problems that some residents may
develop due to self-isolation during the pandemic. The Deputy Director
of ASC acknowledged that the Council had seen an increase in mental

Page 7

health referrals, particularly Section 136 referrals (removing to a place
of safety by police under the Mental Health Act). Visits to clients had
continued throughout the pandemic where necessary, and the Council
had been working with external providers such as Mary Frances Trust.
Moreover, staff were being trained to recognise mental health
symptoms through helplines. The Council was continuing to respond
to referrals as they came in. All the relevant information and resources
were available in one place on the Healthy Surrey website.
10. A Member enquired what the remit of the Surrey and Borders
Partnership (SABP) reference group was. The Deputy Director of ASC
replied that the remit was psychological first aid, and the group had
been formed in response to concerns about the mental health of
shielded people and people who were self-isolating. One example of a
response was that psychological first aid training had been set up for
helpline staff. The Deputy Director agreed to send the Terms of
Reference of the group to the Chairman of the Select Committee.
11. A Member asked for more information on the budget for mental health
– what efficiencies had been identified? The Deputy Director of ASC
said that the Council was working through the budget plan at the
moment, including the staffing budget, setting up a reablement service
and prevention work. These could all help achieve efficiencies. The
Member questioned whether the plans for the staffing budget would
equate to fewer staff. The Deputy Director responded that this was not
the case and that the service would struggle to operate with fewer
staff. Rather, efficiencies would be made by ensuring resources were
in the right place.
12. A Member asked what phase one of the mental health programme had
consisted of and what phase two looked like now it had been revised.
The Deputy Director of ASC replied that phase one had been ending
the Section 75 agreement and moving staff into locality teams. Part of
changing this structure was ensuring all staff were trained in the care
act and using recording systems correctly. Phase two involved
embedding the strengths-based approach, ensuring teams had the
right line management structure and developing a hospital discharge
process and working effectively with mental health colleagues to
secure the right outcomes for residents. Other focuses included
ensuring people had access to employment and working with
commissioners.
13. A Member asked what the ambitions were to work in a
multidisciplinary way with other services, giving the example of
children’s services, which had a family safeguarding model bringing
together multiple other services. Regarding adults’ services, there was
a ‘toxic trio’ of poor mental health, drug and alcohol abuse, and
domestic violence, and multidisciplinary work could help with this. The
Deputy Director of ASC said that adults’ services were building
multidisciplinary relationships, by working with GPs, for example. The
service had been working with Helen Rostill (Director of Mental Health,
Surrey Heartlands/Chief Innovation Officer & Director of Therapies,
Surrey & Borders Partnership) to connect community services to
mental health services. There was also room for partnership working
with districts and boroughs on housing, as that could have a significant
effect on mental health.
14. A Member enquired what support was given to young people for the
transition from children’s mental health services (CAMHS) to adults’
mental health services. The Deputy Director of ASC explained that she

Page 8

had been in contact with the Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism &
Transition about this. There had been some referrals from CAMHS to
adults’ mental health services on someone’s 18th birthday, which was
deemed too late to do effective transition work. As work was
transferred from SABP to the Council, the Council was aiming to
improve the transition process.
15. A Member expressed concern that more young people were
developing mental health issues, and that the service did not have
sufficient funding or staffing to cope with this. She also was concerned
about the medium-term psychological impacts of Covid-19, such as
‘brain fog’. The Executive Director of ASC acknowledged that some
people, particularly those with learning disabilities (LD) or mental
health issues, would suffer psychological damage due to Covid-19.
The service was anticipating more referrals on this and would respond
to them accordingly.
16. A Member expressed concern that GPs were overprescribing
medication to patients in order to mask mental health problems, rather
than tackling the problem itself. He suggested that the Healthy Surrey
website link (which contained details of many services in one place)
should be cascaded to GPs. The Executive Director of ASC
highlighted the fact that GPs did not come under the Council’s ASC
services remit. Nonetheless, primary care was playing its part in
mental health services. The Council was trying to shift away from
severe and enduring mental health problems such as psychosis
towards services like SABP, IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological
Therapies) and community services.
17. A Member enquired why the RAG rating for hospital discharge was
amber in the report. The Deputy Director of ASC replied that this was
because of lockdown, which had led to the pausing of multiple areas of
work. These had now been un-paused and details were being
finalised. However, the rating was still amber, as the service had not
achieved everything it would have hoped to have achieved.
18. A Member asked how the review of mental health structures was
being conducted and how residents, Healthwatch Surrey and the
Adults and Health Select Committee could be involved. The Deputy
Director of ASC stated that the review involved looking at caseload
numbers, staffing and other resources issues. Once models were
developed, user representatives such as Healthwatch Surrey would be
involved. The Member suggested working with other external
organisations too.
19. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Healthwatch Surrey asked
witnesses to comment on the number of complaints recently. Also,
what themes had been identified in complaints and what advocacy
support was available for those pursuing complaints? The Executive
Director of ASC responded that the Council did use complaints as a
source of learning and that the Select Committee had received the
annual complaints report that analysed complaints received and
detailed learning from ombudsman cases. Since 2019 there had not
been any major shifts in the level of complaints. The Chairman of the
Select Committee also informed the CEO of Healthwatch Surrey about
the dashboard that the committee was developing, which would show
complaints data.
20. The Chair of the Independent Mental Health Network (IMHN)
expressed concern about mental health supply and demand
throughout Surrey. He declared that prior to the pandemic the supply

Page 9

had not kept up with the demand, and the pandemic had worsened
this situation. Organisations such as Surrey Police had noticed an
increase in death by suicide amongst young people. Moreover, people
with secondary mental health issues were often rejected from mental
health services as they were deemed not to reach criteria, as these
criteria were always changing. Apart from GPIMHS (GP Integrated
Mental Health services), what provision was in place to reach
increased demand for mental health services? The Executive Director
of ASC said that the responsibility for this lay with SABP, so they
would be the best people to answer this question. The Chair of the
IMHN replied that the IMHN was already working with SABP. He
added that he had gone through the service himself, and praised the
enabling independence service. However, the pandemic’s impact was
not to be underestimated and there was a burden on the voluntary
sector to fill in the gaps. The Deputy Director of ASC thanked the
Chair of the IMHN for his feedback and expressed a wish to develop
reablement services and relationships with external organisations.
21. A Member queried how Surrey County Council compared with the
market leader in ASC and what could be learnt from them. The
Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) said that the report pointed
to a number of measures by which the Council could compare itself to
other LAs. For example, other LAs often did well when it came to
consistency across the market, including quality, pricing and
confidence in being able to secure placements. A more strategic,
centralised approach was one mechanism by which Surrey County
Council could achieve that. The Member responded by asking who the
market leader was and why Surrey was not leading with them. The
Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) expressed a wish to avoid
commenting on specific history, but with regards to near neighbour
LAs, they had a similar approach to Surrey County Council. However,
the Member stated that near neighbours such as West Sussex, Essex
and Hertfordshire offered better services at a lower cost, and asked
why Surrey was not achieving the same. The Assistant Director of
Commissioning (ASC) replied that Surrey County Council only
purchased about 25% of beds in Surrey care homes; Surrey had a
larger self-funder market than other LAs. Surrey faced a greater
challenge in achieving good value pricing and good quality.
Recommendations:
The Select Committee:
1. Requests that a report on the Mental Health programme of work is
presented at its next meeting on 15 October 2020, and that this
outlines the review process and planned actions in more detail;
2. Recommends that key stakeholders and partners are involved in the
Mental Health review;
3. Recommends that there is better publicity of the mental health
services and resources available to residents;
4. Requests that a detailed report on the Practice Improvement
programme is presented at a future meeting.
The responses to recommendations 2 and 3 as above are annexed to these
minutes.
Actions/further information to be provided:

Page 10

1. The Deputy Director of ASC to send the Terms of Reference of the
SABP reference group to the Chairman of the Select Committee.
6

ACCOMMODATION WITH CARE AND SUPPORT PROGRAMME UPDATE
[Item 6]
Witnesses:
Mel Few, Cabinet Member for Resources
Steve Hook, Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition
Wil House, Strategic Finance Business Partner (Adult Social Care and Public
Health)
Jonathan Lillistone, Assistant Director of Commissioning (Adult Social Care)
Sinead Mooney, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health
Peter Walsh, Property Account Manager for Adult Social Care
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) introduced the report.
It referred back to the October 2019 Cabinet report. The aim of the
programme was to create housing that increased independence for
residents and was more cost-effective.
2. The Cabinet Member added that the Council was committed to the
delivery of the programme. She was aware of concerns around the
pace of the programme, but pacing would now be a priority and the
programme would be a consistent item on the Cabinet agenda and,
she hoped, on the Select Committee’s agenda too.
3. Members expressed dissatisfaction with the late delivery of the reports
to the Select Committee.
4. A Member expressed frustration at the slow pace of the programme
and asked what the reason was behind the delay, what the ongoing
challenges were, and how sure the Cabinet Member for Adults and
Health was of a successful process. The Cabinet Member for Adults
and Health expressed sympathy with Members’ concerns but said that
the three sites for accommodation with care and support had been
approved by Cabinet in October 2019, and her previous references to
issues with pace were from that date onwards only. A Member
acknowledged that the proposal had been approved by Cabinet in
October 2019, but said that there had been conversations between
Members and officers about the Pond Meadow site as long as three or
four years ago. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) added
that the focus since October 2019 had been on the Pond Meadow
tender and a number of other aspects: approaching the market,
structuring the lease, and linking that back into care and support. It
was important to note that the Covid-19 pandemic had been a
challenge for the Council and its partners; for example, the Council
had had to redeploy commissioning staff, which had had an impact on
progress. However, progress had been made since the end of May
2020 and the Council would be in a position to launch the Pond
Meadow tender next week (week commencing 20 July 2020) and
award contracts in autumn 2020. Market engagement had suggested
that there was very much an appetite to bid for Pond Meadow. The
Assistant Director also assured Members that the accommodation
would be built in a way that was flexible and allowed the Council to
respond to changes in the model of care in the long term.

Page 11

5. The Cabinet Member for Resources emphasised the progress that had
been made in recent months, thanks to the restructuring of the
property team as well as private property expertise.
6. The Chair of the IMHN noted that mental health had been omitted from
the Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA), and contended that it should
have been included as mental health is a disability. The Assistant
Director of Commissioning (ASC) expressed regret that this was not
as explicit as it should have been, and explained that the
Accommodation with Care and Support programme focused on
learning disabilities (LD), so LD was more prominent than mental
health in the report. The Chair of the IMHN pointed out that people
with LD could also suffer from mental health issues and expressed
further concern that there was no mention in the report of the mental
health impact on staff. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC)
noted these points and the Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism &
Transition offered reassurance that there was a group that met every
month to look at accommodation and supported living across LD,
autism and mental health.
7. A Member anticipated that the Accommodation with Care and Support
programme would generate significant savings for the Council. The
Strategic Finance Business Partner confirmed that modelling indicated
savings of £4,600 per unit per year would be delivered for Extra Care
Housing schemes for Older People.
8. A Member expressed dissatisfaction with the content and clarity of the
report. He requested more information on the timescale of the
programme. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) explained
that, put simply, what was proposed was engagement through a
tender process with a development partner who would design, develop
and deliver the building. The Council would enter into a lease with
them – it was proposed this would be a long lease of 125 years – and
there would be terms covering the possibility of a change of use, as
the model of care could change in the next few decades. The Property
Account Manager added that due to the long lease of the contract, the
Council would be the landlord and would retain the right to design,
build and operate the site, ensuring it would not have the same
problems it had had in the past with the Joint Venture; it could also
receive a grant from Homes England. Under the long lease, the
building could be repurposed if the Council wished to do so. The
development partner would pay peppercorn rent for the 125-year lease
and would be responsible for grounds maintenance and everyday
running, while there would be a separate care provider with a separate
contract. Furthermore, there would be rent review clauses in the lease
contract. The Member expressed uncertainty about the rationale for
contracting the development partner rather than Surrey County
Council developing the site itself.
9. A Member enquired whether the accommodation in question was for
older people or people with LD. The Assistant Director of
Commissioning (ASC) clarified that the report mentioned two strands:
extra care, which was predominantly for older people (including older
people with LD or mental health needs); and independent living, for
people with LD. The July Cabinet report that had been presented to
the Select Committee as a supplementary paper, however, covered
specifically the Pinehurst and Brockhurst sites, which were both extra
care sites.

Page 12

10. A Member asked whether the Council was looking to be the registered
social landlord. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC)
explained that the development partner would be the registered social
landlord, and they would claim the Homes England grant, meaning the
Council itself would not have to go through the process to become a
social landlord. The Property Account Manager added that it was not
necessary to become a social landlord in order to develop; it was just
necessary in order to receive the Homes England grant. The Cabinet
Member for Adults and Health emphasised the difficult and lengthy
process involved in becoming a social landlord. The option to become
a social landlord had been considered by Cabinet, but it was felt that
contracting a developer was a better option.
11. A Member noted that there would be two or three accommodation with
care and support sites in the west of Surrey. Did this mean that some
residents from the east of the county would have to go to the west to
use these sites? The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) said
that a focus of the programme moving forward would be to ensure that
there were schemes in locations where there was demand.
12. The CEO of Healthwatch Surrey enquired about the implications of
deregistration of existing residential care provision, as mentioned in
the report. The Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition
detailed that the process of deregistration as mentioned in that report
referred to the ability of care homes to deregister from being a
residential care home service and become a supported living service
instead. Supported living services entailed some advantages; for
example, rather than being a resident under license (as they would be
in a residential care home), in a supported living service the resident
would be a tenant with greater rights. The process of deregistration
was conducted through the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and had
become a more rigorous process in the last year. Deregistration was
one way of increasing the number of people in independent living. The
Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) added that there had been
incidents where the CQC had decided that it would be inappropriate to
deregister a scheme, and there were some individuals for whom it
would be more appropriate to be in a registered service.
13. The Property Account Manager confirmed that the issue of penalty
charges for any delays incurred by the chosen provider was included
in the contract.
14. A Member asked whether creating more retirement villages was an
option that the Council had considered. The Assistant Director of
Commissioning (ASC) responded that, as the programme focused on
the quality of design, and extra care schemes were individuals’ homes,
extra care homes had a similar feel to retirement villages. The
Property Account Manager added that, as retirement villages required
large plots of land, they were a potential longer-term idea.
15. A Member queried how confident witnesses were about adhering to
the timescales as set out in the report. The Assistant Director of
Commissioning (ASC) replied that he was very confident about Pond
Meadow, the tender for which would be launched next week, and was
generally confident with the tendering process and timescales.
16. A Member questioned whether the assessment of demand for
accommodation sites was conducted for each borough and district and
took into account the predicted population increase in Surrey. The
Cabinet Member for Adults and Health replied that the report that went
to Cabinet last year took into account the predicted increase in levels

Page 13

of demand for housing. There may be a future increase in needs, but
once the model was established, this would be addressed.
17. A Member expressed concern about the 53 remaining void units
mentioned in the report; 53 seemed a large number of voids and it did
not look as though progress had been made on this. The Assistant
Director of Commissioning (ASC) explained that the Council used a
wide range of registered care schemes, some of which were in older
buildings that were becoming less suitable to meet needs; the Council
would not allow residents to move into unsuitable schemes, which led
to voids in certain cases. The Council was looking at making decisions
on whether those buildings would be suitable in the long term, but this
had not been possible during the lockdown. This explained why it
looked in the report as though limited progress had been made, but it
would be accelerated soon.
7

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC [Item 6a]
It was agreed that the meeting would enter confidential discussion of
commercially sensitive information under Part 2 of Section 100(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972.

8

ACCOMMODATION WITH CARE AND SUPPORT PROGRAMME UPDATE
[Item 6b]
Discussion of the Accommodation with Care and Support Programme
continued in Part 2. The recommendations were agreed.
Marsha Moseley left the meeting at 1:27pm.
Jeff Harris left the meeting at 1:48pm.
Recommendations:
The Select Committee:
1. Agrees that a report is formulated and submitted to Cabinet to outline
its view on the decision on the Change of Route to Market for Two
Extra Care Housing Sites and any related recommendations;
2. Asks for a follow-up report outlining plans for further sites for
Independent Living and Extra Care Housing.

9

LEARNING DISABILITIES AND AUTISM SERVICE UPDATE [Item 7]
Witnesses:
Karl Atreides, Chair, Independent Mental Health Network
Steve Hook, Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition
Jonathan Lillistone, Assistant Director of Commissioning (Adult Social Care)
Nick Markwick, Co-Chair, Surrey Coalition of Disabled People
Sinead Mooney, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health
Kate Scribbins, Chief Executive Officer, Healthwatch Surrey
Simon White, Executive Director of Adult Social Care
Patrick Wolter, Chief Executive Officer, Mary Frances Trust
Fiona White left the meeting at 1:56pm.
Clare Curran left the meeting for discussion of this item.
Key points raised during the discussion:

Page 14

1. The CEO of Healthwatch Surrey asked how effective the LD
Partnership Board, Autism Partnership Boards and Valuing People
Network groups were at engaging with residents and gathering a
diverse cross section of views. The Assistant Director of Disabilities,
Autism & Transition said that the Council was commissioning
Voluntary Action Surrey to work with the Council on its
communications and engagement plan. This piece of work would go
out to the Valuing People Network groups; however, because of the
pandemic it had moved more slowly than initially anticipated. There
was also a reference group and delivery group with some providers,
and the lead for that network was Maria Mills, the CEO of disabilities
organisation Active Prospects.
2. The Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition confirmed
that the Valuing People Network included mental health
representatives.
3. A Member highlighted that the proportion of people with LD receiving
annual health checks was lower in Surrey than in many other parts of
the country. She emphasised the value of these checks but said that
publicity was poor, and suggested that the annual health check could
be included as part of the Education, Health and Care Plans that
people with LD already received in order to increase take-up of the
checks. Members emphasised the importance of publicising these
checks, both to encourage GPs to offer them and to encourage public
take-up. The Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition
replied that the responsibility for annual health checks lay with GP
practices, who were paid for offering extra services through the Direct
Enhanced Service (DES) system. For example, GP practices were
given higher DES payments for offering appointment slots longer than
the usual 10 minutes to patients with LD. He acknowledged that the
health checks could make a significant difference, and that there was
room for improvement when it came to Surrey’s performance on
providing the checks. Therefore, the Council had employed two health
facilitation workers, who would work with GPs to encourage, upskill
and train them in order to increase the number of people with LD and
autism receiving health checks every year. It was important to target
people living at home with their families or in supported living, for
whom the rate of uptake for health checks was particularly low.
4. A Member commented that the report did not give a sense of dealing
with the transition from children’s to adults’ LD and autism services.
The Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition responded
that ASC was working with colleagues in Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND) and children’s disability services. Transition
was not mentioned in the report as the report dealt with the Select
Committee’s remit of adults’ services, but the Council did want to
smooth the pathway from children’s to adults’ services and would be
setting up a pilot this year to start working with young people from the
age of 16 onwards (not 18 onwards, as it had been).
5. The Assistant Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition explained
that the latest autism strategy was an all-age strategy with a steering
group, and the recently released autism survey was a small part of the
overall consultation programme. Members commented that the mental
health-specific questions in the survey should be worded in a way that
was clearer to people with LD and/or autism, and the Assistant
Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition agreed to look at that in

Page 15

more detail. He also acknowledged the need to improve Surrey’s
performance on supporting people with LD to find employment.
6. A Member said that there had long been a separation of LD and
mental health, even though they might be linked. Children’s and
adults’ mental health services were often treated separately; there was
a need for more joined-up working across mental health services.
Moreover, there should be increased levels of staffing to support
employability services for people with LD and autism, including those
on the lower end of the LD and autism spectrum. The Assistant
Director of Disabilities, Autism & Transition responded that since
mental health locality teams had been brought back into the Council
due to the end of the Section 75 agreement, there was an opportunity
for greater collaboration between LD and mental health services; for
example, staff could cross over between the two services. The Deputy
Director of ASC echoed the Assistant Director’s comments and added
that in order to prevent young people from falling between two stools
in the transition from children’s to adults’ services, the Council had
established a new process.
David Mansfield left the meeting at 2:34pm.
7. The CEO of Mary Frances Trust stated that the GPIMHS were helpful
but were still only in pilot stage so were only available in certain areas.
It was important that physical health needs for people with LD and
autism were met, as well as mental health needs.
Recommendations:
The Select Committee:
1. Welcomes the progress made by the Learning Disability and Autism
Service to date and supports its plans for the future;
2. Recommends that annual health assessments are more focused on
unearthing mental health issues, which can have physical
manifestations;
3. Recommends that greater emphasis is placed on the transition period
and that the steps taken to address this are outlined in a follow-up
report;
4. Recommends that officers explore the inclusion of KPIs on to the
Select Committee’s performance dashboard to monitor future
progress.
10

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER AND FORWARD WORK PLAN [Item 8]
Clare Curran returned to the meeting.
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. A Member observed that in the recommendations tracker, there was a
mention of the level of the Public Health budget. It said that “the level
of activity for this service has been structured in accordance with the
overall reduction in funding of £9m by central government”. However,
the Member did not see this as a sensible way to proceed, as the
budget for the service should be arranged to fit its activity level, not the
other way around. The Council’s Public Health service provided
leadership and information not only to the Council but also to partners.
The Council should be more mindful of this and set the Public Health
budget at a more optimal level. The Cabinet Member for Adults and

Page 16

Health acknowledged the Member’s point and agreed to look into this
carefully at the next budget setting.
11

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING [Item 9]
The next meeting of the Adults and Health Select Committee would be held
on 15 October 2020 at 10:30am.

Meeting ended at: 2:52pm.
______________________________________________________________
Chairman

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Responses to Select Committee recommendations
The Select Committee recommends that key stakeholders and partners are involved in the
Mental Health review.
As the review of the social care mental health service progresses we are committed
to working with key stakeholders and partners in this process. This will be done on a
formal and informal basis.
We have been attending the Independent Mental Health Network (IMHN) meetings
and we will to continue to engage with them to help shape our social work models.
We have met with the Autism Partnership Board to hear their thoughts on what a
good service will look like. The IMHN reference group will also be re-established.
I have been meeting with all the mental health teams over the last month in order to
hear from them as to hear how they have worked throughout the pandemic but also
to hear their views on the services going forward. This has also given me the
opportunity to meet some residents with lived experience to hear their feedback. We
are also working with partner organisations such as Surrey and Borders Partnership,
the CCG and providers going forward, such as the Community Connections, to help
model our service delivery.
The Select Committee recommends that there is better publicity of the mental health
services and resources available to residents.
The SCC communications team has been raising awareness of the mental health
pages available on the Healthy Surrey website, they have worked closely with
comms colleagues at Surrey Heartlands to raise awareness and launch the Surrey
Virtual Wellbeing Hub, and recently are raising awareness of the support available for
those who have been bereaved.
Some examples of the work are listed below:
 Communicated on our Surrey Matters social media channels (mainly
Facebook and Twitter) pretty consistently since the pandemic began.
 Shared all toolkits including social media assets/messages and editorial for
newsletters with comms colleagues on the MIG to share on their channels.
The Mental Health Reference Group also had the toolkit so they could share
with their organisations to spread the word.
 Included an article on the Surrey Matters website and May e-newsletter.
 Put a news release on Surrey News for the Virtual Wellbeing Hub, and a
follow up article – securing Tim Oliver and Sinead Mooney interviews on
BBC Radio Surrey
 Woking and Tandridge promised to include generic editorial around mental
health and the support available in their resident magazines.
 Ran some press ads in local newspapers for a week.

Liz Uliasz, Deputy Director of Adult Social Care, 28 July 2020

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

MINUTES of the meeting of the ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT
COMMITTEE held at 2.00 pm on 7 August 2020 as a REMOTE MEETING.
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its meeting on
Thursday, 15 October 2020.
Elected Members:
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Dr Bill Chapman (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs Clare Curran
Mr Nick Darby (Vice-Chairman)
Mr Bob Gardner
Mrs Angela Goodwin
Mr Jeff Harris
Mr Ernest Mallett MBE
Mr David Mansfield
Mrs Marsha Moseley
Mrs Tina Mountain
Mrs Bernie Muir (Chairman)
Mrs Fiona White

Co-opted Members:
*

Borough Councillor Vicki Macleod, Elmbridge Borough Council
Borough Councillor Darryl Ratiram, Surrey Heath Borough
Council
*
Borough Councillor Rachel Turner, Reigate and Banstead
Borough Council
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS [Item 1]
Apologies were received from Angela Goodwin and Darryl Ratiram.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST [Item 2]
None received.

3

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS [Item 3]
None received.

4

CALL-IN: DECISION ON THE CHANGE OF ROUTE TO MARKET FOR
TWO EXTRA CARE HOUSING SITES [Item 4]
Witnesses:
Mark Hak-Sanders, Strategic Finance Business Partner (Corporate)
Peter Hopkins, Assistant Director of Commercial Property
Wil House, Strategic Finance Business Partner (Adult Social Care and Public
Health)
Jonathan Lillistone, Assistant Director of Commissioning (Adult Social Care)
Sinead Mooney, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health
Simon White, Executive Director of Adult Social Care
Rachel Wigley, Director of Financial Insight

Page 21

Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The Chairman of the Select Committee informed Members and
witnesses that she had taken action to address the late submission of
the Cabinet Extra Care report to the Select Committee for the 14 July
2020 meeting, so this issue should not be included in the discussion at
this Call-In meeting.
2. Moreover, the Chairman was aware that the Select Committee had
operational questions about the Accommodation with Care and
Support programme, and these would be addressed with a deep dive
by the Select Committee.
3. The Chairman then outlined the decision in question: the route to
market for Extra Care Housing across two sites (Pinehurst and
Brockhurst). On 21 July 2020, Cabinet had taken the decision to
approve the proposed route to market. This decision had been called
in by Cllrs Nick Darby, Fiona White and Angela Goodwin. Since the
Call-In had been initiated, Cllr Darby had had meetings with relevant
officers on the subject and the Select Committee had received the
relevant reports with more information on the proposed route to market
for the two Extra Care Housing sites.
4. The Members who had brought about the Call-In explained that the
Select Committee was not against the principle of Extra Care Housing
and that Members believed Extra Care Housing could be beneficial
both in terms of outcomes for residents and financially for the Council;
nor did Members object to the ambition of creating 725 Extra Care
homes by 2028. The reason behind the Call-In was that Members did
not feel they had been involved in the decision-making process early
enough or presented with sufficient information, which had not allowed
them to fulfil the Select Committee’s role of providing genuine scrutiny,
protecting tax payers’ money and acting as a critical friend. Members
desired formal confirmation in this meeting that that had been
acknowledged by officers and Cabinet Members.
5. The Cabinet Member for Adults and Health emphasised the necessity
of building more affordable housing in Surrey, the urgency of the Extra
Care Housing scheme and the importance of supporting those most
vulnerable. She detailed a case study of successful outcomes for a
woman living in supported housing and emphasised its quality and
safety.
6. Furthermore, the Cabinet Member emphasised that becoming a social
landlord would not be in the Council’s best interest, as it was a costly,
lengthy process and most applicants were not accepted, meaning this
application could add delay to the Extra Care Housing programme,
which should be urgently implemented.
7. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC) agreed with the
Cabinet Member’s statements and expressed a desire to deliver
Surrey’s ambition while facilitating scrutiny.
8. A Member asked for clarification on the breakdown of the previous
arrangement for new supported housing with Living+. The Assistant
Director of Commercial Property explained that Living+ was a subset
of Places for People. The Council had entered into a Limited Liability
Partnership with South Ridge Development; this constituted the Joint
Venture with Places for People, which had been the previous plan for
development of Extra Care Housing, before the Council made the
decision to terminate the South Ridge Development contract (thereby
terminating the partnership with Places for People) and, as mentioned,
change the route to market. The Member asked what had been done

Page 22

to attempt to prevent the breakdown of the relationship with South
Ridge Developments, and the Assistant Director of Commercial
Property stated that there had been attempts to realign with South
Ridge Developments to reset the relationship with the Council, but
when conditions were not met, the Council had made a wider decision
to terminate the partnership.
9. A Member noted that the figures in the report on the client base
comprised 2011 census figures and 2016 figures on service users. Did
the figures give an accurate picture on the user base going forward?
The Executive Director of Adult Social Care (ASC) said that as
demographic figures were constantly increasing, the need for
supported housing would only increase, so there was no risk that Extra
Care Housing would not be needed. In addition, there were currently
too many people in institutional care, so the Council also needed to
move these people to more suitable housing.
It was agreed that the meeting would enter confidential discussion of
commercially sensitive information under Part 2 of Section 100(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972.
10. In Part 2, the Strategic Finance Business Partner explained that
Homes England funding was available to registered social landlords
only. Regarding capital investment, the recommended delivery model
was to put the contract out to tender and, during this process, to
confirm with organisations whether as part of their bid they would
request any contribution by the Council. The amount of the
contribution each bidder requested would be factored into the
commercial evaluation and scoring of each bidder’s tender
submission. It was possible that the winning bidder might not require
any capital contribution, but where the winning bidder did require a
contribution, it would be limited within the amounts approved by
Cabinet in July 2020. If the capital contribution were to be agreed, it
would be paid on a stage-by-stage basis (not all up front in advance).
11. The Strategic Finance Business Partner went on to remind Members
that the reason for the potential capital contribution was to ensure that
rents and service charges were within the Local Housing Allowance
rate for Extra Care Housing to ensure the schemes would be
affordable for residents. The capital contribution was capped at the
value of the land (net present value of operating the sites over a 40year period).
12. Members felt reassured by the Strategic Finance Business Partner’s
statements about the capital payment and were satisfied that the steps
outlined above would protect the Council’s money.
13. A Member asked whether there was potential for individuals from
Local Authorities outside Surrey to be offered placed in the new Extra
Care Housing. The Cabinet Member for Adults and Health responded
that it was important to ensure there was a robust allocations policy for
what would be a precious site. The Council had started the planning
for early identification of residents that would benefit most from Extra
Care Housing.
14. A Member mentioned the void figure mentioned in the report, and
commented that it seemed quite high in terms of potential loss. How
was this calculated? The Executive Director of ASC replied that it was
an industry standard used for modelling. The Council was not

Page 23

intending to run the Extra Care sites at this level of occupancy – it was
just an average.
15. A Member expressed concern about whether the Extra Care Housing
would be affordable to people on low incomes or benefits. The Cabinet
Member for Adults and Health assured the Select Committee that the
rent and service charges were affordable. The Assistant Director of
Commissioning (ASC) said that the key purpose of the capital funding
was to keep the homes affordable.
16. A Member enquired whether the delivery partner would have a
responsibility to fill voids if there was a higher number of voids than
anticipated. The Cabinet Member for Adults and Health assured
Members that there was a waiting list for Extra Care Housing, such
was the high demand. The Assistant Director of Commissioning (ASC)
confirmed that the Council did not anticipate that voids would be an
issue, but if there were voids the Council would work through the lease
agreement and would make sure all options were fully exhausted
before any liability came to the Council.
17. A Member queried whether the lease would reflect the particular
service that Surrey County Council would be delivering using that land.
The Assistant Director of Commercial Property stated that the lease
agreement would be negotiated to safeguard the Council’s position
over the whole term of the lease, ensuring that the development
partner could only use the land for the purposes stipulated in the lease
as designated by the Council
18. A Member observed that there seemed to be a lack of in-house
expertise and it seemed the case that the tender exercise was the best
route for the Council.
Recommendation:
The Select Committee agrees that the Cabinet decision taken on 21 July
regarding the change of route to market for two Extra Care Housing sites
should stand.
5

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING [Item 5]
The next meeting of the Adults and Health Select Committee would be held
on 15 October 2020.

Meeting ended at: 3.10 pm
______________________________________________________________
Chairman

Page 24

Item 5
ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE
15 OCTOBER 2020
MENTAL HEALTH TASK GROUP REPORT
Purpose of report: To provide the Adults and Health Select Committee with a
detailed report on the findings and recommendations of the Mental Health Task
Group, which was set up to map the individual and carer’s journey through adult
mental health services in Surrey
Acknowledgements:
1.

Members would like to take the opportunity to thank all of those who kindly took the
time to share their experiences with the Task Group. These invaluable and eyeopening witness sessions and written submissions helped to shape the findings and
recommendations of this review.

2.

Any errors, factual inaccuracies or inconsistencies contained within the report are the
responsibility of the Task Group alone and not those who contributed their knowledge,
insight and experiences to the formation of this report.

Introduction:
Context
3.

In November 2018, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee (the
predecessor to the Adults and Health Select Committee) considered the outcomes of
an Enter and View Report by Healthwatch Surrey on the Abraham Cowley Unit, an
inpatient mental health ward operated by Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust. This report highlighted specific challenges around the delivery of
inpatient mental health services in Surrey. As part of these discussions, Members of
the Select Committee reflected on how national challenges relating to the treatment of
mental health were manifesting themselves in Surrey and on the provision of services
locally. Members recognised that more in-depth consideration was needed into how
the public sector across Surrey supports people through mental illness to ensure the
best outcomes for residents in response to the growing burden of mental illness. As a
result, the Select Committee agreed to form a task group to investigate patient
experience of adult mental health services in Surrey.

4.

On 8 March 2019, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee
formally established the cross-party Mental Health Task Group, which would aim to
map the individual and carer’s journey through adult mental health services in Surrey.

5.

However, due to a combination of Select Committee restructuring and the Covid-19
pandemic, the Task Group’s work was delayed until the spring of 2020. The Task
Group members agreed on 20 February 2020 to report back to the new Adults and

Page 25

Health Select Committee with its findings and recommendations at the public Select
Committee meeting on 15 October 2020. At this meeting the Members also agreed an
outline of the work programme, proposed key lines of enquiry, the methodology to be
used for interacting with witnesses, and the format of witness sessions.
6.

The Mental Health Task Group scoping document is attached to this report as Annex 1
and provides a detailed outline of the scope and remit of the Task Group.

7.

The Task Group was initially scheduled to start hearing from witnesses in April 2020
but these sessions were rescheduled for June 2020 due to the pandemic and took
place remotely using video conferencing software.

8.

The members of the Task Group were as follows:





Nick Darby (Chair)
Bernie Muir
Angela Goodwin
Chris Botten (Co-opted from the Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and
Culture Select Committee)

Task Group Methodology
Objectives
9.

The objectives of the Task Group were as follows:


Review the journey of adults with mental health conditions in Surrey through
support services and interventions to assess how their interactions with different
public sector organisations aid their recovery



Assess whether there is integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and
mental health



Identify any potential gaps in the provision of services

Witness Sessions
10.

Between 8 June 2020 and 1 September 2020, the Task Group conducted 13 separate
evidence-gathering sessions with 40 witnesses from a wide variety of organisations.

11.

The Task Group decided to undertake a “bottom up” approach to evidence gathering,
which would involve speaking to service users and charities in order to identify
potential gaps in mental health services and areas requiring improvement before
testing these findings with service providers and commissioners.

12.

A list of the witness sessions conducted by the Task Group is attached as Annex 2.

13.

Key lines of enquiry (attached as Annex 3) were formulated and agreed by the Task
Group before the first witness session took place. These were shared with all
witnesses in advance of meetings and updated throughout the evidence-gathering
process in response to findings from each witness session.

Page 26

14.

Members were pleased with the number of witnesses they were able to speak to. From
the outset, a key aim was to ensure representation from a wide range of witnesses so
that as many views and experiences as possible were represented in the Task Group’s
findings and recommendations.

Written Evidence
15.

Due to the sensitive nature of the areas examined by the Task Group, some witnesses,
particularly mental health service users, understandably did not feel comfortable
speaking with Members directly but still wanted to explain their experiences of using
services in Surrey. To help facilitate this, a questionnaire was formulated (attached as
Annex 4), which was circulated to mental health service users and carers through a
range of organisations and charities.

16.

In total the Task Group received 17 responses to its call for evidence, and the findings
from these completed questionnaires are examined in more detail in the following
section of the report.

Key Themes Emerging from the Witness Sessions
17.

Mental health is a complex issue with a wide range of contributing factors, and, in order
to understand these as fully as possible, this meant that the remit of the Task Group’s
work was necessarily broad. Members were keen to ensure that the Task Group’s
findings were grouped together in themes to help the Council and partner
organisations better understand its findings and the experiences put forward by mental
health service users.

18.

The following section takes each of the themes in turn, outlining its role in relation to
the delivery of mental health services, the evidence the Task Group has gathered, and
thoughts on potential solutions.

Service Users
19.

The Task Group decided to undertake a “bottom up” approach to evidence gathering,
which would involve speaking to service users and patients to hear their vital first-hand
experience of mental health services.

20.

On 8 June 2020, the Task Group conducted a two-part evidence-gathering session
with the Oakleaf Enterprise, a Guildford-based charity that works to foster confidence
and reduce social isolation by actively training, engaging and supporting individuals
with mental ill-health to empower them to participate as active members of society. The
first hour of the session was spent speaking with members of staff. The second
concentrated on hearing from a group of Oakleaf Enterprise users who had experience
of using mental health services in Surrey.

21.

As outlined in Paragraphs 15 and 16, the Task Group also received 17 questionnaire
responses from service users and carers. Many of the experiences detailed in these
responses echoed what Members heard when speaking with Oakleaf Enterprise users,
and examples of the key themes identified are outlined below.

Page 27

Mental health service users being “caught between two stools”
22.

One of the key themes identified when speaking with mental health service users was
a feeling that many had experienced being “caught between two stools” in terms of
qualifying for treatment. The Task Group heard that users might be referred by a GP to
a specific service provider but not qualify for the treatments on offer, leaving them
stuck in limbo and unsure where to turn.

23.

During the Oakleaf Enterprise witness session, the Task Group spoke to a service user
who felt forced, out of desperation as a result of her negative experiences with mental
health services in Surrey, to use her disability and employment benefit allowance to
pay £80 for half-an-hour private counselling sessions. The user explained that they had
struggled with obsessive compulsive disorder, agoraphobia, anxiety and depression
but had been unable to access what they felt were adequate treatment services,
leaving them reliant on a combination of medication, private counselling and third
sector organisations.

24.

Similarly, another service user described how they had been referred to Community
Mental Health Recovery Services (CMHRS) on several occasions but each time had
been told that they did not reach the threshold needed to qualify for the treatments on
offer. Like many others the Task Group heard from, this left them reliant on the
services offered by third sector organisations, as well as Safe Havens when
experiencing mental health crises out of hours.

25.

Evidence gathered by the Task Group from mental health service users highlighted a
widespread feeling that third sector organisations were being asked to “pick up the
pieces” when those struggling with mental health issues were caught between two
stools and unable to qualify for treatment. The Task Group heard countless examples
of the important work being done by third sector organisations and the issues facing
them regarding funding. This will be examined in more detail later in the report.

Lack of communication between different services
26.

Another key theme identified when speaking with mental health service users was the
feeling there was a lack of communication between different services. A common issue
raised by users related to the need to repeat their stories multiple times as they moved
between services. This, combined with a lack of communication and partnership
working, prevented any sort of continuity being developed. Similarly, several users
explained that they rarely saw the same GP twice, denying them the opportunity to
form a positive and helpful relationship with a GP that understood their background
and needs.

27.

It is important to emphasise that not all experiences described to the Task Group were
negative. Some users also spoke about how helpful their GPs had been in referring
them to the appropriate mental health services. However, the impression gained by
Members was that it was largely down to luck whether a patient saw a GP who
understood mental health issues and had the knowledge required to ensure they
received the best advice and treatment.

Page 28

28.

All the individuals the Task Group spoke to noted the difficulties in sharing patient
records, which represented one of the main barriers to better communication between
the different pathways in Surrey. Members heard that General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) rules prevented GPs from sharing records with third sector
organisations, making it harder for important information to be passed to those trying to
support those in their care.

29.

Furthermore, many users seemed unaware that they could ask for their medical
records to be released to mental health services and third sector organisations,
highlighting a potential solution to one of the most frustrating and time-consuming
issues facing someone attempting to navigate a myriad of different services. This was
particularly the case when users were asked to self-refer to a specific mental health
service or third sector organisation after visiting a GP. Unless they specifically asked
for their medical records to be released and passed on to these services, they would
not be made available.

30.

Related to this was a lack of continuity because there was no central place for records
and information relating to the services accessed by users. Users explained to the
Task Group that they had to specifically ask for services to report back to their GP,
forcing users to spend time repeating their stories in an attempt to ensure all services
were aware of their treatment history.

31.

The Task Group heard that a significant barrier to the sharing of information related to
problems with a lack of uniformity in the IT infrastructure used by Surrey County
Council, NHS partners and third sector organisations. This made it difficult to transfer
data between organisations and was a further cause of users having to repeat their
stories multiple times as they journeyed through mental health services.

32.

Related to issues surrounding the sharing of information and users having to repeat
their stories multiple times was the problem with staff retention in mental health
services. The Task Group heard this was one of the biggest challenges facing the
health sector and one that put significant pressure on current staff, leading to higher
turnover. This difficulty in retaining staff could also lead to patients having to tell the
same story multiple times, exacerbating an already serious problem for mental health
service users.

33.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that GPs, when referring
patients, ensure that all relevant information is passed on so that patients avoid
repeating their stories multiple times, and that GPs ensure they explain to
patients, both those they are referring and those who are self-referring, how they
can release their medical records to mental health services.

34.

Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that a solution is found to the problems
surrounding the sharing of data and IT infrastructure between the NHS, Surrey
County Council and external providers to enable third sector organisations to
fully and safely support those in their care, and that Surrey County Council and
Surrey Heartlands liaise as a matter of urgency.

Lack of patient involvement in care planning

Page 29

35.

While the mental health service users the Task Group met with spoke positively about
the treatment offered by third sector organisations, many said they had experienced a
lack of involvement in their care planning when engaging with NHS organisations.

36.

Further to this, several spoke about feeling as if they had been “put in a box” by the
clinical approach, whereas treatments and services offered by third sector
organisations were more tailored to their needs.

37.

Members were concerned to hear that some of the service users they spoke to had
either given up on the NHS route to treatment or were in the process of doing so as a
result of negative experiences. As previously mentioned, the result of this was the Task
Group gaining the perception that third sector organisations were being asked to pick
up the pieces because of issues service users had with the clinical approach to mental
health treatment. This put further strain on their resources and forced them to stretch
their budgets even further.

38.

As the Task Group’s evidence-gathering sessions took place during the Covid-19
pandemic, Members heard about the many ways care was being delivered to mental
health service users. Witnesses explained that most meetings, appointments and
therapy sessions (particularly those that took place during the early stages of the
pandemic and subsequent lockdown restrictions) had been taking place online using
remote meeting software, and many of the mental health service users spoken to by
the Task Group spoke about how impressed they were with what was on offer.

39.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that all health providers
and commissioners ensure that the use of remote meeting software remains an
option for future meetings, appointments and therapy sessions to ensure that
location and access issues are not a barrier to participation.

Difficulties relating to the transition between children’s and adult mental health services
40.

While the Task Group’s focus was on adult mental health services in Surrey, several
witnesses spoke about the difficulties relating to the transition between children’s and
adult mental health services, and how this period often left users at serious risk of
falling between two stools in terms of qualifying for treatment.

41.

There was a feeling among many of the witnesses spoken to by the Task Group that it
sometimes took too long for engagement to take place with those transitioning, and
that, when it did, what was being offered was often not suitable.

42.

The Task Group also heard that the transition from children’s to adult mental health
services was a system-wide issue that health partners were working to improve. It was
explained to Members that there was a recommendation in the NHS Long Term Plan
that provision should cover the ages 0-25, but this piece of work was in its infancy in
Surrey.

43.

Further to this, Members heard that, under the current transition arrangements, when
people reached the ages of 17-19 they were moved into a “waiting room” for adult
mental health services, which could be a challenging change from children’s services.

Page 30

The aim was to create a seamless service that bridged the gap between children’s and
adult services.
44.

The difficulties relating to the transition period were also raised during discussions
around the new General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service (GPIMHS), with
part of this looking at how to best support those mental health service users between
the ages of 18 and 25.

45.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that the Children,
Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee conducts a similarly
broad and wide-ranging mental health journey task group concentrating on both
children and those transitioning to adult mental health services.

Third Sector and Charity Organisations
46.

In total, the Task Group spoke with 13 representatives from six different third sector
and charity organisations over the course of four separate evidence-gathering
sessions. Members of staff and volunteers from the Oakleaf Enterprise, Independent
Mental Health Network, Action for Carers, Catalyst, Mary Frances Trust, Richmond
Fellowship and National Autistic Society all kindly took the time to share their
experiences with the Task Group, and the key themes from their witness sessions are
outlined below.

Lack of primary care understanding of what services third sector organisations offer
47.

One of the key findings from the Task Group’s evidence-gathering sessions was a
feeling among third sector organisations that primary care professionals were not
aware of the services they offered. Several witnesses spoke about the difficulty they
faced in getting their names in front of GPs and issues relating to the speed at which
these referrals were sometimes made.

48.

A representative from one of the third sector organisations explained how, in their
experience, referrals from GPs were usually fairly quick when the GP was aware of the
third sector organisation and what services it offered. However, a lack of understanding
of where patients could be signposted and the most appropriate services available to
them had a detrimental impact on this process.

49.

It was explained to the Task Group that this had always been a difficulty for third sector
organisations and was something they were constantly trying to improve. Similarly,
Members heard from GPs during separate evidence-gathering sessions that third
sector organisations were often unknown to them, and this was particularly the case for
locum GPs or those without a personal interest in mental health.

50.

The Task Group heard about resources such as Surrey Information Point and Healthy
Surrey, which can be used to identify appropriate health, care and wellbeing services.
However, Members were concerned that these were not widely used by GPs when
referring patients to mental health services. This ran the risk of patients not being
referred to the right services, resulting in them being unsure where to turn.

Page 31

51.

Furthermore, the Task Group also heard that, while Surrey Information Point was seen
as being a useful resource for GPs, some found it difficult to use and were unable to
find what they were looking for. This further complicated matters when attempting to
refer patients to the right services.

52.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, GPs
receive regular training to ensure they understand how to use resources such as
Surrey Information Point and Healthy Surrey, so that primary care partners are
aware of what mental health services and third sector organisations are available
in Surrey, and for these resources to be updated by Surrey County Council on a
regular basis so that health partners can access all of the necessary information
as easily and quickly as possible.

53.

Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, meetings involving CCG
leads and third sector organisations take place on at least an annual basis to
help facilitate stronger partnership working and understanding, and that all
stakeholders, including third sector organisations, are represented at all
meetings and committees that impact the work of the third sector and external
providers.

Difficulties relating to lack of funding and length of contracts
54.

Another key issue raised during witness sessions with representatives from third sector
organisations concerned funding difficulties and problems relating to the length of
contracts offered to them when services are commissioned.

55.

During the evidence-gathering session with representatives from the Oakleaf
Enterprise, the Task Group heard that, as a result of a significant rise in the number of
referrals being made to them, the client to staff ratio at the organisation was increasing
but the funding they receive was not matching the increase in demand. There was a
feeling among many of the third sector organisation representatives that they were
being asked to do more with the same amount of funding as before, and that, as
outlined earlier in the report, they were having to pick up the pieces when mental
health service users “fell between two stools”.

56.

It was also explained to the Task Group that third sector organisations often found
themselves restricted by short-term contracts, and that this made it difficult to plan for
the future. Limited contracts meant more of their efforts were spent bidding for these,
which was time consuming and a barrier to them dedicating more of their resources to
clients.

57.

Further to this, a representative of one third sector organisation explained that
Community Connections had been contracted for approximately eight years without
any uplift during that time, despite the fact that the number of clients they were dealing
with had increased by over 100%.

58.

There was a feeling among the third sector organisation representatives that
procurement law had not kept up to date with the system, and that this had resulted in

Page 32

voluntary sector organisations being seen as having to go to tender for contracts rather
than being treated as statutory partners.
59.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County
Council conducts a review of the nature and length of contracts currently offered
to third sector providers, and that all future contracts are for a minimum of five
years.

60.

Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County Council lobbies
central government for more funding for mental health to enable further
initiatives to achieve early intervention, and that a review is undertaken of third
sector funding.

Inability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery Services and Community Mental
Health Teams
61.

During conversations with third sector organisation representatives, the Task Group
also discussed difficulties regarding not only patients being referred to the third sector
but the third sector’s inability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery Services
and Community Mental Health Teams.

62.

This one-way approach to referring patients, coupled with issues relating to funding
and the length of contracts, has resulted in there being a perception among third sector
organisations that they are not seen by NHS and Council colleagues as being equal
partners. As one witness said, some see third sector organisations as being purely
“well-intentioned amateurs”, and this perception risks having a detrimental impact on
residents who rely on the services and support offered by third sector organisations.

63.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that third sector
organisations are given the ability to refer to Community Mental Health Recovery
Services and Community Mental Health Teams to ensure that those with mental
health issues are signposted to the services that are right for them and their
needs.

Lack of employer knowledge about mental health
64.

Members heard about the work third sector organisations did with employers but were
concerned to hear that, historically, there had been a lack of knowledge among
employers in Surrey about mental health issues.

65.

However, it was explained to Members that one positive to come out of the Covid-19
pandemic would hopefully be a greater awareness and understanding of mental health
issues from employers. Third sector organisations such as the Oakleaf Enterprise had
seen an increase in both engagement and referrals since the start of the pandemic as
employers became more aware of both their own and their employees’ mental health
and emotional wellbeing, and steps were in place to ensure that this important work
could continue into the future.

Page 33

66.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that Public Health
undertakes an employer-focused mental health campaign in 2021 to help
improve employer knowledge about mental health and ensure that Surrey
employers are aware of how to access courses and training.

GPs
67.

The Task Group held two separate witness sessions in order to hear evidence from
GPs, all of whom were Mental Health Clinical Leads representing different parts of the
county. The key themes from these witness sessions, and related points raised during
evidence-gathering sessions with other witnesses, are outlined below.

Training
68.

One of the key issues identified by the Task Group during its conversations with
primary care representatives related to the level of mental health-specific training
received by GPs. Members heard that while some mental health training was available,
it was largely left to individual GPs to decide if they wanted to put themselves forward
for it. Furthermore, it was explained to the Task Group that many aspects of GP
training were compulsory, such as data protection and fire safety, but not mental
health.

69.

Members also heard that it was often down to luck whether a GP practice had a
partner that specialised in, or had any significant knowledge of, mental health issues.
This could often cause problems for patients presenting with suspected mental health
issues, as a lack of training and knowledge on the part of the GP could result in them
receiving inadequate care and advice.

70.

Related to this was the issue of integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and
mental health. The Task Group discussed the important role mental health training
could play in ensuring that GPs were able to identify mental health issues when
patients presented with physical health complaints. This would help to improve the
parity of esteem between the treatment of physical and mental health and would
ensure that the latter was always a key focus of every GP appointment.

71.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, GPs
receive additional mental health top-up training on an annual basis, and that at
least one GP per practice has undertaken more specialist mental health training.
As GPs are often the first healthcare professionals spoken to by those with mental
health issues, and because they are then relied on to signpost patients to appropriate
services, the Task Group believes it is imperative for as much mental health-specific
training as possible to be made available to GPs, and for their initial training to be as
comprehensive as possible, to ensure that residents receive the best possible care and
advice.

72.

Furthermore, the Task Group recommends that each primary care network in Surrey
nominates a mental health champion to help strengthen partnership working
across the primary care system.

Page 34

73.

One of the Mental Health Clinical Leads also spoke about a voluntary mental health
diploma that was previously offered by Surrey Heartlands, which was run one day per
month for a year, with GPs writing a final report with case studies at its conclusion.

74.

The Mental Health Clinical Lead spoke highly of the scheme. Therefore, the Task
Group recommends that the Surrey Heartlands mental health diploma is reestablished and offered to all GPs in Surrey.

Lack of understanding of what services third sector organisations offer and problems with
patient referrals
75.

Another key issue identified by the Task Group was related to a lack of understanding
among GPs of what services were offered by third sector organisations, and, as a
result, the negative impact this could have on patient referrals.

76.

The Task Group heard that GPs were often unaware of what services were offered by
third sector organisations and where the most appropriate place was to signpost their
patients. Despite good communication by Community Connections and other third
sector organisations, GPs often felt that, due to the sheer number of different services
in Surrey, it was a case of “information overload”. GPs spoke about finding it hard to
keep track of changes to services and contact details, with this being a particular
concern for locum GPs who might not be well informed on what services were
available locally.

77.

Related to this were issues with patient referrals, both to third sector organisations and
other mental health services. Members heard that GPs were often left frustrated when
referring a patient to a specific organisation only to be told that they did not meet the
criteria needed for treatment. Difficulties with referring to alternative organisations
could result in patients falling between two stools, leaving them unsure where to go for
treatment.

78.

The Task Group was told that some consultants had criticised the quality of referrals
and that there were GPs who were overly reliant on the referring of patients to other
services and organisations. A potential solution to this problem was the GP-consultant
text system, which can be used when GPs would like a consultant to answer a small
query but do not require a detailed answer. Members heard that the system worked
well and resulted in information being quickly passed on to GPs, but it was not yet
available for mental health-related questions.

79.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that the GP-consultant
text system is expanded to include questions relating to mental health concerns.

Use of appropriate language when dealing with service users
80.

A further issue identified by the Task Group concerned the appropriate use of
language when dealing with service users. During a witness session with a
representative from Action for Carers, Members heard about a patient with autism and
mental health issues who was misdiagnosed by a GP due to their misunderstanding of
the questions being asked.

Page 35

81.

The Task Group heard from carers of people with autism and mental health issues that
they had experienced problems with members of staff from healthcare organisations
due to the language being used. Some felt that there was too much reliance on
“jargon”. Others spoke about a lack of understanding of the best ways to communicate
with someone who might have learning disabilities and/or autism.

82.

Further to this, the carers spoken to by the Task Group explained that sometimes
clinicians did not involve carers during the whole process due to confidentiality issues.
Members heard about the importance of engaging with carers as early as possible and
the issues that could arise when carers were not fully involved in the process treating
someone with mental ill health.

83.

As a result of the conversations had with carers of people with autism and mental
health issues, the Task Group recommends that Surrey County Council and Surrey
and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust explore how they can work more
closely together to ensure Surrey County Council social workers are involved as
early as possible (including at the diagnosis stage) so that those with autism,
Asperger’s and/or learning disabilities – especially those with complex needs –
are fully supported and potential mental health issues are identified.

84.

The Task Group also recommends that, from 2021, frontline members of staff and
decision makers from all public and health organisations in Surrey receive
training so they use instructions and terminology with service users that are
appropriate for those with mental health issues, learning disabilities and autism
to ensure that those whose conditions are not immediately obvious are better
served.

85.

Further to this, the Task Group recommends that, from 2021, induction-level training
in mental health awareness and suicide prevention is provided for all Surrey
County Council members of staff and councillors, as well as all affiliated
organisations.

Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
86.

The Task Group held two separate witness sessions in order to hear evidence from
representatives from Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SABP),
the provider of mental health services in Surrey. The first was attended by Professor
Helen Rostill, Chief Innovation Officer & Director of Therapies, while the Task Group
used the second to speak to Heather Caudle, Chief Nursing Officer, and Lorna Payne,
Chief Operating Officer.

General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service (GPIMHS)
87.

Several of the witnesses spoken to by the Task Group mentioned GPIMHS, which
SABP and Frimley Health and Care Partnership, in partnership with primary care
networks, were piloting across 13 different locations in Surrey. Members were
encouraged by the positive feedback that had been received so far.

Page 36

88.

Witnesses explained that the GPIMHS initiative would offer to patients extended
appointments with mental health experts from the NHS, social care and specialist third
sector organisations, as well as access to therapies, physical health checks and
pharmacists, in their local GP practices and communities. The aim of GPIMHS was to
intervene at an early stage and bridge the gap between primary and secondary care.
This would ensure that patients, particularly those who did not meet the criteria for local
mental health services, could receive a greater level of support than could be offered in
a normal GP appointment.

89.

The Task Group heard that, based on their initial experiences of the service, the leads
of the primary care networks in Surrey Heartlands were keen to extend the model once
the piloting stage had been concluded. Members were encouraged by the feedback
they received from GPs and third sector organisations who had been involved in the
rollout of the service.

90.

It was explained to Members that one of the main strengths of GPIMHS was its focus
on bringing together partners from a multitude of different services and organisations –
something that the Task Group had identified as being a significant barrier to mental
health service users receiving care that was right for their individual needs.

91.

Members were also encouraged to hear from third sector organisations that they were
confident GPIMHS would help improve what had historically been low levels of
referrals from GPs, and that, by being based in GP surgeries, the primary care
professionals would gain a greater understanding of the services offered by third sector
organisations, making the process of referring patients easier and quicker.

92.

As a result of these findings, the Task Group welcomes the progress made to date. It
recommends GPIMHS continues to be rolled out across Surrey and receives the
funding needed to ensure its continued operation, and that a report on the
progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults and Health Select
Committee no later than October 2021.

Abraham Cowley Unit, St Peter’s Hospital
93.

One of the Task Group’s main concerns at the beginning of its evidence-gathering
process (and an issue which played a key role in its formation) was the suitability of,
and future plans for, the Abraham Cowley Unit (ACU) at St Peter’s Hospital. Members
spent a significant amount of time discussing this issue during the two witness
sessions held with representatives from SABP.

94.

The Task Group heard that, in April and May 2020, two patients took their lives at the
ACU, resulting in both an independent SABP investigation and Care Quality
Commission (CQC) inspection taking place in an attempt to understand how these
deaths had happened and what could be done to avoid similar incidents happening in
the future. The CQC’s report on its inspection was published on 8 September 2020 and
was considered by the Task Group as part of its evidence-gathering process.

95.

It was explained to Members that, as a result of the internal investigation and CQC
inspection, SABP had formulated an action plan, which outlined how the organisation

Page 37

would respond to the concerns raised and the improvements they were planning to
make.
96.

SABP representatives explained that they were planning to replace the ACU with a
more fit-for-purpose, modern facility. This would result in the removal of all dormitories
and their replacement with individual rooms for patients with en-suite facilities. A twophase approach would be undertaken, and this would involve demolishing the groups
and therapies section of the building to build new wards, into which patients would be
moved while the remainder of the new facility was completed.

97.

The Task Group also heard that SABP had considered a one-phase approach to the
rebuilding of the ACU, but as this would involve relocating all patients away from the
facility, and most likely outside of Surrey, while construction was taking place, it had
been decided that the two-phase approach was the most suitable and least intrusive
option. However, SABP representatives confirmed that some patients would still have
to be moved away from the ACU under the two-phase approach.

98.

While acknowledging that there was now a plan in place to make much-needed
improvements to the ACU, Members expressed disappointment at the time it had taken
to reach that point. It was highlighted that the Health Integration and Commissioning
Select Committee had been informed about plans to improve the ACU in November
2018 but that little or no progress seemed to have been made since then. Further to
this, Members were disappointed that delays meant the new facilities would not be fully
operational until the third quarter of 2024.

99.

The Task Group notes the plans in place to improve facilities at the ACU and
recommends that the production of the final business case is progressed urgently
and implemented with the utmost speed and no further delays. It also requests
that a report on the progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults
and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021.

Safe Havens and access to services out of hours
100. A further issue identified by the Task Group concerned the five Safe Havens in Surrey.
These offer out of hours help and support to people and their carers who are
experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional distress.
101. The Task Group heard from several witnesses about the important role played by Safe
Havens in ensuring adults had a safe alternative to A&E when in crisis, but Members
were concerned that, due to Safe Havens only being available until 11pm, there were
few options available to people experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional
distress during the night.
102. During its witness session with representatives from Surrey Police and the British
Transport Police, the Task Group heard that it was often difficult for these
organisations to signpost people to services if they were experiencing a mental health
crisis either late at night or in the early hours of the morning. This left the police alone
to handle mental health-related crises and emergencies during the night, with their only
option often being to take people to A&E to receive medical treatment. Several

Page 38

witnesses spoke about how unsuitable an environment A&E was for somebody
experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional distress. The Task Group was
concerned to hear that there was often no choice but to refer people to A&E due to the
lack of alternative out of hours services.
103. As a result of these findings, the Task Group recommends that health commissioners
obtain funding to undertake a modelling exercise and, if funding permits, a pilot
study focusing on what patient outcomes could be achieved by extending
opening hours for Safe Havens in Surrey and operating them throughout the
night, to ensure that people experiencing a mental health crisis or emotional
distress, and the police officers who are often relied on to support them, are no
longer left without any option but to attend A&E to receive help.

Conclusions:
104. Throughout the course of its work, the Task Group received an invaluable amount of
evidence from witnesses covering a broad range of areas and issues. Members of the
Task Group would like to thank all who took the time to engage with the group and
share their experiences.
105. Details of these experiences have been summarised in the report, and the evidence
gathered at witness sessions has helped the group formulate a series of
recommendations for consideration by the Adults and Health Select Committee, Surrey
County Council’s Cabinet and health partners.
106. The recommendations agreed by the Task Group are based on the key themes raised
by witnesses and the frequency with which these were reported. The recommendations
are also those that meet the SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and
timebound) criteria.
107. The Task Group is confident that the recommendations contained within this report will
help improve adult mental health services and partnership working across the
healthcare system in Surrey.

Recommendations:
The Mental Health Task Group recommends that:
i.

GPs, when referring patients, ensure that all relevant information is passed on so that
patients avoid repeating their stories multiple times, and that GPs ensure they
explain to patients, both those they are referring and those who are self-referring,
how they can release their medical records to mental health services

ii.

From 2021, GPs receive additional mental health top-up training on an annual basis,
and that at least one GP per practice has undertaken more specialist mental health
training

Page 39

iii.

From 2021, GPs receive regular training to ensure they understand how to use
resources such as Surrey Information Point and Healthy Surrey, so that primary care
partners are aware of what mental health services and third sector organisations are
available in Surrey, and for these resources to be updated by Surrey County Council
on a regular basis so that health partners can access all of the necessary information
as easily and quickly as possible

iv.

Each primary care network in Surrey nominates a mental health champion to help
strengthen partnership working across the primary care system

v.

A solution is found to the problems surrounding the sharing of data and IT
infrastructure between the NHS, Surrey County Council and external providers to
enable third sector organisations to fully and safely support those in their care, and
that Surrey County Council and Surrey Heartlands liaise as a matter of urgency

vi.

The GP-consultant text system is expanded to include questions relating to mental
health concerns

vii.

Third sector organisations are given the ability to refer to Community Mental Health
Recovery Services and Community Mental Health Teams to ensure that those with
mental health issues are signposted to the services that are right for them and their
needs

viii.

From 2021, meetings involving CCG leads and third sector organisations take place
on at least an annual basis to help facilitate stronger partnership working and
understanding, and that all stakeholders, including third sector organisations, are
represented at all meetings and committees that impact the work of the third sector
and external providers

ix.

All health providers and commissioners ensure that the use of remote meeting
software remains an option for future meetings, appointments and therapy sessions
to ensure that location and access issues are not a barrier to participation

x.

Surrey County Council conducts a review of the nature and length of contracts
currently offered to third sector providers, and that all future contracts are for a
minimum of five years

xi.

Surrey County Council lobbies central government for more funding for mental health
to enable further initiatives to achieve early intervention, and that a review is
undertaken of third sector funding

xii.

Public Health undertakes an employer-focused mental health campaign in 2021 to
help improve employer knowledge about mental health and ensure that Surrey
employers are aware of how to access courses and training

xiii.

From 2021, induction-level training in mental health awareness and suicide
prevention is provided for all Surrey County Council members of staff and councillors,
as well as all affiliated organisations

Page 40

xiv.

From 2021, frontline members of staff and decision makers from all public and health
organisations in Surrey receive training so they use instructions and terminology with
service users that are appropriate for those with mental health issues, learning
disabilities and autism to ensure that those whose conditions are not immediately
obvious are better served

xv.

Surrey County Council and Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
explore how they can work more closely together to ensure Surrey County Council
social workers are involved as early as possible (including at the diagnosis stage) so
that those with autism, Asperger’s and/or learning disabilities – especially those with
complex needs – are fully supported and potential mental health issues are identified

xvi.

The Surrey Heartlands mental health diploma is re-established and offered to all GPs
in Surrey

xvii.

Health commissioners obtain funding to undertake a modelling exercise and, if
funding permits, a pilot study focusing on what patient outcomes could be achieved
by extending opening hours for Safe Havens in Surrey and operating them
throughout the night, to ensure that people experiencing a mental health crisis or
emotional distress, and the police officers who are often relied on to support them,
are no longer left without any option but to attend A&E to receive help

xviii.

The General Practice Integrated Mental Health Service continues to be rolled out
across Surrey and receives the funding needed to ensure its continued operation,
and that a report on the progress made and future plans is presented to the Adults
and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021

xix.

The production of the final business case for the improvements to the Abraham
Cowley Unit is progressed urgently and implemented with the utmost speed and no
further delays. It also requests that a report on the progress made and future plans is
presented to the Adults and Health Select Committee no later than October 2021

xx.

The Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee conducts a
similarly broad and wide-ranging mental health journey task group concentrating on
both children and those transitioning to adult mental health services

Next steps:
108. The Task Group’s report will be considered by the Adults and Health Select Committee
on Thursday 15 October, and relevant recommendations will be submitted to Cabinet
on Tuesday 27 October.
109. The Task Group’s report and recommendations will also be submitted to all relevant
NHS commissioners and providers.
110. Progress made on the Task Group’s recommendations will be reviewed on a sixmonthly basis, starting in April 2021.

Page 41

Report author: Nick Darby, Chair of the Mental Health Task Group
Report contact: Ben Cullimore, Scrutiny Officer
Contact details: 020 8213 2782, ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk
Sources/background papers:
Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee meeting minutes – 7 November
2018
Health Integration and Commissioning Select Committee meeting minutes – 8 March 2019
Community Vision for Surrey in 2030
Surrey Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: Wellbeing and Adult Mental Health
How to Help: Exploring How Mental Health Services Can Support Emotional Wellbeing
Healthwatch Surrey Enter and View: Abraham Cowley Unit
Five Year Forward View for Mental Health
NHS Long Term Plan
CQC Abraham Cowley Unit Inspection Report – 8 September 2020
Annexes:
Annex 1 – Mental Health Task Group scoping document
Annex 2 – Mental Health Task Group witness sessions
Annex 3 – Mental Health Task Group key lines of enquiry
Annex 4 – Mental Health Task Group questionnaire

Page 42

s

Annex 1 – Select Committee Task and Finish Group Scoping Document
The process for establishing a task and finish group is:
1.
2.
3.
4.

The Select Committee identifies a potential topic for a task and finish group
The Select Committee Chairman and the Scrutiny Officer complete the scoping template.
The Select Committee reviews the scoping document
The Select Committee agrees the membership of the task and finish group.

Review Topic
Mapping the individual and carer’s journey through Adult Mental Health services in Surrey
Select Committee(s)
Adults and Health Select Committee
Relevant background
The increase in people experiencing mental health problems represents a growing
challenge for the UK, with research suggesting that approximately a quarter of the
population will experience a mental health condition each year. The length of time that
many people are required to wait for treatment for a mental health condition suggests that
services across the country are under immense strain. Indeed, the Health Integration and
Commissioning Select Committee heard first-hand about the pressure on mental health
services in Surrey from Surrey and Borders NHS Foundation Trust (SaBP), who stated that
their inpatient services were operating at over 100% capacity. As a result, the impact of
mental health conditions ripple across the wider public sector, putting additional pressure on
services that are already struggling to keep pace with demand. Ambulance trusts, acute
trusts, GPs, and the police and prison services are all experiencing significant challenges
arising from growing prevalence and awareness of mental health and the damage it causes.
Further evidence of the difficulties facing users of mental health services in Surrey can be
found in Healthwatch Surrey’s ‘How to Help’ report, which explored how these services can
support emotional wellbeing. Its findings highlighted the fact that the gap between users’
expectations of mental health services and what is actually delivered is extremely wide, and
that there exist significant hurdles that people with mental ill health and their carers face –
even once referred to specialist teams. Further to this, the Surrey Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment recommends that improvements can be made in the following areas: mental
health promotion, prevention and anti-stigma; wider determinants of mental health, lifestyle
behaviours and physical health; higher risk/priority groups; detection/under reporting and
under diagnosis; services; and self-harm and suicide.
Through the publication of its Mental Health Five Year Forward View, NHS England
committed to embedding parity of esteem between mental and physical health, which it has
supported with additional resource and funding to improve the accessibility and quality of
mental health provision. Increased recognition of mental health and the challenges it
presents is to be welcomed but there must also be recognition of a patient’s journey from
development and diagnosis of a mental illness to treatment for that condition which takes
account of the many other services that they must come into contact with before, during and
after treatment. Introducing a holistic approach to supporting people with mental health
conditions and understanding how to interact with the public sector at different times is the
most effective means of improving outcomes for patients and supporting them in having full
and fulfilling lives.

Page 43

At its meeting on 7 November 2018, the Health Integration and Commissioning Select
Committee considered the outcomes of an Enter and View Report by Healthwatch Surrey
on the Abraham Cowley Unit, an inpatient mental health ward operated by Surrey and
Borders Partnership, which highlighted specific challenges around the delivery of inpatient
mental health services in Surrey. As part of these discussions, Members of the Select
Committee reflected on how national challenges relating to the treatment of mental health
were manifesting themselves in Surrey and on the provision of services locally. It was
recognised that more in-depth consideration was required into how the public sector across
Surrey supports people through mental illness to reduce demand on services and ensure
the best outcomes for residents in response to the growing burden of mental illness in the
county. As a result, it was agreed that a task group would be formed to investigate patient
experience of mental health services in Surrey.
Why this is a scrutiny item
Scrutiny can take an elevated view of mental health services and support in Surrey by
considering individual experiences of those who develop a mental health condition and their
interactions with different agencies as they journey through the system. Looking holistically
at the many services and sectors that support recovery from a mental health condition from
the standpoint of patients is a perspective that only the Select Committee can offer.
Considering these many interconnecting services collectively from the patient perspective
will foster improved understanding of how public sector organisations in Surrey can work
together more effectively to improve outcomes for residents. Scrutiny can also support the
health and social care system to identify any gaps in support as well as highlighting those
interventions or services that work well.
Provision of mental health services has been identified as a key priority for residents by
Healthwatch Surrey. This accords with growing recognition of the burden of mental illness in
the UK and the strain that it places on individuals, families and communities. The Select
Committee has a duty to listen to residents on the issues that it considers and to ensure that
the provision of healthcare services in Surrey reflect the voice of residents. Given the
importance of mental health to residents, the Select Committee wishes to ensure that their
concerns about the quality and accessibility of mental health services are being listened to
and understood in the delivery of mental health services.
Surrey County Council’s ‘Community Vision for Surrey in 2030’ highlights the importance of
having public sector services that support people to live full and fulfilling lives. Reducing the
burden of mental illness will be a critical component of delivering against this vision given
that it affects a quarter of Surrey residents each year and will require a unified approach
across all organisations that deliver services across the county. Prevention and early
intervention will play an important role in reducing the burden of disease arising from mental
health conditions. Scrutiny can support the health and social care system in Surrey to
understand how it can promote emotional wellbeing among its residents.

Page 44

What question is the task group aiming to answer?
Commissioners/providers
1. How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at promoting and enabling
mental health and wellbeing in the general population?
o Prompts: Promotion of self-help literature, addressing the wider determinants
of health, and knowing services that can help and how to access services
2. How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at identifying and intervening
at an early stage?
o Prompts: Do organisations recognise signs of mental distress, and do
organisations know where to signpost people?
3. In your experience, how do services try and involve people in their journey through
the service?
o Prompts: Are there mechanisms to engage and involve people in their own
recovery, and are there established ways for people to give service
feedback?
4. In your experience, to what extent do public sector organisations in Surrey take an
integrated approach to the treatment of mental and physical health?
o Prompts: Are physical health services skilled and aware of mental health
conditions? Are there mental health services which specifically address
mental health needs arising from physical health conditions? Are mental
health services up to speed on different physical health conditions which may
impact mental health?
5. What progress do you think has been made on parity of esteem between the
treatment of physical and mental health?
o Prompts: Has there been extra investment in mental health services? What
are the system views on mental health?
6. How do patients’ stories align with local data and national best practice on treatment
for those with different types of mental health conditions, and what conclusions can
be drawn about whether public sector organisations in Surrey support people with
mental health conditions to live full and fulfilling lives, in accordance with the
Community Vision for Surrey in 2030?
People with lived experience of mental health needs and their carers
1. Can you describe your experiences of mental health services in Surrey?
o Prompts: What services have you used? How recent have your interactions
been? How easy was it to access those services? Have you been supported
to access self-help materials? Have you experienced any stigma or
discrimination?
2. To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with work
together to help meet your needs?
o Do you tell your story once or multiple times? Is information shared as you
would like?
3. In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been
focused on your needs and desired outcomes?
o Have you felt involved in your care planning? Are there opportunities for you
to influence what services there are available and how the services you
access are delivered?
4. In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system as
being as important as physical health?
o Please describe any experiences or thoughts that have led you to this
conclusion, and has this changed over the years?
5. What services are those with mental health conditions most likely to come into
contact with and how are these services equipped to provide effective support? Do
they have access to key people when needed (in particular during periods of crisis)?
6. How do those with mental health conditions feel about the information provided by
services? Do they feel these cover the full range and scope of mental health
treatments available?

Page 45

7. Do residents feel GPs properly understand mental health problems and are they
willing/able to refer?

Aim
For Members of the Task Group to understand the individual and carer’s journey through
the adult mental health system in Surrey in order to consider how organisations across the
public sector are working together to support those with mental health conditions to live full
and fulfilling lives.
Objectives
•
•
•

Review the journey of adults with mental health conditions in Surrey through support
services and interventions to assess how their interactions with different public
sector organisations aid their recovery
Assess whether there is integration in the treatment of patients’ physical and mental
health
Identify any potential gaps in the provision of services

Scope (within/out of)
In scope
•
•
•
•
•
•

Adult mental health inpatient, community and outreach services in Surrey
GP referral process and waiting times for treatment
Mental health crisis support
Parity of esteem between physical and mental health
Suicide prevention
Agencies in frequent contact with those with mental health conditions, including
acute trusts, ambulance trusts and the police

Out of scope
•
•

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
Schools

Outcomes for Surrey/Benefits
•
•
•
•
•
•

Contribute to the reduction of health inequalities for those with severe and prolonged
mental health conditions
Help to embed a patient-centred approach to mental health support in Surrey that
incorporates and understands the role of the whole system
Support the health and social care system in embedding parity of esteem between
mental and physical health
Create a shared understanding of patients’ journey through the mental health
system in Surrey
Reduce the stigma around mental health in Surrey and raise the profile of support
services available
Take an elevated view of mental health services and support in Surrey by
considering individual experiences of those who develop a mental health condition
and their interactions with different agencies as they journey through the system

Proposed work plan

Page 46

It is important to clearly allocate who is responsible for the work, to ensure that Members and
officers can plan the resources needed to support the task group.
Timescale

Tasks

Responsible

June 2020

Workshop with task group Members to agree the scope,
work plan and desired outcomes

Scrutiny Officer

June-July
2020

Witness sessions with independent mental health
networks and community connectors in order to identify
gaps in mental health services and areas requiring
improvement

Scrutiny Officer,
Task Group

July-August
2020

Witness sessions with commissioners to test potential
gaps and areas requiring improvement

Scrutiny Officer,
Task Group

August 2020

Workshop with task group Members to identify potential
recommendations

Scrutiny Officer,
Task Group

AugustSeptember
2020

Compile report
Test recommendations
Report sign-off

Scrutiny Officer
Scrutiny Officer
Task Group

October 2020

Report back to the Select Committee/Cabinet

Task Group
Spokesman

Potential witnesses
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Mental Health Service Users
Mental Health Service Users’ families/carers
o Spelthorne Family Carers
o Carers of Epsom
o Forum of Carers and People Who Use Our Services
GPs
Hospitals
o Farnham Road Hospital
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Surrey County Council Public Health Team
Surrey County Council Adult Social Care Managers for Mental Health
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Practitioners
Clinical Commissioning Groups
Mental health charities and community/voluntary sector organisations
o Mind Matters
o Catalyst
o Mary Frances Trust
o Richmond Fellowship
o Mid Surrey Advocacy for Mental Health
o Parkview Centre for the Community
o Oakleaf Enterprise
o Samaritans
South East Coast Ambulance Service (SECAmb)
Acute trusts
Surrey Police
Independent Mental Health Networks (East and West)
Housing providers
District and Borough Councils

Page 47

Useful documents
•
•
•
•
•

Mental Health Five Year Forward View: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
Independent Review of the Mental Health Act:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/762206/MHA_reviewFINAL.pdf
NHS Long Term Plan: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
Surrey Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Wellbeing and Adult Mental Health:
https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/jsna/wellbeing-and-adult-mental-health/
Healthwatch Surrey – How to Help: https://www.healthwatchsurrey.co.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/06/How-to-Help-Healthwatch-Surrey-June-2018-5-WEB.pdf

Potential barriers to success (Risks/Dependencies)
•
•
•

Lack of willingness to engage by past or present users of mental health services
Lack of willingness to engage from agencies that are not statutorily required to
provide evidence to the Select Committee
Criticism arising from focusing on qualitative research based on the experience of a
few service users rather than using quantitative research

Equalities implications
The task group recognises that there are a number considerations around equalities when
conducting its work, and there are a number of people with various needs that will be
contributing to this process. It will be mindful of how it conducts its work in order to ensure
people are provided the opportunity to contribute, and that any barriers to doing so are
mitigated.
The task group will monitor the equalities implications emerging from its recommendations
with officers and will work to identify mitigation measures for those with a potentially
negative impact.

Task Group Members

Nick Darby
Bernie Muir
Angela Goodwin

Co-opted Members

Chris Botten

Spokesman for the Task
Group

Nick Darby

Scrutiny Officer

Ben Cullimore

Page 48

Annex 2 – List of witness sessions conducted by the Mental Health Task Group
Date of meeting

Organisation

Witnesses

8 June 2020

Oakleaf Enterprise (both
staff and service users)

Clive Stone – Chief
Executive
Annalise Baker – Client
Services Manager
Kelvin Bossman – Outreach
Engagement Project Lead
Jen Clay – Partnerships
Manager
Arbreen Hussain – IT
Trainer
Five Oakleaf Enterprise
service users

15 June 2020

Surrey Police and British
Transport Police

Lee Sawkins – Mental
Health Portfolio Lead,
Surrey Police
Pippa Smith – Inspector
(Public Protection and
Vulnerability), British
Transport Police

23 June 2020

GPs (Session 1)

Paul Hamilton – East Surrey
CCG Mental Health Clinical
Lead
Ruth Cureton – Surrey
Heath CCG Mental Health
Clinical Lead

24 June 2020

Independent Mental Health
Network

Guy Hill – Coordinator,
Independent Mental Health
Network
Rachel Brennan – Adult
Carers Support Manager,
Action for Carers

26 June 2020

GPs (Session 2)

Sophie Norris – Guildford
and Waverley CCG Mental
Health Clinical Lead

29 June 2020

Surrey County Council
Public Health

Negin Sarafraz-Shekary –
Public Health Principal

Page 49

Maya Twardzicki – Public
Health Lead
Helen Raison – Public
Health Consultant
Nanu Chumber Stanley –
Public Health Development
Worker
3 July 2020

Community Connections

Sue Murphy – Chief
Executive Officer, Catalyst
Anthony Aralepo – Mental
Health and Wellbeing
Manager (North West
Surrey), Catalyst
Clem Parker – Mental
Health and Wellbeing
Manager (South West
Surrey), Catalyst
Patrick Wolter – Chief
Executive Officer, Mary
Frances Trust
Olive Aherne – Area
Manager (Surrey, Sussex
and Kent), Richmond
Fellowship

15 July 2020

Surrey County Council Adult
Social Care

Liz Uliasz – Assistant
Director for Mental Health
Gus Blankson – Senior
Manager for Mental Health
(Mid/East Surrey)
Chrissie Caines – Senior
Manager for Mental Health
(West Surrey)

20 July 2020

Surrey County Council and
Surrey Heartlands
(Commissioners)

Jane Bremner – Head of
Commissioning (Mental
Health), Surrey County
Council
Stephen Murphy – Head of
Mental Health
Commissioning (Adult
Services), Surrey
Heartlands

Page 50

31 July 2020

Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust and
Surrey Heartlands

Professor Helen Rostill –
Chief Innovation Officer &
Director of Therapies,
Surrey and Borders
Partnership / Director of
Mental Health, Surrey
Heartlands

11 August 2020

National Autistic Society
(Surrey Branch)

Sara Truman – Chair,
National Autistic Society
(Surrey Branch)
Howard Childs – Autism
Spectrum Disorders
Practitioner, Surrey and
Borders Partnership
Three carers of people with
autism and mental health
issues

14 August 2020

Healthwatch Surrey

Michael Frean – Mental
Health Citizen Ambassador

1 September 2020

Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust

Heather Caudle – Chief
Nursing Officer

Page 51

Lorna Payne – Chief
Operating Officer

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 3 – Mental Health Task Group key lines of enquiry
Commissioners/providers


How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at promoting and enabling
mental health and wellbeing in the general population?



How effective are public sector organisations in Surrey at identifying and
intervening at an early stage? Do organisations recognise signs of mental
distress, and do organisations know where to signpost people?



In your experience, how do services try to involve people in their journey through
the service? Are there mechanisms to engage and involve people in their own
recovery, and are there established ways for people to give service feedback?



In your experience, to what extent do public sector organisations in Surrey take
an integrated approach to the treatment of mental and physical health? Are
physical health services skilled and aware of mental health conditions? Are there
mental health services which specifically address mental health needs arising
from physical health conditions? Are mental health services up to speed on
different physical health conditions which may impact mental health?



What progress do you think has been made on parity of esteem between the
treatment of physical and mental health? Has there been extra investment in
mental health services? What are the system views on mental health?



How do patients’ stories align with local data and national best practice on
treatment for those with different types of mental health conditions, and what
conclusions can be drawn about whether public sector organisations in Surrey
support people with mental health conditions to live full and fulfilling lives, in
accordance with the Community Vision for Surrey in 2030?

People with lived experience of mental health needs and their carers


Can you describe your experiences of mental health services in Surrey? What
services have you used? How recent have your interactions been? How easy
was it to access those services? Have you been supported to access self-help
materials? Have you experienced any stigma or discrimination?



To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with
work together to help meet your needs? Do you tell your story once or multiple
times? Is information shared as you would like?



In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been
focused on your needs and desired outcomes? Have you felt involved in your
care planning? Are there opportunities for you to influence what services there
are available and how the services you access are delivered?



In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system
as being as important as physical health? Please describe any experiences or
thoughts that have led you to this conclusion, and has this changed over the
years?

Page 53



What services are those with mental health conditions most likely to come into
contact with and how are these services equipped to provide effective support?
Do they have access to key people when needed (in particular during periods of
crisis)?



How do those with mental health conditions feel about the information provided
by services? Do they feel these cover the full range and scope of mental health
treatments available?



Do residents feel GPs properly understand mental health problems and are they
willing/able to refer?

Page 54

Annex 4 – Mental Health Task Group questionnaire
What are your experiences of mental health services in Surrey? What services have you
used, and how recent have your interactions been?

How easy was it to access those services?

Have you experienced any stigma or discrimination?

To what extent do the different organisations or services you are in touch with work together
to help meet your needs?

Do you feel you need to tell your story multiple times to different organisations and/or
services? Is information shared as you would like?

Do you feel as if GPs properly understand mental health problems, and are they willing/able
to refer?

In your experience, to what extent has any treatment, care and support been focused on
your needs and desired outcomes?

Have you felt involved in your care planning?

Page 55

Are there opportunities for you to influence what services there are available and how the
services you access are delivered?

In your experience, is mental health seen by the health and social care system as being as
important as physical health? Please describe any experiences or thoughts that have led
you to this conclusion. Has this changed over the years?

Do you feel you have access to key people when needed (particularly during periods of
crisis)?

How do you feel about the information provided by services? Do you feel these cover the full
range and scope of mental health treatments available?

Page 56

Item 6
ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE
15 OCTOBER 2020
ADULT SOCIAL CARE MENTAL HEALTH
UPDATE
Purpose of report: To provide the Committee with an update on
the progress made since the termination of the Section 75
agreement.
Introduction
1. Following a review of the arrangements for the
commissioning and delivery of Adult Social Care (ASC)
Mental Health services, Surrey County Council (SCC)
terminated the Section 75 (S75) arrangements with Surrey &
Borders Partnership Trust (SABP) in February 2019. SABP
have been responsible for the delivery of Mental Health
Social Care Services through direct management of council
staff.
2. The transfer of staff and cases from SABP to SCC was
completed during the period 11 November to 2 December
2019.
3. Following the transfer of staff and services to ASC, phase 2
of the Mental Health Programme Review began with a view
to bring about the strategic and operational changes needed
to deliver services that are consistent with our obligations
under the Care Act, and achieve our ambition to be at the
forefront of best practice and to establish a clear Mental
Health professional identity.
4. The transformation work was paused during the response to
the Covid-19 pandemic although restarted during the
summer.

Workforce and structure
5. During November to December 2019, 180 social care staff
moved into the locality offices from SABP offices. The
decision was made not to implement a new structure
immediately but to move the staff to their new office
locations. The moves went well with staff being welcomed
into SCC by ASC colleagues.

Page 57

6. Training – All Mental Health staff have completed
mandatory training covering the following:
 Care Act
 Safeguarding
 Mental Capacity Act
 LAS training
 Information Governance
 “Supporting You” sessions focussing on cultural change
 Management training
 Continuing Health Care
7. Strengths-based practice training is being rolled out in the
Mental Health service in September-November 2020. The
approach has been co-designed with the mental health staff
and people who use services.
It will be rolled out virtually as follows:
 All mental health staff will watch two narrated slideshows
on ‘new ways of working’ and ‘strengths-based practice’
– late September
 Local managers will convene small group
meetings/reflective sessions to discuss slideshow
content, what it means for their practice and answer
questions – early October
 Virtual strengths-based practice workshops for all mental
health staff, will be held via Zoom in mid/late October
 Reflections on key messages from narrated slideshows
 Videos of people with lived experience and a carer
 Redacted assessments and support plans
 Breakout sessions to reflect on the videos/assessments
and support plans/case studies
 Regular reflective practice sessions run by local
managers within teams – November onwards
 Audit of cases to assess and reinforce strengths-based
practice – November onwards
 Two case studies are included in appendix A of this
report.
 Identify next steps
8. Motivational Interviewing has been applied to a social work
context and is highly compatible with strengths-based
practice, promoting autonomy, empowerment and selfefficacy.
The training is designed to help staff:
 Understand the person (a formulation of the person rather
than just their needs) and within that what would support
behaviour change.

Page 58




Provide options in a way that will maximise the chances
they will engage in a new healthy lifestyle (for example)
Increase awareness in staff to understand how their
behaviour and relationships with customers can support
behaviour change or undermine it – e.g. not finding the
right balance between doing for, doing to and
reinforcing/encouraging self-directed behaviour and selfmanagement.

The trainer will use:
 Motivational interviewing
 Solution focused brief therapy principles
 Reflective practice – so staff understand how their own
emotional reactions drive their behaviours
 Transactional analysis (or reciprocal roles)
 Learning theory.
9. Current structure – at present the teams are divided up into
East, West and specialist services. There are 11 locality
teams and an East and West Approved Mental Health
Professional (AMHP) service all line managed by two senior
managers. Currently the specialist services are the Forensic
Team, Substance Misuse team, Prison team, Older Adults
and the new Hospital discharge team described in section
12. The Enabling Independence service also sits within
specialist services – the plans for this provision are outlined
in section 14.
10. The AMHP service is split across East and West Surrey and
remans co-located with SABP. AMHPs are mental health
professionals who have been approved by the local authority
to carry out duties under the Mental Health Act. They are
responsible for co-ordinating Mental Health Act
assessments. One of their functions is to make decisions to
apply for compulsory admission to hospital for people with
mental disorders.
The training to become an AMHP lasts for six months and is
University based. There is a national shortage of AMHPs and
Surrey is committed to developing our existing staff in order
to enable them to train as AMHPs, this is often a stressful
and demanding role for staff. Staff need to maintain their
warrants and the expectations of legal literacy are high. A
further pressure on the service is the available bed capacity
within the mental health trust.
The table below shows the number of Mental Health Act
assessments completed by the AMHP service this year.

Page 59

2020

Section
Section Section Section Section 135
2
3
4
5
(warrants) S136

Total for
month

Jan

47

28

0

4

3

31

113

Feb

39

16

0

7

3

25

90

Mar

40

35

0

6

11

24

116

Apr

35

29

0

5

11

25

105

May

39

24

0

5

6

21

95

June

57

40

0

11

11

37

156

Jul

45

48

0

5

15

40

153

Aug

40

35

0

0

9

35

119

Total for Outcome

342

255

0

43

69

238

1106

The table below contains the data for the Emergency Duty
Team.

2020

Section Section Section Section
2
3
4
5
S136

Total for
month

Jan

6

2

0

0

19

27

Feb

17

1

0

0

28

46

Mar

18

1

1

0

21

41

Apr

17

1

0

0

21

39

May

20

2

0

0

31

53

June

18

4

0

0

36

58

Jul

15

2

0

0

39

56

Aug

12

5

0

0

26

43

Total for Outcome

123

18

1

0

221

363

New Services
11. Mental Health Duty Team – In November 2019 an interim
ASC Mental Health Central Duty Team (MHCDT) was
established. The intention was to provide a single gateway
for both professional referrers and people with mental health
needs and/or carers to access Surrey ASC Mental Health
services and to ensure effective management of new
referrals into the service. The operational model has been
reviewed and the team will now be made permanent as the

Page 60

data shows an increasing demand for the service. The
MHCDT operates Monday to Friday, 9am to 5pm, outside of
these hours the Emergency Duty Team (EDT) is available for
any urgent referrals and mental health act assessments. The
EDT is primarily staffed by AMHPs.
12. Hospital Discharge Team – The ASC Mental Health
Hospital Discharge Team (MH HDT) was established on 1
April 2020. The role of the team is to facilitate safe, timely,
person centred, Care Act (2014) compliant discharges for
Surrey mental health inpatients who have care and support
needs.
This dedicated team is working closely with SABP to ensure
that there are coordinated, robust processes across the
mental health system to enable residents to have enhanced
health and social care outcomes in a flexible way and which
aims to minimise delays in the system. There is a great
pressure on the need for hospital beds within mental health
services, the team is integral to alleviating the system
pressure.
13. Staffing Structure – we are currently looking at models for a
new ASC Mental Health structure. A commitment has been
made to maintain the service separately with an Assistant
Director in post to manage the mental health teams. The
issues we need to address in the new structure include the
introduction of Team Managers and Occupational Therapists
as we currently do not have these roles within our staffing
establishment. We are also working with the Assistant
Director for Learning Disabilities and the Transitions Team to
explore the development of a service that meets the needs of
people with a diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorders with
complex mental health needs, this is particularly relevant in
the Forensic Team.
A further consideration is the Wellbeing and Prevention
agenda and so the future structure needs to align the teams
to the Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to enhance our
prevention offer.
The transformation work is being overseen by the Mental
Health Programme Board. The intention is to reinstate the
Reference Group (made up of members from the
Independent Mental Health Network) to help us codesign
and shape services. The Reference Group were integral to
informing the transfer of social care staff to the County
Council as part of the dissolution of the Section 75
agreement.

Page 61

14. Mental Health Reablement Model: Following the work with
the Social Care Institute of Excellence (SCIE) as our
Improvement Partners it was identified that we currently have
gaps in service provision relating to those residents who
have Mental Health needs in terms of short-term support to
maximise their independence.
Through both the Mental Health and the Reablement
Transformation Programmes we are exploring opportunities
to re-design the existing service to meet the needs of this
group. Using the Mental Health Recovery Model and the
Occupational Therapy Skills Gain process we are designing
short term services that will enable people to remain living
independently in their own communities and prevent the
need for ongoing long-term statutory services.
Proposals include two new models of delivery:


Woking GPIMHS (GP Integrated Mental Health
Service) linked Mental Health Reablement Pilot £100k
investment from the Community Services Transformation
Budget secured to pilot a Mental Health Reablement
service in the Woking Area. This money will fund 1FTE
Mental Health Reablement Occupational Therapist and
1.4FTE Enabling Independence workers.
The pilot also involves the Occupational Therapist
working with both the current Enabling Independence
workers and in-house reablement staff to ensure a skills
gain and mental health focus is all service delivery.



Co-Locating Enabling Independence Service with InHouse Reablement under a Therapy Led approach.
Through co-locating both services we will be able to
ensure a therapy led approach, which will enable
residents to receive a clear and joined up short term
intervention that will be aimed at promoting their levels of
independence from both a physical and mental health
perspective.

Physical and mental health needs are not mutually exclusive
and combining the support and leadership across these two
services will enable ASC to offer a single clear vision
promoting and maintaining independence through short
term, area based local services.
This model is still in the scoping phase, the aspiration is that
both teams will come together and be based across area
hubs for service delivery that have strong link with local
social care teams.

Page 62

15. Future developments for people with Autism and Mental
Health needs. We are currently working with the Assistant
Director for Learning Disabilities and Autism and the
Transitions Teams to improve the pathways for young people
with Autism, Disabilities and Mental Health needs, who are
care act eligible. For many young people with mental health
needs, the transitions pathway into adulthood is unclear or at
times non-existent.
The intention is to:
 Establish a Transitions Steering Group across the
SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability)
Social Care, and Health System in Surrey – to
improve the levels of partnership working across the
stakeholders in the system
 Expand the role of the Transitions Service to provide
Transitions Assessment & Support planning into
adulthood for young people with mental health
needs.

Mental Health Commissioning
16. The supported living dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for
people with mental health and/or substance misuse needs
went live in April and is now an established way for
practitioners to source supported living. All the providers on
the DPS framework have been evaluated for quality and
cost, making sure that care is both affordable and of good
quality. Commissioners and assistant team managers in the
mental health locality teams are working together with the
providers to develop robust working relationships, helping to
troubleshoot any issues as they arise and supporting people
to move onwards in their recovery journey in a timely way.
17. Whilst supported living would be the accommodation with
care and support of choice as a short-term option to help
people recover, some people with complex mental health
needs may require residential or nursing care. The Adult
Social Care Joint Central Placement team is increasing its
scope, and mental health staff and commissioners are part of
this work to make sure the team is appropriately skilled and
able to source residential and nursing care for this group of
people.
18. Mental health teams can sometimes struggle to find
appropriate care at home packages for people, so
commissioners are working with the teams, providers,

Page 63

service users and carers to develop appropriate home care
services that meet the needs of people with mental health
needs as part of the upcoming home-based care tender. The
tender will aim to ensure that home-based care providers
who work with SCC do have the right skills and staff to meet
the needs of people with mental health problems. Cabinet
will receive a paper on the upcoming home-based care recommissioning on 27th October.

Finance and Performance
19. Finance – The table below summarises the different aspects
of Mental Health care services and staffing in terms of
2020/21 budget, forecast outturn as at the end of July and
forecast variance.
The forecast overspend on care packages was £0.5m but
this was offset by a £1.8m underspend forecast for the
staffing budget, leading to a combined forecast underspend
across all Mental Health budgets of £1.4m (when rounded).
Further work is ongoing regarding budget efficiencies as the
spend on care packages remains high. This includes
ensuring income is received, work with commissioners on
market development, review of the section 117 policy (see
section 16.3 below) and work with SABP to implement a
discharge to assess model.

Budget area

Care packages

Community Connections
service

Housing related support

Staffing

Expenditure /
income
Gross
expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Gross
expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Gross
expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Gross
expenditure
Income

Page 64

M4
2020/21
Outturn
Forecast
Budget
variance
Outturn
£m
£m
£m
12.1

13.7

1.7

-3.7
8.4

-4.9
8.9

-1.2
0.5

1.8

1.8

-0.0

-1.8
0.0

-1.8
-0.0

0.0
-0.0

2.3

2.3

-0.0

-0.1
2.3

-0.1
2.3

-0.0
-0.0

9.6

7.7

-1.9

-0.3

-0.3

0.1

Total

Net expenditure
Gross
expenditure
Income
Net expenditure

9.2

7.4

-1.8

25.8

25.6

-0.2

-5.8
19.9

-7.0
18.6

-1.2
-1.4

20. Performance
 Mental Health caseloads have increased across all teams
to 1,680. At the time of the transfer in November 2019 the
case load was 1,324. We have seen a steady increase in
the number of new cases. This is likely to be because we
are seeing more people from primary care than we would
have done as part of the S75. There has also been a
significant increase due to Covid 19 in terms of urgent
work over this period. It is also widely acknowledged that
there is likely to be a longer-term impact on mental health
needs and resultant increased pressure on MH service
provision beyond the peak of the pandemic. There has
also been an increase in the complexity and acuity of
presenting individuals.
 The percentage of new contacts that progress to social
care assessment is 12% (Target 30%)
 The percentage of people reviewed or reassessed in the
last 12 months has risen to 89.5% (Target: 80%), in
October 2019 this figure was 34%
 The percentage of contacts diverted to community
resources via information, advice, signposting and
guidance has risen to 26.6%. The target for this is 25%
so it is good to be high. This reflects on the conversations
held at the front door.
 The percentage of people in the community who
purchase their service with a Direct Payment has
decreased to 13.9% (Target: 30%). This is an area of
concern and is being addressed with the teams through
training and at consistent practice meetings.
Further details are attached in Appendix B
Work with partners
21. NHS – Adult Social Care is a key partner in the mental health
integrated care system. The Surrey Heartlands Mental
Health at Scale Board provides system-wide leadership and
sets the strategic direction, agrees priorities and operational
planning for the mental health, care and well-being of the
population of Surrey Heartlands. The current focus is on the
system Covid recovery plan and planning the third phase
of the Covid response. We are leading one of the recovery
objectives in the mental health system recovery plan and

Page 65

engaged on the other workstreams to ensure that the
increased demands on adult social care mental health teams
and resources are reflected in this work.
22. Community and Mental Health Transformation
Money was awarded to Surrey Heartlands and Frimley
Health to improve the health and wellbeing of people with
significant mental health conditions by developing new
services that provide support to people closer to their
communities. Staff from NHS, social care and the voluntary
sector will be working closely with GPs in Primary Care
Networks (PCNs) to improve local services.
Each PCN will develop a core team that includes a mental
health practitioner, community connector and admin. Each
PCN can also access further support such as a clinical lead
or psychiatrist.
Surrey Heartlands ICS has branded the teams as General
Practice Integrated Mental Health Service (GPIMHS)
Frimley Health ICS has branded the teams as Mental Health
Integrated Community Services (MHICS). Frimley Health
PCN sites are split into two key areas Frimley Blackwater
and East Berkshire. The Frimley (Blackwater) PCN are
closer aligned with Surrey Heartlands.
As the schemes develop ASC mental health teams will align
more closely with the PCNs. ASC were awarded £100k to
pilot a mental health reablement model linked to the Woking
GPIMHS service (detailed above in section 10.1). The
money will fund a full time Occupational Therapist who will
work with the multidisciplinary team to identify individuals
who will benefit from a short-term skill gain programme. The
money will also fund some Enabling Independence workers
to work with those individuals in their own homes.
ASC representatives attend the Transformation Boards and
have an active role in the recovery work.
23. Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is
a provider of health services for people of all ages with
mental ill health and learning disabilities in Surrey, they also
provide drug and alcohol services. They provide a range of
services to residents including in patient care, crisis support
and therapies. The trust is CQC registered. ASC continues to
work closely with SABP to ensure that good relations are
maintained and that the needs of our residents are met.
Workshops have been held with the SABP leadership team
to look at hospital discharge processes and rehabilitation in
order to alleviate the pressure on the whole system. We

Page 66

continue to attend the Length of Stay meetings and other
relevant meeting/Boards as it is important that we continue to
maintain good relationships with SABP.
24. Surrey Heartlands CCG – We are working with the CCG to
ensure we are meeting our legal obligations under Section
117 of the Mental Health Act and we will jointly review the
policy in the near future. Section 117 aftercare services apply
to individuals who have been detained under section 3 of
the Mental Health Act and they are intended to:
 Meet the need that arises from or relates to mental
health problems
 Reduce the risk of a mental condition deteriorating and a
readmission to hospital
Section 117 aftercare services are not chargeable under the
Charging Policy. The financial agreement in Surrey is a
50:50 split with the CCG as it is a joint responsibility.
25. Voluntary Sector – We continue to work closely with our
voluntary sector colleagues, supporting and developing their
capabilities to deliver services across the mental health
pathway. We continue to work closely with the independent
mental health network who help guide and influence
commissioning and operational plans by offering insight and
challenge.
26. Independent Mental Health Network (IMHN) – ASC Mental
Health staff attend the IMHN meeting on a bi-monthly basis
to update on phase 2 of the mental health programme. The
IMHN also work in co-production with social care to improve
and challenge our ways of working and help guide and
influence commissioning and operational plans by offering
insight and challenge.
27. Surrey Care Record and the sharing of patient data – the
shared care record launched in June this year and is rapidly
expanding to create a rich data set combining GP records,
Adult Social Care data, SABP records and acute hospital
data across Surrey Heartlands. Clinicians and health and
social care professionals can access information via the
Surrey Care Record for the purpose of providing joined up
direct care. There are no plans to extend access to the third
sector at the present time. The data in the Surrey Care
Record is confidential, personal data covered by both
common law duties of confidentiality and by the General
Data Protection Regulations. Wider sharing is prohibited
under the existing Information Sharing Agreements.
However, in the longer term, with the development of patient

Page 67

portals, it is likely that the patient will be able to share their
own data with others on an individual basis.
Carers
28. Since the transfer of SCC staff from SABP, our Carers
Practice Advisors are now embedded in the Mental Health
Locality Teams. This is promoting a ‘think family’ approach
within the teams and enabling our staff to work more closely
with carers.
29. The weekly team meetings provide opportunities to discuss
the families they are working with and any issues facing
carers. The whole family approach fits with the strengthsbased practice being developed in the teams.
30. The teams offer carer conversations, assessments, and
reviews, alongside emotional support to prevent carer
breakdown.
31. During the Covid pandemic, the support offered to carers has
been crucial due to the isolation people have faced and the
risks a deterioration in their mental health. We have been
involved in carrying out welfare checks to carers and
providing support when necessary.
32. A new area of work that we have been able to progress is
with families who do not meet the criteria for secondary
mental health support. Families are now being supported
and no longer ‘falling through the net’. The embedding of
family work, identifying carers as supporters within the teams
is the way forward.
33. We work closely with partner agencies to support carers,
including Action for Carers, the CCG and the Helios Project.
We attend the weekly Community Mental Health team’s
multidisciplinary meetings, to raise awareness of carers and
encourage referrals to our service when appropriate.
34. We are now beginning to link in with the GPIMHS projects
across Surrey and will be working with colleagues in primary
care to support them with training, advice and guidance for
carers.
35. We attend the SABP Carers Action Group, the Carers
Commissioning Group and link closely with the GP lead for
carers in the CCG. This ensures that mental health is on the
agenda and our staff can contribute and support new
pathways and strategies.

Page 68

36. The Young Carer and Young Adult Carer Strategy Plan from
2021 to 2024 is in draft and this promotes young carers
rights, action plans to endure a voice for young carers. We
have been fully involved in developing this with young carers.

Covid-19 Pandemic
37. There was excellent collaboration between all agencies
including community organisations and staff to support
people with mental health needs during the Covid-19
pandemic.
38. The Mental Health teams have continued to operate
throughout the pandemic visiting residents and carrying out
Mental Health Act assessments (using appropriate PPE).
ASC teams supported high numbers of shielded residents
during the pandemic including people known to the Mental
Health teams.
39. Guidance was issued by the Department of Health and
Social Care on the use of remote/virtual assessments during
Mental Health Act assessments, this was successfully
implemented by the teams. The number of assessments
carried out in this way have been very low in keeping with
the guidance.
40. Mental Health services across the system have seen an
increase in the need for mental health support, activity
continues to increase, and levels have passed pre-Covid
demand. The acuity and complexity of presentations are
higher and there has also been an increase in the use of
Mental Health Act detentions over this period.
41. The Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Reference
Group was set up at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic with
the remit of ensuring the development of a coordinated
approach to supporting the emotional wellbeing, resilience
and mental health of the Surrey workforce and volunteers.
The reference group continues to meet, and ASC has an
active role within this.
42. From May to August 2020 Public Health commissioned
Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) lite course. To date 326
delegates have attended this training from:
 Surrey County Council – call centres
 Adult Social Care
 Borough and District – housing, community services

Page 69






Care homes
Family services
Voluntary sector
BAME networks

43. Seven further MHFA lite courses have been commissioned
by the Public Health Team for September-December 2020.
Overall, this will enable 140 number of people to become
trained in MHFA lite. The target for this training is people
working with high risk groups.
Conclusions
44. The report sets out the progress and development of the
ASC Mental Health Service over the last 10 months.
45. The report also highlights the collaborative work with
partners that has been done but clearly there is further work
needed to embed the prevention and wellbeing agenda.
Recommendations
46. Adults and Health Select Committee members are
recommended to note the contents of this report and any
further issues arising from the report that may require further
investigation.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Report contact:
Liz Uliasz
Deputy Director/AD Mental Health
Health, Wellbeing and Adult Social Care
Contact details:
Liz.uliasz@surreycc.gov.uk
Tel: 07792681386

Page 70

Appendix A Case studies
Tackling issues of anxiety in a motivational strengths-based
way – case study
What was the issue?
What did we learn about the person?
Ann is a 46-year-old lady. She has a diagnosis of Somatoform
disorder and Autistic Spectrum Disorder. In the past, due to
illness and associated poor mobility, Ann previously lived in a
nursing care home.
It was then identified that living in a nursing home was not
appropriate for Ann.
Ann was supported by the Community Psychiatric Nurse to move
into an independent flat and provided weekly visits supporting
Ann psychologically and emotionally. Ann had carers who
provided support with Ann’s personal care and daily living skills.
Ann had direct payments for many years which she managed
independently however concern had been raised that she was
not using them correctly.
Ann had built up good relationships with her Community
Psychiatric Nurse but had become overly dependent on her over
the years and now the Community Psychiatric Nurse had left.
Ann said she finds forming social relationships and accessing
her local community difficult due to her anxiety and Autism but
had a volunteer from Welcome Buddies who would accompany
Ann when out in the community. This was working well, and Ann
felt the support given by the volunteer was invaluable.
Ann had been receiving the same support services for some time
and this hadn’t been reviewed. Her Community Psychiatric
Nurse left her role and the Mental Health Social Worker became
Ann’s allocated Social Worker and carried out a review with Ann.
What happened as a result of the assessment?
In order to carry out a review of Ann’s services, The Community
Mental Health Social Worker spent many months getting to know
Ann. They gradually built up a relationship in which Ann felt
comfortable to share what mattered to her the most, and what
she wanted to do in the future.
Ann advised the Social Worker that she found it difficult to
access the community alone, so she had support from Welcome
Buddies. Ann felt it was important for this support to continue as

Page 71

she did enjoy spending time outside of her flat and found her
buddy invaluable. Her buddy also supports her with paperwork.
Ann said she sometimes felt isolated and lonely. She enjoyed
the time spent in the local community with the support of her
buddy and found it easier to interact with others at these times,
so this was continued.
The Mental Health Social Worker soon learned about Ann’s love
of cats and her aspiration to work with them. The Social Worker
arranged some volunteering sessions for Ann at the local Cats
Protection League.
Ann agreed that the Social Worker should share that she can
sometimes get anxious with the other people at the Cats
Protection League and they are very supportive. She now
spends two days a week volunteering and looking after the cats
and making new friends.
Ann raised that she needs support to complete forms and make
future decisions around how her care needs are met. Ann’s
Community Mental Health Team would be able to assist Ann
should a difficult decision arise, and they would consider linking
her with an advocate if required. Ann’s buddy is happy to
continue to help her with filling in forms.
As a result of the review and reassessment of Ann’s needs, she
no longer requires the support of paid carer workers.
Why is this a good example of strengths-based practice?
Ann has been put at the centre of the review of her care and has
been treated with respect and listened to.
The Practitioner has taken the time for them to get to know each
other and build a trusting relationship. Ann has therefore felt in a
safe place to be able to tell the practitioner what her interests,
passions and aspirations are, and they have jointly identified how
she can make her life more meaningful and enjoyable, a truly
person-centred approach.
The Practitioner and Ann have identified that Ann has built on
her strengths and is able to carry out her personal care
independently. Her services were therefore right sized to allow
her continued independence.
The Practitioner and Ann have moved away from traditional
services which would have supported her to survive, and instead
identified voluntary services that have allowed her to thrive and

Page 72

reach her aspirational outcomes, which have had a
transformational effect on her wellbeing.
Ann has been able to contribute to the local charity and society
in general giving her a rewarding job leading to a sense of
empowerment and achievement.
Ann has been equipped with support from her network of
supportive carers and her newfound friends at the Cats
Protection League to be able to overcome difficulties in forming
new relationships and they have agreed how they support Ann in
moments of anxiety.
Ann continues to be supported by a volunteer from Welcome
Buddies to learn coping strategies and feel less anxious when
accessing the local community and is widening her friendship
circle making her feel less lonely and isolated. She has made
new friends at the cat’s protection league and meets up with one,
a fellow volunteer every fortnight at a local gardening centre.
The Community mental health team have been on hand as a
listening ear for when Ann gets a bit overwhelmed and anxious
but respond with a reassuring ,coaching approach that gives Ann
the opportunity to explore her own solutions to her difficulties
with social situations , giving Ann the skills and confidence to
come up with tactics to manage her own anxieties.
The services they have identified are non-costed but have led to
better outcomes.
Through listening to what matters to Ann, identifying her interests
and aspirations and putting her at the centre of planning her
support Ann’s life has been transformed. She has gone from a
lady in her forties in a nursing home, to a lady who lives
independently in her own flat and now has a job working with
cats, her passion. She has made new friends and lives a fulfilling
life.
Tackling issues of anxiety, depression, motivation and
substance misuse in a strengths-based way – case study
What was the issue?
Amy referred herself for assessment using the online selfreferral. She is 40 years old and told us that she suffers from
anxiety and depression and low motivation, and that these
issues are exacerbated by her cannabis addiction from which
she is having trouble recovering. She told us that she felt
overwhelmed and unsupported and that whilst trying to get her
life back on track she constantly feels overwhelmed and gives
up, and that she has little by way of a support network.

Page 73

Amy told us she lacks motivation to make food and eat, to get
washed and dressed, to form and maintain positive relationships,
and find suitable employment that is of more value than simply
for the pay cheque.
What did we learn about Amy?
The assessor Hannah visited Amy at home, and as well as
talking about the needs that Amy had identified in her referral,
took time to explore which of these were most important and
what motivated and interested her. We learnt that Amy wanted to
feel more content with her life overall and also to put behind her
a past incident that had caused significant distress.
Amy had started a university degree and as a result was worried
about student debts as well as the ability to pay other household
bills and that this was feeling overwhelming, significantly
impacting her wellbeing. Amy was in a job that did not suit her
and negatively impacted upon a back condition and she wanted
to find a job that she felt committed to. We found out that her
interests were more about artistic creativity rather than the
cleaning job she had.
Amy was frank about her increased uptake of cannabis when
she had money, and she had insight into the detrimental impact
this was having on her motivation. We also learnt that Amy was
subject to unwelcome cuckooing behaviours from some local
young men coming to her house to smoke, and that this was not
helped by her high hedge and poor fencing, meaning it could go
unnoticed by others.
What happened as a result of the assessment?
In discussion with Hannah, Amy identified that she needed
support to manage in the community, to develop new skills, find
ways to prompt herself to eat regularly, dress appropriately and
create a day to day routine for independence and recovery. She
recognised that she felt overwhelmed by trying to work and in
consultation with her GP it was agreed that she was so tired
emotionally and physically that she needed to be signed off work
to give her time to overcome some of the issues that were
impacting upon her. A goal was identified around changing
career to one with a more creative focus, and to tackle this by
first keeping herself busy with hobbies, before then volunteering,
and eventually finding a new career.
Hannah referred Amy to the Enabling Independence service and
Kim has been working with Amy for some months.
Counselling has been recommended by Amy’s GP, and an
iterative support plan aimed at independence was co-developed

Page 74

– prior to the current public health pandemic, significant progress
was occurring supported by Hannah and Kim.
Kim also supported Amy to attend Citizens Advice appointments
where debt management has been started and Amy’s
entitlement to benefits explored to compensate for lack of
income.
Amy articulated a wish to abstain from cannabis and wanted to
re-engage with I-Access – she has been re referred and is also
exploring attending Narcotics Anonymous.
As a result of a safeguarding enquiry, local community police
offered support in relation to the cuckooing. In addition, support
from the probation service via Amy’s housing officer has been
sought to cut the high hedge, giving greater visibility, and funding
for a high gate is being investigated to reduce access for
unwelcome visitors.
Amy identified that she would like some help with CV writing to
learn how to make herself more appealing to potential
employers. She also identified that she would like to look at other
educational classes through Richmond fellowship.
Amy’s support plan incorporates her love of art and the use of a
wipe board at home, where she set targets for herself in relation
to eating and personal care and can track her own successes.
Kim’s plan to escort Amy to an initial meet with Oakleaf charity
are on hold due to Covid but will be followed up in due course.
They have upholstery courses which Amy is interested in to
develop work related skills, reduce her isolation and increase her
interactions and confidence. Amy has also attended local knit
and natter groups.
Charitable funding has been sought for a new washing machine
and freezer by Karen a support worker from Catalyst. Karen also
provided Amy with some gardening tools, books, food parcels
and phone top ups (using Covid funding) and has been an
enormous support during lockdown.

Why is this a good example of strengths-based practice?
Staff established a relationship with Amy by listening carefully
and found out what was most important to her. Hannah and Kim
explored Amy’s whole life including her interests rather than just
her needs.
It took time and responsibility was shared, with greater input
when Amy needed it and less input as progress was made. Kim
and Hannah ‘walked alongside’ Amy in iterative steps to support
her rather than ‘doing for’ Amy and tapped into her own
motivation to change.

Page 75

Amy’s strengths and capacity for independence were explored,
and choice and control were promoted by Hannah and Kim who
encouraged Amy to take more care of herself and practice a little
more of what they called ‘self-love’.
Amy’s support plan was co-produced with her and the focus was
on the self-determined outcomes she wanted to achieve, rather
than services that would ‘fill a gap’.
Hannah and Kim built a relationship with Amy and supported
improvement through stepped successes.
Community resources and other organisations who had a
positive role to play were accessed. The role of Karen from
Catalyst was integral to supporting Amy and keeping her
motivated during the Covid lockdown.
Amy was provided with initial support to try out new experiences
and build confidence and independence so that she might
subsequently undertake them on her own.

Page 76

Appendix B – Performance
Caseload

Figure 1: The number of open care cases as at the 1st of the
month for the MH Service
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, caseload numbers
for the MH Service showed a jump from 1,137 to 1,324 and since
then has shown a steady increase to 1,680 in September 2020.
Number of New Contacts

Figure 2: The number of new contacts from the community on
clients not open to ASC for the MH Service – based on ASC01
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the number of new
contacts for the MH Service showed a jump from 81 to 310 and

Page 77

since then has shown an upward trend to 1,068 in June 2020
before falling to 627 in August.
ASC02: Reviewed or Assessed in the Last 12 Months

Figure 3: Percentage of people reviewed or assessed in the last 12
months for the MH Service
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the percentage of
reviewed or assessed by the MH Service has shown a jump from
34% to 42.9% and since then has shown an upward trend to
89.5% in August. Target 80%
ASC03: Community DPs

Figure 4: Percentage of people in the community purchase their
service with a DP for the MH Service

Page 78

Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the percentage of
Community DPs for the MH Service has shown a downward trend
from 20.6% to 13.9% in September. Target 30%

ASC17: Safeguarding Over 52 Weeks

Figure 5: Safeguarding referrals open over 52 weeks for the MH
Service (Note: no data for May)
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the number of
Safeguarding referrals open for over 52 weeks with the MH Service
has shown a downward trend from 30 in November 2019 to 10 in
September 2020.
ASC20: Services No ASCA

Page 79

Figure 6: Number of open cases with costed services and no Care
Act Assessment for the MH Service
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the number of noncompliant Care Act Assessments for the MH Service has gone
down from 168 in November 2019 to 20 in September 2020. The
target is zero.
ASC21: Safeguarding No Process Type

Figure 7: Safeguarding referrals with no process type recorded for
the MH Service (Note: no data for May)
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the number of
safeguarding referrals with no process type with the MH Service
has shown a downward trend from 102 in November 2019 to 72 in
September 2020. There is no target but it is good to be low.

Page 80

ASC22: Safeguarding No Coordinator

Figure 8: Safeguarding referrals with no co-ordinator for the MH
Service (Note: no data for May)
Since the split with SABP in November 2019, the number of
safeguarding referrals with no co-ordinator for the MH Service has
shown a downward trend from 24 in November 2019 to 1 in
September 2020. There is no target but it is good to be low.

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 7

Committee Title: ADULTS AND HEALTH
SELECT COMMITTEE
Date: 15th OCTOBER 2020
Title: SURREY HEARTLANDS WINTER
REVIEW REPORT
Purpose of report:
This report is to inform the committee of the impact of winter 2019/20 on
the Surrey Heartlands system, including reference to previous winter
pressures; and to describe the whole system measures being put in
place to promote resilience throughout the upcoming winter period.

1. Introduction
1.1

Winter 2019/20 was again very challenging; the Acute Hospitals
supported 182,428 attendances (all types) to the Emergency
Department (ED) from December 2019 to March 2020. The
overall attendance figures (all types) rise to +9.4% when
comparing November to March 2018/19 to 2019/20. The greatest
monthly growth (when compared to the same period in 2018) was
in December at +20.4%. Lockdown was announced on 23rd March
2020, with attendances falling dramatically, leading to -21.9%
when compared to March 2019.

1.2

ED 4-hour performance was under 95% and ranged between
75% (ASPH) to 84% (SaSH); due the dedication of staff across all
agencies and partners, the Acute Hospitals performed above the
national average for England of 75%. The overall performance in
each Acute hospital improved with the introduction of lock down
on 23rd March 2020, when attendance reduced significantly.

Page 83

2. Report Summary
Please refer to the attached full report.
2.1

NHS ‘111’ was consistently busy over the winter months, currently
50% of all NHS 111 callers are receiving a clinical contact,
meaning calls are either receiving clinical assessment or are
closed through contact with a clinician. March 2020 was the
busiest month for NHS 111 - IUC with 23,782 callers needing
further clinical advice. With the dramatic increase in overall
numbers contacting NHS 111; calls answered within 60 seconds
dropped to a low of just 12%. Since then call pick up times have
recovered to 95.67%.

2.2

The ‘Think 111 First’ is a national programme, which is currently
being developed across Surrey Heartlands. The programme has
the primary objective of reducing waiting times in ED by offering
‘bookable’ appointments within the ED department or other areas
of the Acute hospital should these be required; more often it is
envisaged that the person will be offered support via other
community services. These appointments will be booked via the
NHS 111 service. Prior to booking advice and guidance will be
provided as the person may be able to receive support from their
Pharmacy or advice from the NHS 111 clinical team.

2.3

The overall ambulance attendance to ED figures rose to +5.3%
when comparing November to March 2018/19 to 2019/20. The
greatest monthly growth (when compared to the same period in
2019) was in February at +12.3%. Lockdown was announced on
23rd March 2020, with attendances starting to fall dramatically,
leading to -3.1% when compared to March 2019.

2.4

Ambulance handovers achieved within 15 minutes of arrival to the
Emergency Department have seen an overall improvement,
particularly during the winter months from December 2019 to
February 2020 when compared to 2018/19.This improvement is
against a backdrop of increased ambulance attendances to ED
for the same period. In March 2020, handovers within 15 minutes
did drop to 31.5%; however have again improved with 43.6%
reported in June 2020. A great deal of work has been undertaken
by the Acute hospitals in relation to reducing the time ambulance
crews wait in ED to hand over their patients to hospital nursing
staff.

2.5

Handovers within 30 minutes have also improved when compared
to 2018/19, with only February 2020 showing a 0.9% lower rate
than the same month in 2019. In June 2020, 96.5% of handovers
took place within 30 minutes of arrival to the ED.

Page 84

2.6

Ambulance Diverts: Ambulance diversion to another Acute
Hospital ED department is a strategy which is only ever deployed
when the hospital requesting the divert is under very intense
pressure. During the seven months from December 2019 to June
2020, there were 19 diverts requested, resulting in 4 patients
being diverted. None of the border diverts resulted in patients
being transported.

2.7

In respect of non –elective admissions, from November 2019 to
March 2020, November 2019 saw a +0.5% increase, however
admissions across Surrey Heartlands, when viewed collectively,
started to fall from December 2019 (at -1.0), this was primarily
due to enhanced services within the community. The most
significantly reduction is in March 2020 at – 22.3% due to the
pandemic.

2.8

Surrey Heartlands has had an overall increase of +3.2% in
patient’s stays of over 21 days when compared to last year’s
winter period. Whilst numbers were higher in March 2020 at 570,
than in 2018/19; the response from all agencies, patients,
families and communities to the government’s request in the
same month to create as many available beds as possible in
order to respond the pandemic; numbers fell dramatically to just
195 patients in May 2020.

2.9

Support on discharge from hospital during the pandemic has
accelerated the ambitions of the high impact change model.
Further focus on discharge came with the publication of the
COVID – 19 Hospital Discharge Service Requirements on 19th
March 2020. The guidance was clear in that patients should not
remain in hospital unless the person clinically requires hospital
based care. The expectation is that patients ready to leave the
hospital would transfer from the ward to a designated discharge
area within one hour of the decision being made and then be fully
discharged from hospital, within a total of 3 hours. This guidance
remains in place.

2.10

General Practice has continued to see face to face appointments
where it was safe and clinically necessary to do so through the
establishment of hot/zoned sites. The pandemic accelerated the
delivery of digital modes of contact for patients complementing
the existing more traditional modes, such as telephone and face
to face. Over 90% of the population have access to a practice
website that allows for self-care, self-referral (to services such as
IAPT) and to submit an ‘online consulting’ request to the practice
about non-urgent issues.

Page 85

2.11

Support to the wider Care Sector and in particular Care Homes
has been a particularly focus during Spring 2020. A number of
initiatives have been successfully delivered, these include:










2.12

NHS Capacity Tracker: the NHS Capacity Tracker is a
web based portal primarily designed to support minimising
delayed transfers of care by enabling Care Homes to
instantly share their live bed state, in turn enabling hospital
discharge teams and other stakeholders to rapidly find
available nursing and residential beds. Surrey Heartlands
has a total of 370 residential and nursing homes, of which
350 (as at 1st August 2020) are regularly reporting via the
tracker.
NHS Mail: NHS Mail provides the ability to safely share
residents’ data and queries with doctors, nurses and GPs
involved in the persons care and also enables all those
involved to receive more timely responses. Teams across
Surrey Heartlands have been working with individual
providers resulting in an overall Surrey Heartlands NHS
mail coverage of 72% (as at 13th July 2020).
Clinical Liaison Support: Surrey Heartlands ICS,
responding to the national initiative to improving the
clinical input into a residential or nursing home, has
achieved 100% coverage of all care homes: with a GP or
clinical lead from the community health services being
identified for each home.
IPC Training – Surrey Heartlands have put in place a
programme of training and support which is aimed to
complement the skills and experience that care homes
already have. A total of 170 training sessions have been
provided and as part of the training sessions, support with
testing was offered to the service.
Communications with Care Homes: In April 2020,
Surrey Heartlands instigated a weekly Adult Care
newsletter, emailed to all care providers, as a key
mechanism to pass on essential local and national
information to the care sector, with topics including PPE,
Testing, Infection Control training and supporting staff and
resident wellbeing. The newsletter is managed and
produced on behalf of Surrey Heartlands by Surrey Care
Association.

Each of the Acute Hospital across Surrey Heartlands are now
supported by the Psychiatry Liaison service, based within each of
the hospitals. Over the winter 2019/20 the service’ activity
increased from 1,520 contacts on average per month to 1,927.
During the first month following COVID-19 lockdown (April 2020)

Page 86

the total activity was at its lowest, even when compared to the
same period last year. The following two months (May - June
2020) saw activity recover and was observed to be higher than in
the same period last year (May – June 2019). In June 2020,
activity peaked and exceeded numbers observed during winter
months.

2.13

In response to phase 1 of the COVID pandemic, the Mental
Health Emergency Assessment Unit was set up a 24 hour
emergency assessment unit, as a temporary measure, with the
aim of reducing the number of people presenting to the Surrey
Emergency Departments. The unit remained in operation from
10th April 2020 to 28th May 2020.In total, 70 referrals were
received over the course of two months (April & May). Requests
for in-patient care have increased as lockdown
phases/messaging eased, from an average of 6 requests per day
to more than 10 requests per day. Mental Health services are
also being ‘wrapped’ around the person by providing mental
health support from an integrated service with GP Practices,
seeing more than 2000 people.

2.14

Paediatric emergency admissions to the Surrey Heartlands
Emergency Departments peaked in 1,841 October 2019. Again
the area experienced the pattern of increased admissions during
the autumn and a significant reduction at the beginning of
Lockdown.

2.15

In relation to Mental Health, the CAMHS ‘Single Point of Access’
referrals fell in March, reaching 294 from 916 in February 2020.
Since the easing of lockdown there has been an increased need
for Children’s crisis assessments following presentations to the
ED – over 100 assessments.

2.16

Increasing seasonal flu vaccination levels is vital in protecting
patients and staff; this also contributes to minimising additional
unnecessary demands on healthcare services during the winter
period. During the Autumn and Winter of 2019/20, the four ICPs
provided flu vaccinations between 68.4% (for East Surrey) and
73.7% (for Guildford and Waverley) to those eligible.

Page 87

2.17

In relation
NHS Trust
Vaccine uptake
to staff flu
2019/20 Target = 75%
(recorded)
2018/19
vaccine
Ashford and St Peters Foundation Trust
75%
uptake, the
Epsom and St Helier University Hospitals NHS Trust
75.1%
table
Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trust
55.8%
provides the
South East Coast Ambulance Service
78.7%
Surrey
and
Boarders
Partnership
NHS
Foundation
Trust
47.6%
percentage
Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust
67.5%
of staff in
each of the
Regional take up
63.2%
Surrey
National take up
70.3%
Heartlands
Trusts. This information is available via Public Health England.

2.18

The Surrey Heartlands Seasonal Urgent care and Escalation
Communications Plan supports targeted messaging out to the
wider community particularly in relation to how the person may
seek help and support without needing to attend ED; messages
are also tailored to each areas system escalation alerting the
public to how busy their local hospital is and have been reviewed
in light of the pandemic to ensure consistency of messaging.

2.19

Surrey Heartlands ICS has developed an Urgent Care Model
which identifies likely demand, capacity, admissions and
discharge rates by week until February 2021. The model uses
historical data to predict non-elective admissions and applies a
range of assumptions depending on the scenario (e.g. 2nd wave,
minimal Covid impact). Various phases are considered, including
the possible impact of decreased admissions due to a 2nd wave
of Covid, the planned return to higher than normal 19/20 levels,
and seasonal activity for Flu and Norovirus. This, along with
national modelling is supporting current planning activity.

2.20

Surge Planning (includes winter 2020/21) - Surrey Heartland ICS
are undertaking a number of programmes of work to continue to
build resilience within our urgent care services and prepare for
extended periods of surge in demand, this includes the winter
period.

3. Governance

3.1

The Surrey Heartlands (SH) main vehicles responsible for the
delivery of urgent care during across the area are the Integrated
Care Partnership (ICP) Local Accident & Emergency Delivery
Boards (LAEDBs) of North West Surrey, East Surrey and
Guildford & Waverley, along with the Surrey Downs System
Resilience Group (SRG) – which links to the Sutton and Kingston

Page 88

Vaccine uptake
(recorded)
2019/20
78.8%
70.1%
79.5%
76.2%
76.0%
75.1%
73.7%
74.3%

ICP LAEDB’s. Through these groups each of the systems put in
place their plans, with some schemes being established across
Surrey Heartlands to ensure that the systems were well prepared
to manage sustained surge pressures.
3.2

Overarching assurance in relation to Urgent Care is provided by
the ICP’s to the Surrey Heartlands Surge and Winter Workstream
Board and onward to the Recovery Board with the strategic
Surrey Heartlands work plan complementing and supporting local
delivery. Two additional Boards have been formed, these are the
‘Seasonal Flu’ Board and the ‘Think 111 First’ Board. These
Boards also work through EPRR (Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response) groups to ensure a cohesive
approach.

4. Recommendations:
4.1

The Committee is requested to note the preparations for winter
2020/21 set out in this paper.
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Report contact: Karen Thorburn,
Director of Performance,
Surrey Heartlands ICS
Contact details: email: Karen.Thorburn@nhs.net

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

FINAL 30.09.2020

Surrey Heartlands ICS
Winter Review
2019/20

Date: September 2020
Version: FINAL

Page 1 of 45

Page 91

FINAL 30.09.2020

Contents
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 3
Section A – Winter / Spring Review 2019/20 ................................................................................... 4
2. Performance of the four-hour quality care indicator ................................................................ 4
3. Assessment of 2019-20 Winter Pressures .................................................................................. 5
4. Demand and Capacity – Attendances ......................................................................................... 7
5. Ambulance Attendances and Handover to ED staff ................................................................... 9
6. Ambulance Response Times ..................................................................................................... 12
7. Ambulance Diverts .................................................................................................................... 15
8. Demand and Capacity – Non elective admissions.................................................................... 17
9. Demand and Capacity - Acute Hospital Bed Occupancy .......................................................... 18
10. Extended lengths of stay, over 21 days .................................................................................... 19
11. Support on Discharge ................................................................................................................ 20
12. Patient Transport Services (PTS)............................................................................................... 23
13. Community Response – NHS 111 and the Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) ........................ 23
14. Community Response – Primary Care ...................................................................................... 24
15. Community Response – Community Hospitals ........................................................................ 26
16. Community video consultations ............................................................................................... 26
17. Enhancing Health in Care Homes .............................................................................................. 27
18. Surrey Heartlands Mental Health Services .............................................................................. 30
19. Children’s Service ...................................................................................................................... 33
Section B – Surrey Heartlands Flu Vaccination Programme .......................................................... 36
20. Influenza Vaccinations .............................................................................................................. 36
21. Staff Influenza Vaccination ....................................................................................................... 38
22. Pneumococcal Vaccination ....................................................................................................... 39
Section C – Surge and Escalation Planning 2020/21 (Inc. Seasonal Variation – Winter) .............. 40
23. Surge and escalation planning .................................................................................................. 40
24. Covid-19 capacity constraints ................................................................................................... 42
25. Impact on Elective services ....................................................................................................... 43
Section D– Assurance, Communications and Governance ............................................................ 43
26. Assurance .................................................................................................................................. 43
27. EU Exit ........................................................................................................................................ 44
28. Surrey Heartlands Communications Plan ................................................................................. 44
29. System Restoration, Recovery and Reform Governance ......................................................... 45

Page 2 of 45

Page 92

FINAL 30.09.2020

1. Introduction
1.1 Surrey Heartlands ICS serves 850,000 people within the areas of East Surrey,
Guildford and Waverley, North West Surrey and Surrey Downs and accounts for
around three quarters of the overall Surrey population. The quality of primary care
services in Surrey Heartlands is consistently high with only a handful of GP Practices
needing to focus on local
improvement following their
CQC inspection. PCNs are
rapidly developing and are
actively implementing all
elements of the new GP
contract. The three of the four
acute hospitals operating in
Surrey Heartlands ICS are all
rated ‘Good’ by CQC and one is
rated ‘Outstanding’. The
mental health trust is rated
‘Good’.
1.2 Surrey Heartlands shares many of the same challenges as other areas in the UK – an
ageing population, increasing demand on services for vulnerable children and the
significant pressure on public finances.
1.3 This report sets out an outline of the impact of 2019/20 winter pressures, along with
the whole system measures put in place which provide mitigation and promote
resilience throughout the upcoming winter season 2020/21.
Specific reference has been made to the following: 

Monthly performance data against the ‘95% of attendees cleared within 4
hours’ target for each Surrey Acute Trust for 17/18, 18/19, 19/20 (winters
and summers – to spring 2020).



An assessment of the probable factors (for example: additional pressures on
the Emergency Department (ED) and ambulances) which lead to additional
pressures on the system, providing assurances that there is advanced
planning across the whole system to identify concerns and overcome issues.



Details on the scale and effectiveness of capacity mapping locally and
whether information is being effectively shared across the local health and
care system.



Details on how Acute Trusts and the wider system is implementing
improvements that will be effective in increasing performance this coming
winter in the following areas:
a. Public Health: ‘flu’ jabs

Page 3 of 45

Page 93

FINAL 30.09.2020
b. Reducing attendance at ED
c. Integrated Adults and Health: effective working to facilitate patient
discharge and therefore reducing delayed discharges.


Impact of Covid (in relation to Urgent Care) and the lockdown during Quarter
1, 2020/21.

Section A – Winter / Spring Review 2019/20
2. Performance of the four-hour quality care indicator
2.1 The following information describes the year on year performance from June 2018
to June 2020. Meeting of the four-hour quality care standard has, for each of the
four Acute hospitals within Surrey, continued to be a challenge over the 2019/20
winter period; the overall performance in each Acute hospital improved with the
introduction of lock down on 23rd March 2020, when attendance reduced
significantly. Whilst the lack of attendances raised concerns that people were not
accessing healthcare when they required medical intervention; the improvement in
performance does emphasize the correlation between high attendances and
reduced performance.
2.2 Attendances are grouped into various ‘Types’;  Type 1 is attendance to an A&E department with a consultant led 24-hour
service, full resuscitation facilities and designated accommodation for the
reception of accident and emergency patients.
 Type 2 is attendance to an A&E department with a consultant led single
specialty accident and emergency service (e.g. ophthalmology, dental) and
with designated accommodation for the reception of patients.
 Type 3 and Type 4 are usually grouped together as this is attendance to an
urgent treatment centre (UTC); minor injury units (MIUs) or Walk-in Centres
(WiCs).

Statistical Process Control
Surrey Heartlands Integrated Care System - NHS Consitutional Standards
Select Commissioner/Provider

Select Measure

4 Hour Performance All Types: SH ICS
100.0%

95.0%

90.0%

85.0%

80.0%

75.0%

70.0%

Performance

Measure
4 Hour Performance All Types

Target

Target
95.0%

Process Limit

Average

Jun-20
94.2%

Special Cause - Concern

COVID - 19
- Lock down introduced on 23rd March 2020
- Communities encouraged to attend ED if they had
an emergency on 25 April 2020
- Lockdown beings to be lifted on 23 June 2020

Page 4 of 45

Page 94

Special Cause - Improvement

Variation
Special cause variation improvement (indicator
where high is good).

FINAL 30.09.2020

2.3 The graph above provides data from June 2018 to June 2020 for the combined
performance for Surrey Heartlands: this includes Ashford and St Peters NHS
Foundation Trust (ASPH); Royal Surrey Foundation Trust (RSFT); and the Sussex and
Surrey Hospital (SaSH).

3. Assessment of 2019-20 Winter Pressures
3.1 When considering last winter (2019/20) in more detail; the activity analysis
demonstrates that whilst the investment into winter 2019/20 resulted in the ED 4hour type 1 performance per hospital being on or above the national NHSE average
at 75%; the systems operated below the required 95% target throughout the winter
period. Recovery of this position was fully achieved during Lockdown; however, as
attendances and the impact of social distancing requirements within the Acutes and
wider health system come into effect; performance once again starts to dip.
3.2 The following graphs show the individual hospitals performance – this includes
attendances by residents who do not live in the Surrey Heartlands area and includes
all types (Type 1 to 4 as described above). The greatest level of consistently good
performance was experienced at SaSH.

Acute Footprint: 4 Hour Performance All Types: ASPH
100.0%
90.0%
80.0%

Performance

Target

Process Limit

Average

Special Cause - Concern

Special Cause - Improvement

Jun-20

May-20

Apr-20

Mar-20

Jan-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Nov-19

Oct-19

Sep-19

Aug-19

Jul-19

Jun-19

Apr-19

May-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Jan-19

Dec-18

Nov-18

Oct-18

Sep-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

70.0%

Acute Footprint: 4 Hour Performance All Types: ESTH

Performance

Target

Process Limit

Average

Special Cause - Concern

Special Cause - Improvement

Page 5 of 45

Page 95

Jun-20

May-20

Apr-20

Mar-20

Feb-20

Jan-20

Dec-19

Nov-19

Oct-19

Sep-19

Aug-19

Jul-19

Jun-19

May-19

Apr-19

Mar-19

Feb-19

Jan-19

Dec-18

Nov-18

Oct-18

Sep-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

100.0%
95.0%
90.0%
85.0%
80.0%
75.0%
70.0%

FINAL 30.09.2020

Acute Footprint: 4 Hour Performance All Types: RSFT

Special Cause - Improvement

Mar-20

Jun-20

Special Cause - Concern

Jun-20

Average

May-20

Process Limit

May-20

Target

Apr-20

Performance

Apr-20

Jan-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Oct-19

Nov-19

Sep-19

Aug-19

Jul-19

Jun-19

May-19

Apr-19

Mar-19

Feb-19

Jan-19

Dec-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Sep-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

100.0%
95.0%
90.0%
85.0%
80.0%
75.0%
70.0%

Acute Footprint: 4 Hour Performance All Types: SASH

Performance

Target

Process Limit

Average

Special Cause - Concern

Special Cause - Improvement

Mar-20

Jan-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Oct-19

Nov-19

Sep-19

Aug-19

Jul-19

Jun-19

May-19

Apr-19

Mar-19

Feb-19

Jan-19

Dec-18

Oct-18

Nov-18

Sep-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

100.0%
95.0%
90.0%
85.0%
80.0%
75.0%
70.0%

3.3 One of the key drivers of the improvement in the 4 hour performance indicator
during quarter 1 2020/21 was the reduction in attendances to ED. All ED attendances
reduced significantly at the commencement of the first wave of COVID to levels of
all-time low volumes (i.e. special cause variation).
3.4 The table below demonstrates that all four Acute hospitals had more challenged
performance that the previous year (2018/19); this winter all the Acute hospitals
performance was either in line with or above the NHSE national average from
November 2019 to March 2020.

Provider
ASPH
ESTH
RSFT
SASH
NHSE

A&E 4 Hour Performance (Type 1)
Nov-18 to Mar-19
Nov-19 to Mar-20
Performance
Variance to NHSE
Performance
Variance to NHSE
76%
-2%
75%
-0%
86%
+8%
80%
+5%
85%
+7%
81%
+6%
88%
+10%
84%
+9%
78%
75%

Page 6 of 45

Page 96

FINAL 30.09.2020

4. Demand and Capacity – Attendances
4.1 During the period from April 2019 to March 2020, the general trend has been one of
growth in relation to attendances, with slight reductions experienced in May and
June 2019; along with a very slight reduction in January 2020. The information below
represents the numbers of Surrey Heartlands residents that have attended the
Acutes Hospitals and clearly describes how ED type 1 attendances markedly reduced
in March 2020 as lockdown was introduced.

ED Attendances (Type 1): Surrey Heartlands CCG
30000
25000
20000
15000
10000
5000
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Fy-2017/18

Aug

Sep

Fy-2018/19

Oct

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

4.2 The graph above is complemented by the actual type 1 attendance figures below
(table A) and the percentage variation between years 2018/19 and 2019/20 (table
B). The numbers described demonstrates a +0.5% growth when comparing 2018/19
to 2019/20; this is slightly below the national growth of +0.9%.

Table A
SH CCG

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

2017/18

23067

25207

24029

24650

23228

24042

25252

24592

24685

23345

22186

25487

2018/19
2019/20

23976
24937

26066
25977

25086
24986

25883
26513

23632
25026

23860
25373

24916
25889

24851
26014

24593
26055

25635
25483

23276
24024

26064
18997

2020/21

12490

16139

Table B
SH CCG
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
2018/19
23976
26066
25086
25883
23632
2019/20
24937
25977
24986
26513
25026
Growth
+4.0%
-0.3%
-0.4%
+2.4%
+5.9%
Nat. Growth
+6.9%
+1.2%
+2.2%
+4.0%
+5.9%
Data Source: NHSE Joint Activity Report, dated 9th July 2020

Sep
23860
25373
+6.3%
+5.7%

Oct
24916
25889
+3.9%
+4.3%

Page 7 of 45

Page 97

Nov
24851
26014
+4.7%
+4.7%

Dec
24593
26055
+5.9%
+5.6%

Jan
25635
25483
-0.6%
-0.7%

Feb
23276
24024
+3.2%
+0.3%

Mar
26064
18997
-27.1%
-26.8%

Total
297838
299274
+0.5%
+0.9%

FINAL 30.09.2020
4.3 When focusing on the winter months, traditionally the busiest period, the overall
attendance figures (all types) rise to +9.4% when comparing November to March
2018/19 to 2019/20. The greatest monthly growth (when compared to the same
period in 2018) was in December at +20.4%. Lockdown was announced on 23rd
March 2020, with attendances falling dramatically, leading to -21.9% when
compared to March 2019.

ED Attendances (All Types): Surrey Heartlands CCG
45000
35000
25000
15000
5000
Nov

Dec

Jan

Fy-2017/18

Table C – All types
SH CCG
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
% Var

Nov
32409
33080
39483
+19.4%

Fy-2018/19

Dec
33305
33093
39846
+20.4%

Feb

Mar

Fy-2019/20

Jan
31966
33562
39145
+16.6%

Feb
29700
31808
36467
+14.6%

Mar
34343
35200
27487
-21.9%

Winter
161723
166743
182428
+9.4%

NB: % Variance is 2019/20 vs 2018/19.

4.4 Since the first wave of COVID, demand on ED has partially returned to previous
levels. However, available space in the Emergency Departments has reduced as a
result of social distancing interventions. This has had an impact on queuing systems,
waiting areas and flow through to the main hospitals.
4.5 During the first wave of COVID, fewer people with mental health problem presented
to ED. These levels have gradually increased as restrictions have lifted and returned
to Pre-Covid levels. The Acute Hospital based Psychiatric Liaison Services make
approximately 900-1100 contacts each month. Capacity has remained consistent
throughout, with the Psychiatric Liaison services supporting all ED referrals within 60
minutes.

Page 8 of 45

Page 98

FINAL 30.09.2020

5. Ambulance Attendances and Handover to ED staff
5.1 In respect of Ambulances attendances to ED, the graph below compares 2017/18,
2018/19, 2019/20 and includes the first quarter of 2020/21.

SECAmb Ambulance Handovers: ASPH + ESTH + RSFT + SASH
10000
8000
6000
4000
2000
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Fy-2017/18

Sep

Fy-2018/19

Oct

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table D

Handovers
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
2017/18
7559
8234
7672
7990
7784
7343
7915
2018/19
7467
7648
7326
7582
7565
7218
7824
2019/20
7835
7884
7641
7994
7959
7612
8485
2020/21
6379
7096
7302
Data Source: SCW CSU SECAmb 999 Activity and Performance Reports

Nov
7911
7852
8489

Dec
8288
8191
8714

Jan
8068
8281
8588

Feb
7264
7159
8037

5.2 When focusing on the winter months (below), again traditionally the busiest period,
the overall ambulance attendance figures rise to +5.3% when comparing November
to March 2018/19 to 2019/20. The greatest monthly growth (when compared to the
same period in 2019) was in February at +12.3%. Lockdown was announced on 23rd
March 2020, with attendances starting to fall dramatically, leading to -3.1% when
compared to March 2019.

SECAmb Ambulance Handovers: ASPH + ESTH +
RSFT + SASH
10000
8000
6000
4000
2000
0
Nov

Dec

Fy-2017/18

Jan
Fy-2018/19

Page 9 of 45

Page 99

Feb
Fy-2019/20

Mar

Mar
7657
7902
7657

FINAL 30.09.2020

Table E

Handovers
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
% Var
NB: % Variance is 2019/20 vs 2018/19.

Nov
7911
7852
8489
+8.1%

Dec
8288
8191
8714
+6.4%

Jan
8068
8281
8588
+3.7%

Feb
7264
7159
8037
+12.3%

Mar
7657
7902
7657
-3.1%

Winter
39188
39385
41485
+5.3%

5.3 The figures below describe ambulance handovers achieved within 15 minutes of
arrival to the Emergency Department; ambulance handovers have seen an overall
improvement, particularly during the winter months from December 2019 to
February 2020 when compared to 2018/19. This improvement is against a backdrop
of increased ambulance attendances to ED for the same period (please see above).

% SECAmb Ambulance Handovers <15 Minutes: ASPH +
ESTH + RSFT + SASH
50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%
10.0%
0.0%
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Fy-2017/18

Aug

Sep

Fy-2018/19

Oct

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table F

% <15
Minutes
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
Jan
Feb
2017/18
32.2% 27.8% 26.1% 25.4% 23.2% 30.8% 27.5% 24.5% 20.4% 20.3% 19.0%
2018/19
34.3% 41.1% 38.2% 37.1% 44.7% 44.8% 43.2% 41.7% 33.6% 28.2% 33.0%
2019/20
35.1% 38.1% 36.6% 38.3% 37.8% 35.3% 31.6% 36.8% 35.4% 33.1% 34.2%
2020/21
30.6% 40.2% 43.6%
Data Source: SCW CSU SECAmb 999 Activity and Performance
Reports
5.4 Reduced ambulance handover times provide a very real benefit to the patient and
the system as patients are able to be seen by the ED staff quicker, with the
ambulance crew being able to leave the hospital faster and respond to the next call.
Whilst both the ambulance service and all the Acute hospitals continue to strive to
increase numbers of handovers within 15 minutes; the number of handovers within
30 minutes are also improving – a proportion of these handovers will have just
missed the 15-minute target being recorded at 16 or 17 minutes.

Page 10 of 45

Page 100

Mar
25.3%
38.6%
31.5%

FINAL 30.09.2020

% SECAmb Ambulance Handovers <30 Minutes: ASPH + ESTH +
RSFT + SASH
100.0%
90.0%
80.0%
70.0%
60.0%
50.0%
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Fy-2017/18

Aug

Sep

Oct

Fy-2018/19

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table G

% <30
Minutes
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21

Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec
Jan
Feb
Mar
88.7% 86.6% 87.6% 86.4% 84.7% 86.5% 84.6% 84.4% 80.1% 80.2% 78.2% 82.7%
87.5% 92.9% 90.5% 89.6% 90.8% 91.4% 90.0% 90.1% 85.3% 79.3% 86.6% 89.7%
89.2% 90.7% 91.5% 92.0% 89.3% 90.4% 88.0% 89.8% 88.9% 86.3% 85.7% 89.9%
93.4% 96.0% 96.5%
Data Source: SCW CSU SECAmb 999 Activity and Performance Reports
5.5 Handover waiting times of over 60 minutes are also closely monitored, as handovers
within 15 and 30 minutes improve; the number of patients waiting over an hour has
reduced. From April to July 2020 the number of people recorded with a wait time of
over 60 minutes, across Surrey Heartlands, has consistantly been less than 10.

SECAmb Ambulance Handovers >60 Minutes: ASPH + ESTH + RSFT + SASH
350
300
250
200
150
100

50
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug
Fy-2017/18

Sep
Fy-2018/19

Oct
Fy-2019/20

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table H

Handovers >60 Mins
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
2017/18
72
123
98
88
112
2018/19
122
15
57
112
90
2019/20
87
48
29
22
62
2020/21
1
4
8
5
Data Source: SCW CSU SECAmb 999 Activity and Performance Reports

Sep
104
83
57

Page 11 of 45

Page 101

Oct
109
138
72

Nov
116
64
85

Dec
237
230
103

Jan
273
344
157

Feb
258
135
151

Mar
200
66
28

FINAL 30.09.2020
5.6 These improved figures are as a result of a great deal focused work across all the
Emergency Departments and the ambulance service resulting in improved
communication, improved handover process’ and has fostered excellent joint
working – which is vital during periods of increased pressure within the NHS.

6. Ambulance Response Times
6.1 In 2017, Ambulance Trusts around the country incorporated new response time
measures into their reporting, this change followed the largest clinical ambulance
trials in the world. The main purpose of the new standards was to ensure that the
sickest patients get the fastest response and that all patients get the right response,
first time.
6.2 Illustrated below are the previous standards and current standards:

6.3 There are 4 levels of response:
 Category 1: This is a 7-minute response with examples including cardiac
arrest, anaphylaxis, life-threatening asthma, obstetric emergency, airway
compromise and cardiovascular collapse (including septic shock).
 Category 2: This is an 18-minute response with examples including patients
with sepsis, myocardial infarction, CVA, acute abdomen, acute ischaemic
limb, acute pancreatitis, major gastrointestinal haemorrhage and overdose
requiring immediate treatment.
 Category 3: This is an 120 minute response for patients who require urgent
admission to hospital. Examples in this category may be patients who
require urgent investigations to inform ongoing care such as CT, MRI,
Ultrasound or who need an urgent assessment by a specialist. Mental health
emergency admissions and patients with respiratory conditions, or
suspected fractures (not due to major trauma).
 Category 4: This is an 180 min response for all other patients who do not fit
the above definitions and require admission to hospital by ambulance for
ongoing care, but do not need to be managed as an emergency. Examples in
Page 12 of 45

Page 102

FINAL 30.09.2020
this category may be patients being admitted directly under specialty teams,
as well as those being transported to emergency departments for further
investigation and who do not require emergency investigation or treatment
immediately upon arrival.
6.4 Performance against the required standards: SECAmb are commissioned to provide
‘999’ services across the Kent, Surrey and Sussex. The graphs below outline
performance from December 2019 to June 2020. Please note that the combined
figures below cover all three counties.

6.5 The graphs above show that when taking an average response time – between
December 2019 to mid-May 2020 the ambulance service did not meet the 7 - minute
target; however, response times do remain under 8 minutes. When considered on
the 90% percentile – Cat 1 response times are under the required target.
6.6 The graphs below describe the Cat 2 response times; the target (as an average) of
being on scene within 18 minutes was not being met from December 2019 to March
2020, however since April 2020 average response times have improved. When
considering the 90% percentile; the ambulance service has largely met the target of
response within a maximum of 40 minutes.

6.7 Category 3 and 4 is measured as a 90% percentile; with Cat 3 requiring a response in
120 minutes and Cat 4 in 180 minutes – as depicted in the graphs below, the
ambulance service has experienced difficulty in meeting these targets during the
period from December 2019 to mid-April 2020; and again, in June 2020 for Cat 4.
The use of the 90% percentile target system is to assist in measuring performance
across all ambulance trusts.
Page 13 of 45

Page 103

FINAL 30.09.2020

6.8 Ambulance services across the country continue to face challenges which directly
impacts their performance, for example: 

Staff Sickness: Over the last 6-7 months, ambulance providers have been
challenged with an increase in short term and long-term
sickness. Performance continues to be impacted by reduced availability of
front-line staff due to several factors including numbers of staff in selfisolation and staff with Covid-19 symptoms, coupled with an increase in nonCovid-19 related sickness.



Workforce- The ambulance service has a robust recruitment plan and are on
target against their agreed trajectory, the ‘999’ service is seeing an increase
in activity and in order to mitigate the impact on performance, the trust are
offering overtime shifts and increasing the private ambulance provider
provision. There is an associated challenge around recruitment of
Paramedics and workforce skill mix.



Resourcing: Fit testing for frontline staff on all types of disposable FFP3
masks supplied continues to improve resilience and ensure staff and patient
safety are not compromised. The Trust has secured a supply of powered
hoods for those who cannot be fit tested successfully.



Long waits: Governance processes have been embedded which act as a
safety net, reviewing all incidents that result in ‘long waits’. These processes
identify any immediate clinical need in the live environment that allows
prioritisation of the sickest patients. Additionally, they act to capture root
cause, any harm or negative impact to the patient experience. The output of
these processes is used to inform quality improvement, especially the
triangulation of information with system partners whereby the long wait
may not be within the services control and require end to end review.



Performance Improvement Plan: The service also has a dedicated
performance improvement plan in place. This multi-disciplinary plan and its

Page 14 of 45

Page 104

FINAL 30.09.2020
outputs are being monitored by an internal Organisational Response
Management Group. The plan looks to address the lost hours, those staff
returning to work following a period of shielding, incentivising key shifts and
sickness management.

7. Ambulance Diverts
7.1 Ambulance staff are not able to operate an informal diversion scheme. SECAmb are
working with partners across the wider region (Kent, Sussex and Surrey) to reduce
the number of diverts taking place.
7.2 Figures regarding diverts have routinely been recorded for winter 2019/20.
7.3 The priority for all partners is to maintain patient safety with all partners committed
to working together to achieve this throughout periods of unexpected /surges in
demand.
7.4 Ambulance diversion to another Acute Hospitals Emergency department (ED) is a
strategy which is only ever deployed when the hospital requesting a divert is under
very intense pressure. When a hospital invokes diversion status, incoming
ambulances are directed to other facilities.
7.5 In the short term, ambulance diversion provides ‘breathing room’ to the ED that
requests the diversion, supporting the department to de-escalate and return to
greater optimal functioning as staff assess and treat the overflow of patients. Diverts
are only requested in extreme circumstances and for short periods, generally two
hours. This is because should a divert arrangement continue for an extended period,
it can in turn increase the receiving hospitals pressures.
7.6 The reasons for a divert request may include: 




an essential piece of equipment is broken
flooding or other infrastructure issues challenge bed capacity
staffing is unable to meet demand / manage patients safely
higher numbers than anticipated arriving in one surge of demand

In each case the Acute Trusts will have worked through their internal escalation
plans and actions before a divert of ambulance borne patients is considered.
7.7 The main 2 impacts are: 1) to patients as this may affect the ability of the service to be able to respond
to the next call coming in from the community.
2) to the ambulance service as, during a divert, resources are displaced across
the system.
7.8 The main reason for avoiding diverts is that it can increase travel time for the patient
should they need to be transported longer distances to receive necessary treatment;
(even when a divert is in place, patients in the most urgent need of hospital facilities
will still be conveyed to the nearest Acute hospital). This increased travel time can
Page 15 of 45

Page 105

FINAL 30.09.2020
reduce the availability of ambulances for new calls for other patients awaiting
emergency medical service. Importantly, it may also mean that families and friends
may have longer travel distances when visiting with the patient being admitted to a
hospital slightly out of area.
7.9 During the seven months from December 2019 to June 2020, there were 19 diverts
requested, resulting in 4 patients being diverted. None of the border diverts resulted
in patients being transported.
Month

Requesting
Hospital
December SaSH
2019

Type of Divert

Receiving Hospital
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust

SaSH

Border Divert for paediatric
patients on a treat and transfer
basis
Border Divert for paediatric
patients only on a treat and
transfer basis
Border Divert for paediatric
patients only on a treat and
transfer basis
Border Divert for paediatric
(Treat and Transfer basis) and
adult patients
Border Divert for paediatric
(Treat and Transfer basis) and
adult patients
Border Divert for adults

SaSH

Border Divert for adults

SaSH

Border Divert for adults

SaSH

SaSH

Border Divert for adults to
Ashford and St Peters
Full Specialist Divert for Trauma
/Head injury and stroke – due to
planned electrical outage in the
imaging department.
Border Divert

SaSH

Border Divert

SaSH

Maternity divert to various
hospitals on a case by case basis

ASPH

Full Specialist Divert for PPCI

ASPH

Border Divert for Adults

ASPH

Full Divert (all non ASHICE)

SaSH

Border Divert for Adult

SaSH

SaSH

SaSH

SaSH

ASPH

January
2020

February
2020
Page 16 of 45

Page 106

Number of Patients
Diverted
0 patients diverted

Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust

0 patients diverted

Ashford and St
Peters Hospital

0 patients diverted

Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust

0 patients diverted

Ashford and St
Peters Hospital

0 patients diverted

Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Ashford and St
Peters Hospital
Epsom General:
Royal Surrey FT
and Frimley

0 patients diverted

Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Epsom General
Hospital
ASPH; Epsom
General: Royal
Surrey FT and
Frimley
St Georges
Hospital London
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey
Foundation Trust

0 patients diverted

0 patients diverted
0 patients diverted
0 patients diverted
0 patients diverted

0 patients diverted
0 patients diverted

0 patients diverted
0 patients diverted
4 patients diverted
0 patients diverted

FINAL 30.09.2020
March
2020

SaSH

Maternity divert to various
hospitals on a case by case basis

April

No requests for diverts received
by SECAmb
No requests for diverts received
by SECAmb
Full Specialist Divert for Trauma
/Head injury and stroke – due to
planned electrical outage in the
imaging department.

May
June 2020

ASPH

ASPH; Epsom
General: Royal
Surrey FT and
Frimley
-

0 patients diverted

-

-

Frimley General
Hospital

0 patients diverted

-

TOTAL Number of
Diverted Patients

4

8. Demand and Capacity – Non elective admissions
8.1 Surrey Heartlands experienced an overall increase in non-elective (NEL) admissions,
with a peak during April and May 2019; the rest of the year, to November 2019,
continued to experience an increase in non-elective spells. However, numbers of
admission markedly reduce in March, April and May 2020, during wave 1 of the
pandemic.

Non Elective Spells: Surrey Heartlands CCG
15000
10000
5000
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Fy-2017/18

Aug

Sep

Fy-2018/19

Oct

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table I

SH CCG
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21

Apr
7758
7793
9001
5167

May
8591
8388
9536
6326

Jun
8200
8166
8405

Jul
8277
8286
8686

Aug
8098
8091
8303

Sep
8004
8016
8273

Page 17 of 45

Page 107

Oct
8424
8563
8892

Nov
8506
8907
8954

Dec
8585
8740
8651

Jan
8726
8945
8658

Feb
7890
8117
8025

Mar
8782
9146
7108

FINAL 30.09.2020
8.2 The graph to the right and the
table below provides greater
detail in respect of non –
elective admissions from
November 2019 to March
2020.

Non Elective Spells: Surrey Heartlands CCG
12000
10000
8000
6000
4000
2000
0
Nov

Dec

Fy-2017/18

Jan

Feb

Fy-2018/19

Mar

Fy-2019/20

Table J

SH CCG
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
% Var

Nov
8506
8907
8954
+0.5%

Dec
8585
8740
8651
-1.0%

Jan
8726
8945
8658
-3.2%

Feb
7890
8117
8025
-1.1%

Mar
8782
9146
7108
-22.3%

Winter
42489
43855
41396
-5.6%

NB: % Variance is 2019/20 vs 2018/19.

8.3 November 2019 saw a +0.5% increase, however admissions across Surrey
Heartlands, when viewed collectively, started to fall from December 2019 (at -1.0),
this was primarily due to enhanced services within the community. The most
significantly reduction is in March 2020 at – 22.3% due to the pandemic.

9. Demand and Capacity - Acute Hospital Bed Occupancy
9.1 As described above Surrey Heartlands experienced an increase in non-elective (NEL)
admissions for the majority of the year 2019/20. The graph below also illustrates
these pressures; the first graph depicts beds occupied (per quarter) from Quarter 4
in 2016/17 to quarter 4 2019/20; with a spike in bed occupancy each winter.

Beds Occupied against Average Occupancy Rate (Bed Open Overnight)
Beds Occupied

Average Occupancy Rate

88.00%
87.00%
86.00%
85.00%
84.00%
83.00%
82.00%
81.00%
80.00%
79.00%
78.00%

2,300

Beds Occupied

2,250
2,200

2,150
2,100
2,050
2,000

Quarter

Page 18 of 45

Page 108

FINAL 30.09.2020
9.2 This second graph demonstrates the year on year increase in bed occupancy from
2016/17 to 2019/20; the graph describes how there was a steep rise in bed
occupancy from 2016/17 to 2017/18; decreasing slightly during 2018/2019 with a
further rise experienced in 2019/20. This graph does not show 2020 quarter 1 –
which saw a significant increase in bed availability as part of the response to the
COVID – 19 pandemic.

Beds Occupied against Average Occupancy Rate (Bed Open Overnight)
8800
8780
8760
8740
8720
8700
8680
8660
8640
8620
8600
8580
Bed occupied
Average Occupancy Rate

84.00%
83.50%
83.00%
82.50%

82.00%
81.50%
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

8661

8760

8736

8784

82.10%

83.84%

83.53%

83.45%

81.00%

10. Extended lengths of stay, over 21 days
10.1 During Winter 2019/20 (November to March) Surrey Heartlands has had an overall
increase of +3.2% in patient’s stays of over 21 days when compared to last year.

Non Elective 21+ LOS Spells: Surrey Heartlands
CCG
800
600
400
200
0
Nov

Dec

Jan

Fy-2017/18

Table K - SH CCG

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
% Var

Fy-2018/19

Nov
511
476
482
+1.3%

Dec
528
469
454
-3.2%

NB: % Variance is 2019/20 vs 2018/19.

Page 19 of 45

Page 109

Feb

Mar

Fy-2019/20

Jan
573
517
507
-1.9%

Feb
464
477
503
+5.5%

Mar
530
499
570
+14.2%

Winter
2606
2438
2516
+3.2%

FINAL 30.09.2020
10.2 However, when considering the figures across a 12 month period (April 2019 to
March 2020) Surrey Heartlands has had an overall increase in patient’s stays of over
21 days when compared to last year. Whilst numbers were higher in March 2020
than in 2017/18; the data below shows the response from all agencies, patients,
families and communities to the government’s request in the same month - March
2020 - to create as many available beds as possible in order to respond the
pandemic; with numbers falling dramatically in April and May 2020.

Non Elective 21+ LOS Spells: Surrey Heartlands CCG
800
600
400
200
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Fy-2017/18

Sep

Fy-2018/19

Oct

Nov

Fy-2019/20

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Fy-2020/21

Table L
SH CCG

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

2017/18

513

555

526

495

482

482

525

511

528

573

464

530

2018/19

475

468

489

449

486

475

505

476

469

517

477

499

2019/20

486

526

429

513

441

452

497

482

454

507

503

570

2020/21

266

195

11. Support on Discharge
11.1 Support on discharge from hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated
the ambitions of the High Impact Change model, which was developed nationally
with the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services. Further focus on discharge
came with the publication of the COVID – 19 Hospital Discharge Service
Requirements on 19th March 2020.
11.2 This document set out the requirements for hospital discharge, with an
implementation date of Thursday 19th March 2020. In order to ensure bed
availability for patients needing to be admitted into hospital; the guidance was clear
in that patients should not be staying in hospital unless the person clinically required
hospital-based care.
11.3 The guidance built on the aims and objectives of the High Impact Changes and due
to the urgency of the situation advised that all acute and community hospitals
should discharge all patients as soon as the person was clinically well enough to
leave the hospital. The expectation is that patients ready to leave the hospital would
transfer from the ward to a designated discharge area within one hour of the
Page 20 of 45

Page 110

FINAL 30.09.2020
decision being made and then fully discharged from hospital, within a total of 3
hours. This guidance remains in place.
11.4 The ambition was to free up at least 15,000 beds nationally (England) by Friday 27th
March 2020, with discharge flows maintained after that. The graphs above illustrate
local adherence to this guidance with decreased bed occupancy from the end of
March 2020.
11.5 The main areas of focus throughout the winter 2019/20 and spring 2020 were:

Discharge to Assess - For patients leaving hospital and requiring further
support, arrangements were put in place to provide the assessment and
organisation of ongoing care to be undertaken, preferably, in the persons
own home.
 For patients whose needs were too great to return to their own home
suitable alternative arrangements were provided e.g. admission to the
Community Hospital or local Care Home, with the aim of improving
the person independence (whenever able to do so) and with the
continued aim of supporting the person to return home. Should the
person require long term residential or nursing home care – then
support was offered to the person and their families to make the longterm choice as to where the person wished to reside.




Early discharge planning - All patients received a clinically led review twice
daily; for patients who no longer needed to be in hospital and were
therefore suitable for discharge; were allocated to a discharge pathway. On
decision of discharge, the patient and their family or carer, and any formal
supported housing workers were informed and kept informed of next steps
(with the patients’ permission).




The main question staff across the Acute and Community Hospitals,
along with all short-term residential arrangements, were challenged to
ask, in relation to discharging patients, was ‘Why not home, why not
today’: keeping the goal of supporting the person to return to their
own home, as soon as they were able, a key priority.

Community hospital discharges were also increased, with delays for
the patient reduced by using the same approach and actions taken in
acute settings. This included a daily clinical review of the plan for
every patient; and all patients provided with an expected date of
discharge (EDD) and fully involved with their discharge planning.

Trusted Assessments - Staff have been trained to further support ‘Trusted
assessments’ for patients in hospital from care homes, so they can return to
their care home promptly. This approach supports all care homes with the
new discharge requirements. Trusted Assessment is when one agency
‘trusts’ another agency to complete an assessment - this agreement is for
pre-agreed access to certain services and is generally used when patients are
transferring back to Residential Care.

Page 21 of 45

Page 111

FINAL 30.09.2020


Multidisciplinary team working – as ‘Discharge to Assess’ developed
throughout the winter and into the spring 2020; the community multidisciplinary teams were strengthened so that many more visits to patients
were undertaken within the persons own home on the day of discharge or
the day after to arrange what support was needed in the home
environment. If care support was required on the day of discharge from
hospital, this was arranged prior to the patient leaving the hospital by a
discharge coordinator. Whenever possible, visits were undertaken ‘virtually’,
particularly during the period of lockdown.



7 day working - Occupational therapy and physiotherapy delivery was
enhanced to provide more robust cover over the 7-day period, with the
positive impact of reducing the length of time a patient needed to remain in
an acute or community hospital environment.



Voluntary / District and Borough Council support – support from volunteers
and the District and Borough across Surrey has been vital during winter
2019/20 and in particular during wave 1 of the pandemic. Volunteers and
the District and Borough council staff have supported the discharge process;
enabling patients to return directly home by providing a wide range of
practical support which includes transport home; equipment e.g. key safes;
along with safety checks and essential food shopping. This high level of joint
working has been much appreciated across both health and social care.



Discharge destinations: The data in the table below shows the discharge
destinations for inpatients leaving Acute and Community Hospitals. The
period reported is from 1st December 2019 - 30th June 2020.
This activity data is for Surrey Heartlands ICS. Please note that, at the time of
compiling this report, RSFT had not submitted their data for June 2020.

Table M
Discharge Provider type

NHS Acute Trusts

Number of discharges - Data source: SUS
Discharge Destination -grouped
Home
Residential / Nursing home care
Patient died
Transferred to another NHS hospital provider e.g.
Community Hospitals
Data quality issue
Transfer to mental health care
Not applicable - patient discharged - however
continued to receive support from the Acute
Transfer to a Non-NHS run hospital
Maternity pathway
End of life care
Return to Prison / secure environment

NHS Acute Trusts Total

Community Hospital

Home
Residential / Nursing home care
NHS other hospital provider
Data quality issue
Transfer to mental health care

Community Hospital Total
Total Surrey for reporting period

Page 22 of 45

Page 112

Total discharges
103,922
3,742
2,282
2,119
251
193
149
123
66
47
28
112,922
2306
110
80
15
3
2,514
115,436

FINAL 30.09.2020

12. Patient Transport Services (PTS)
12.1 Performance in relation to the Surrey Heartlands PTS has been strong and sustained
during the COVID – 19 wave 1 pandemic response; both in operational delivery and
within the contact centre. The PTS have deployed additional resource to support
Surrey calls over the weekends and have been a key partner in the PTS Covid-19 Coordination centre. Weekly assurance calls were held to support the provider and the
wider system.
12.2 The table (table N) below provides an overview of activity during the period from
December 2019 to June 2020. January 2020 was the busiest month, with fewest
delays and a high level of support in the form of additional transport from the main
service, along with Community Transports Busler / Hoppa.

Table N
Number of pick-ups from home address
within agreed timeframe – to OPD

Number of collections from OPD within
agreed timeframe

Delays to discharge due to transport
(number of patients that didn’t meet KPI)

Additional Transport provision provided
via SCAS and Community Transports
Busler / Hoppa

Dec-19
1798

Jan-20
2608

Feb-20
2270

Mar20
1429

Apr-20
502

May20
517

Jun-20
796

Dec-19
2164

Jan-20
2172

Feb-20
2111

Mar20
1816

Apr-20
739

May20
757

Jun-20
1106

Dec-19
264

Dec-19
44

Jan-20
166

Feb-20
344

Jan-20

Feb-20

210

no crew
available

Mar20
293

Mar20
120

Apr-20
127

Apr-20
127

May20
52

May20
136

13. Community Response – NHS 111 and the Clinical Assessment Service (CAS)
13.1 As with the PTS, weekly assurance calls have been undertaken to provide oversight
and support to the NHS 111 provider over the period of the pandemic. As the graph
below describes, both activity and performance has now recovered and is now more
aligned to seasonal expectation. Recruitment is strong across the provider with all
health advisor posts filled.
13.2 Currently 50% of all NHS 111 callers are receiving a clinical contact, meaning calls are
either receiving clinical assessment or are closed through contact with a clinician.

Page 23 of 45

Page 113

Jun-20
52

Jun-20
134

FINAL 30.09.2020

13.3 The table below provides the information above in a numerical format.
Table O
Month Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19
20888 19625 17956

Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20
18397 18624 17012 18656 20126 22782 19109 21234 23782 20615 19835 18243

13.4 The NHS 111 service is required to answer 95% of calls within 60 seconds, the
information below shows, with the increase in demand in the early stages of the
pandemic and lockdown, call answered times also increased markedly when
compared to 2018 / 19.

Table P
Month

Jul-19 Aug-19
73.28% 79.39%

Sep-19
73.79%

Oct-19
80.21%

Nov-19 Dec-19
77.75% 61.71%

Jan-20
57.96%

Feb-20
48.30%

Mar-20
12.00%

Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20
69.03% 81.15% 95.67%

14. Community Response – Primary Care
14.1 General Practice has continued to see face to face appointments where it was safe
and clinically necessary to do so through the establishment of hot/zoned sites.
14.2 The pandemic accelerated the delivery of digital modes of contact for patients
complementing the existing more traditional modes, such as telephone and face to
face. Over 90% of the population have access to a practice website that allows for
self-care, self-referral and to submit an ‘online consulting’ request to the practice
about non-urgent issues.
Page 24 of 45

Page 114

FINAL 30.09.2020
14.3 The response times set in most practices for online services is 48hr (with many
offering a quicker turnaround), and patient feedback from recent Surrey
Healthwatch research has been very positive regarding both the practice websites
and the improved digital access.
14.4 In addition, a recent Surrey Heartlands citizen panel survey from July 2020
highlighted that only 2% of respondents stated they did not want to use any digital
services and nearly 71% saying they had already used one or more digital services
and the remainder indicating that they would be willing to.
14.5 The following chart shows NHS Digital & Virtual appointment activity. In April 2020
the total appointments reduced by ~40% compared to the monthly average of the
previous 12 months.

14.6 The graphs below show in more detail the proportion of Surrey Heartlands practices
that were able to offer online consultations during the winter period from November
2019 to April 2020; please note the sharp increase from 25% in February to 86.8% in
April 2020, this provided vital patient contact during lockdown.

Page 25 of 45

Page 115

FINAL 30.09.2020
14.7 As availability of online consultations increased so did the number of patients
requesting a consultation via the online arrangements. The graph below describes
minimal take up prior to the COVID – 19 pandemic; with requests building from
8,471 in March 2020 to 44,117 in April 2020.

15. Community Response – Community Hospitals
15.1 The information presented below is in relation to the North West Surrey Community
Hospitals and provides an indication in relation to wider ICS community hospital
activity.
15.2 The graph below demonstrates the steep rise in activity that was delivered in March
and April 2020 in support of increasing bed availability within the Acute hospitals
during the height of the first wave of the pandemic.

16. Community video consultations
16.1 Video consultations also increased across the Acute Hospitals, Mental Health service
and the community. From 23rd March 2020 there has been a steady increase in
numbers of video consultations until 7th June 2020, when both community and
mental health service numbers began to level off and decrease. However, the Acute
hospital numbers have continued to grow throughout this period.

Page 26 of 45

Page 116

FINAL 30.09.2020

Data Source: Weekly provider datasets and emails

17. Enhancing Health in Care Homes
17.1 NHS Capacity Tracker: the NHS Capacity Tracker is a web based portal primarily
designed to support minimising delayed transfers of care by enabling Care Homes to
instantly share their live bed state, in turn enabling hospital discharge teams and
other stakeholders to rapidly find available nursing and residential beds. The NHS
Capacity Tracker also provides a function whereby care home and domiciliary
providers can alert the NHS to presenting issues e.g. where increased numbers of
staff have to self-isolate. The provider has complete control over their declarations
and also in how often they update their information in the Portal; however daily
updates are preferred as they reflect the most up to date status possible.

Number of Reporting homes
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

Page 27 of 45

Page 117

17.2 The graph to the left
depicts the rapid
engagement by care home
providers in using the NHS
Capacity Tracker to report
vacancies and issues (when
they arise) Surrey Heartlands
has a total of 370 residential
and nursing homes, of which
350 (as at 1st August 2020)
are regularly reporting via
the tracker. Care homes are
incentivised through the
national Infection Control
grant funding to update the
tracker on a regular basis.

FINAL 30.09.2020
17.3 The graph to the right depicts a
sharp rise in April 2020 of care homes
being identified as a priority for
support, this is largely due to
providers utilising the NHS Capacity
Tracker to flag requests for support to
the NHS and partners – there was
already an identified need prior to 1st
April 2020 in relation to additional
support during COVID-19 wave 1.
However, since the middle of May –
the number of homes identified as
requiring system support has been
steadily reducing.

Homes Identified as a priority for system
support
60
50
40
30
20
10
0
01/04/2020

01/05/2020

01/06/2020

01/07/2020

01/08/2020

17.4 Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Care Leads and the Adult Social Care (ASC)
commissioning team have worked with the National Tracker team to improve data
quality and encourage more frequent reporting. Data is used at local and national
level to understand how effectively any identified outbreaks are being controlled
and the support needed by care homes. COVID reports from the Tracker are
reviewed locally by ICP Care Leads and community matrons. Surrey County Council
creates daily reports from the Tracker, via Local Government Inform, for the ASC
senior leadership team; these reports are also shared with ICP Care Leads. The
Tracker data feeds into Surrey’s Public Health prioritisation dashboard.
17.5 NHS Mail: NHS Mail provides the ability to safely share residents’ data and queries
with doctors, nurses and GPs involved in the persons care and also enables all those
involved to receive more timely responses. It provides a secure email which can also
connect the home to pharmacists, dentists and anyone else in health and care who
also has NHS Mail. This is completed with the all the appropriate permissions from
the resident in
relation to sharing
information. For
those on the
network, NHSmail
can be accessed
from mobile devices
as well as desktops
and includes a full
directory of all
users, as well as
collaboration tools
such as Microsoft
Teams.
17.6 Teams across Surrey Heartlands have been working with individual providers
resulting in an overall Surrey Heartlands NHS mail coverage of 72% (as at 13th July
2020) - which the breakdown for each ICP being depicted above.
Page 28 of 45

Page 118

FINAL 30.09.2020

17.7 Clinical Liaison Support: Residents in care homes can experience difficulties
accessing the right care at the right time. Surrey Heartlands ICS, responding to the
national initiative to improving the clinical input into a residential or nursing home,
has achieved 100% coverage of all care homes: with a GP or clinical lead from the
community health services being identified for each home within the Surrey
Heartlands ICS. The Clinical Lead provides a co-ordinated point of clinical leadership
across primary care and community health services and acts as a point of contact for
issues related to NHS services, including PPE and infection control advice. The
Clinical Liaison also co-ordinate weekly check ins, development of personalised care
planning and access to pharmacy support for residents; however, the Clinical Lead is
not medically responsible for the care of individual residents, that continues to be
the role of a resident’s own GP.
17.8 IPC Training – Surrey Heartlands have put in place a programme of training and
support which is aimed to complement the skills and experience that care homes
already have and to help staff feel more confident that they:
 have established the correct infection control measures that will protect
staff and residents.
 are using Personal Protective Equipment according to national guidance
including the safe “donning and doffing” of that equipment.
 are able to test staff and patients who are experiencing signs of Covid-19.
17.9 A total of 170 training sessions have been provided and as part of the training
sessions, support with testing was offered to the service. This was either testing of
staff and residents or training for staff on how to carry out testing. The aim was to
support care home staff in delivering testing in a safe and effective way throughout
the pandemic, during the recovery phase and any subsequent outbreaks.

17.10 Communications with Care
Homes: In April 2020, Surrey Heartlands
instigated a weekly Adult Care
newsletter, emailed to all care
providers, as a key mechanism to pass
on essential local and national
information to the care sector, with
topics including PPE, Testing, Infection
Control training and supporting staff
and resident wellbeing. The newsletter
is managed and produced on behalf of
Surrey Heartlands by Surrey Care
Association.

Page 29 of 45

Page 119

FINAL 30.09.2020

18. Surrey Heartlands Mental Health Services
18.1 The Psychiatric Liaison service is a team of mental health professionals who have
specific expertise in helping people who may have mental health problems which
can cause complications for their physical healthcare. Each of the Acute Hospitals
across Surrey Heartlands are now supported by the Psychiatric Liaison service, with
teams based within each of the hospitals.
18.2 Over the winter 2019/20 the service’ activity increased from 1,520 contacts on
average per month to 1,927. During the first month following COVID-19 lockdown
(April 2020) the total activity was at its lowest, even when compared to the same
period last year. The following two months (May - June 2020) saw activity recover
and was observed to be higher than in the same period last year (May – June 2019).
In June 2020, activity peaked and exceeded numbers observed during winter
months.
18.3 The activity in May and June was driven by an increase in both follow up
assessments (reviews) and referrals. However, it’s worth noting that the assessment
and referral numbers dropped by 56% in the first month after lockdown (please see
Table Q).

Table Q. Liaison Service activity March 2019 – June 2020.
Covid-19 ->

Apr-19

May-19

Jun-19

Jul-19

Aug-19

Sep-19

Oct-19

Nov-19

Dec-19

Jan-20

Feb-20

Mar-20

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Referrals
Follow up assessments
Total activity (contacts)

Mar-19

Winter 19/20 ->

949
616
1565

943
415
1358

1072
645
1717

951
510
1461

943
466
1409

936
480
1416

959
463
1422

938
622
1560

937
840
1777

817
881
1698

993
1125
2118

1023
1173
2196

800
1017
1817

590
561
1151

934
1021
1955

1045
1180
2225

18.4 After the increased service provision to the Psychiatric Liaison Service, the activity at
Epsom has increased by 28% and was mainly driven by a larger number of
assessments (reviews) being completed. As mental health services become more
visible in the general hospitals; an increase in referrals across the hospital is
experienced; please note that referral rates from ED have remained fairly
consistent. At Epsom General; the Psychiatric Liaison Service hours increased – prior
to this the service closed at 10pm until 8am with patients presenting during these
hours not seeing the liaison service. This increase in hours naturally allowed the
Mental Health services to see this group of patients and explains the 28% increase at
Epsom.
18.5 Over the months with the imposed lockdown, the activity, in relation to the total
number of contacts dropped and continued to remain below the monthly average
until June (please see graph below).

Page 30 of 45

Page 120

FINAL 30.09.2020

Total activity by team March 2019 – June 2020.

Liaison activity - total number of contacts
March 2019 - June 2020

700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

Liaison ESH

Liaison EGH

Liaison RSCH

Liaison FPH

Liaison ASTP

18.6 The number of ED referrals also dropped significantly following lockdown, however
activity recovered in May and June (please see graph - below). The drop down in
numbers was observed across all Liaison teams.

A&E referrals by week
December 2019 - June 2020
250
200
150
100
50
0
01/12 15/12 29/12 12/01 26/01 09/02 23/02 08/03 22/03 05/04 19/04 03/05 17/05 31/05 14/06

Liaison ESH

Liaison EGH

Liaison RSCH

Liaison FPH

Liaison ASPH

18.7 Mental Health Emergency Assessment Unit (MHEAU). In response to phase 1 of the
COVID pandemic, the mental health services set up, as a temporary measure, a 24hour emergency assessment unit with the aim of reducing the number of people
presenting to the Surrey Emergency Departments. The unit remained in operation
from 10th April 2020 to 28th May 2020.
18.8 The MHEAU was set up originally at the Abraham Cowley Unit, St Peters Hospital
site; however, was transferred to Farnham Road in Guildford - with a view that,
when people with MH concerns arrived at the General hospital, they could be rePage 31 of 45

Page 121

FINAL 30.09.2020
directed to the MHEAU; this approach complemented the mental health community
services. People with Mental Health issues followed the over-arching trend of the
general population and didn’t attend the Emergency Department. This led to there
being the lowest number of ED Mental Health referrals ever seen and, in turn, meant
that there were very few people to divert to the MHEAU. As a result, the MHEAU
was underutilised for the vast majority of the time with only approximately 1 - 2
patients arriving there every 24 hours. In total the Assessment unit received 70
referrals over the course of two months (April & May).
18.9 Mental Health Service single point of access: the single point of access (SPA) into
mental health services across Surrey Heartlands has assisted the community, along
with health and care staff, to better navigate the service – resulting in more timely
responses to referrals; and people being able to access the right element of the
service, first time. The graph below shows how activity reduced during lockdown,
and is again increasing to pre-Covid Levels.

18.10 However, Mental Health services experienced an increase in calls from people in
crisis, with staff being redeployed from other services to support the crisis line. The
average talking time increased over this period from an average of 7 minutes to
between 9 and 10 minutes which indicated that people who called the crisis line
were requiring more support and presentations were more complex. In July,
Mental Health Services, received their highest number of calls ever to the service
(4028), when compared to 3526 calls in May and 3509 calls in June 2020.
18.11 The SPA is a critical function within the mental health service and regarded as an
essential service; therefore, members of staff continued to work from the office
base, with increased social distancing. Support to call handlers was provided by
having at least one senior member of the team at the base to assist with decision
making. This has worked well and ensured the safety of people using this element
of the service, along with providing timely responses.

Page 32 of 45

Page 122

FINAL 30.09.2020

18.12 Requests for mental health in-patient care (a useful proxy measure of activity)
have increased from pre-Lockdown levels. Numbers increased as lockdown
phases/messaging eased, increasing from an average of 6 requests per day to more
than 10 requests per day.

18.13 The slide below demonstrates the progress made in wrapping Mental Health
services around the person by providing mental health service from an integrated
service with GP Practices, seeing more than 2000 people.

19. Children’s Service
19.1 During the period from April 2017 to May 2020, the general trend has been one of
growth in relation to Paediatric attendances, with significant reduction experienced
in April 2020 due to Lockdown. The graph below also demonstrates the seasonal
variation of respiratory presentations each autumn, lasting 6 to 8 weeks. This is due
to an increase in viral illness’ which may lead to Bronchiolitis.
19.2 It is during this period that the Acute hospitals may request support from other
hospitals in the form of a Border divert or acceptance of patients on a ‘Treat and
Transfer’ basis – however it should be remembered that these actions are only taken
in extremis to ensure the person receives the care they need in a timely fashion.
Page 33 of 45

Page 123

FINAL 30.09.2020

Surrey Heartlands
Paediatric (under 18yrs) A&E Attendances by Primary Diagnosis of
Respiratory Condition or Other

Respiratory conditions

Apr-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Oct-19

Aug-19

Jun-19

Apr-19

Feb-19

Dec-18

Oct-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

Apr-18

Feb-18

Dec-17

Oct-17

Aug-17

Jun-17

Apr-17

14000
12000
10000
8000
6000
4000
2000
0

Other

19.3 As attendances have increased since 2017, so have Paediatric admissions to the
Acute Hospitals; again, the numbers decrease significantly in April 2020, with a
corresponding increase in May 2020.
Surrey Heartlands
All Admissions Under 18 with Primary Diagnosis of Respiratory
Condition or Other

Respiratory Condition

Jun-20

Apr-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Oct-19

Aug-19

Jun-19

Apr-19

Feb-19

Dec-18

Oct-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

Apr-18

Feb-18

Dec-17

Oct-17

Aug-17

Jun-17

Apr-17

3500
3000
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

Other

19.4 The graph below illustrates the Emergency admissions to the Surrey Heartlands
Emergency Departments from April 2017 to June 2020. Again depicting the pattern
of increased admissions during the autumn and a significant reduction at the
beginning of Lockdown.
Surrey Heartlands
Emergency Admissions Under 18 with Primary Diagnosis of
Respiratory Condition or Other
2000
1500
1000
500

Respiratory Condition

Page 34 of 45

Page 124

Other

Jun-20

Apr-20

Feb-20

Dec-19

Oct-19

Aug-19

Jun-19

Apr-19

Feb-19

Dec-18

Oct-18

Aug-18

Jun-18

Apr-18

Feb-18

Dec-17

Oct-17

Aug-17

Jun-17

Apr-17

0

FINAL 30.09.2020

19.5 In relation to Mental Health, the CAMHS ‘Single Point of Access’ referrals are shown
below for the period November 2019 to June 2020; numbers fell in March, reaching
294; however, referrals increased during the 1st quarter of 2020.

19.6 The slide below describes activity in relation to supporting children and young
people; there has been a 20% increase in activity from January to June 2020, both in
routine and urgent referrals; since the easing of lockdown there has been an
increased need for Children’s crisis assessments following presentations to the ED –
over 100 assessments.

Page 35 of 45

Page 125

FINAL 30.09.2020

Section B – Surrey Heartlands Flu Vaccination Programme
20. Influenza Vaccinations
20.1 During the autumn and winter of 2019/20, Guildford and Waverley and Surrey
Downs have shown improvement on vaccination levels for the over 65years group.
North West Surrey levels remained the same as the previous year (2018/19); with
East Surrey demonstrating a very slight reduction in recorded numbers.
September 2017 to January 2018
65 and over

September 2018 to February 2019
65 and over

September 2019 to February 2020
65 and over

CCG
Patients
registered
Guildford and Waverley
North West Surrey
Surrey Downs
East Surrey
Source:

Number
vaccinated

% Vaccine
Uptake

Patients
registered

Number
vaccinated

% Vaccine
Uptake

Patients
registered

41698
30590
73.40%
38367
28139
73.3
43061
63,199
44,167
69.90%
63752
44114
69.2
64708
60,218
41,220
68.50%
59072
39842
67.4
61972
31,747
22,097
69.60%
32512
22287
68.6
32991
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/seasonal-flu-vaccine-uptake-in-gp-patients-winter-2019-to-2020

Number
vaccinated

% Vaccine
Uptake

31757
44767
43259
22555

20.2 The number of people admitted to acute hospitals as non – elective (NEL) admission
(spells) with a primary diagnosis of flu this year (2019/20) was far lower when
compared to 2018/19 (please see below). All areas and all age ranges show reduced
admission numbers, the only exception being those 65 years and over in North West
Surrey. Whilst the admission rate was above 2018/19, North West Surrey did not
exceed the 2017/18 reported numbers. Please note East Surrey data only available
for 2019/20 at this time.

20.3 The system is once again preparing for increased numbers this coming flu season;
greater pressure will be experienced in the Acutes as social distancing measures are
set to continue for the foreseeable future. However, admissions to hospital can be
mitigated by people seeking advice from their Pharmacist and GP and receiving the
flu vaccination should this be appropriate for them.

Page 36 of 45

Page 126

73.7
69.2
69.8
68.4

FINAL 30.09.2020
20.4 The 2020/21 groups eligible for the NHS funded flu vaccination programme includes
(with an expectation of at least 75% uptake):
 2 – 3 years olds
 School age with the addition of year 7 ( aged 11 at or on 31st August
2020)
 Pregnant woman
 Those ‘at risk’ with underlying health conditions.
 Over 65-year olds
 Shielded patients and their household contacts (new)
 50 – 64-year olds (new – from November 2020)
 Healthcare workers and Social Care workers – the target for this group is
that 100% of staff will be offered that vaccine. This target is not
mandated.
20.5 The extended eligibility criteria will require Surrey Heartlands ICS to deliver one of
the biggest vaccination programmes ever undertaken. The learning from this
planning will also inform any future mass vaccination for COVID – 19.
20.6 The Surrey Heartlands Flu programme for 2020/21 opened in June 2020, the plan
has now being finalised and describes Surrey Heartlands robust response to the
challenge of meeting the enhanced delivery of the seasonal flu vaccination
programme in order to reduce attendance’ to the Acutes, along with avoiding
increased take up of Social Care home support and avoidance of admissions to
Residential and Nursing homes. This programme will again being fully supported by
national and local communications; with the advice that everyone, in all the eligible
groups, should respond to the invitation from their GP to receive a Flu vaccination
when this is received.
20.7 Flu vaccinations and attitudes towards the vaccination: Local quantitative research
has been undertaken via the Citizens’ Panel. The survey was commissioned by the
Surrey Heartlands Health and Care Partnership Comms and Engagement Team. It
was completed by 762 Surrey residents aged 18 and over, most of whom live in the
Surrey Heartlands area of the county. 50% of the survey respondents had previously
received a flu vaccination and held favourable attitudes towards vaccination.
20.8 Barriers to attending a flu vaccination appointment tended to be centred on time,
availability and location of appointments. Similarly, the main factors which might
prevent people from getting vaccinated against the flu were focussed on the
inconvenience of getting an/to the appointment, cost of the vaccine and any
potential side-effects.
20.9 The most trusted sources of information for vaccinations are scientific experts and
doctors and nurses. Comments about vaccinations on online forums and social
media were most likely to have been viewed by respondents in the 18-34 age band.
Across all age groups, information provided online, in print or face to face direct
from schools, the NHS and GP practices are the preferred routes people would like
to receive vaccination information. The preference for self-accessing vaccination
information online increases with education attainment level, and decreases with
age.
Page 37 of 45

Page 127

FINAL 30.09.2020

21. Staff Influenza Vaccination
21.1 The table below provides the percentage of staff in each of the Acute hospitals,
along with Ambulance and Mental Health services, that received a flu vaccination
during the period 1st September 2019 to 29th February 2020 (cumulative recorded
data). This information is available via Public Health England.
NHS Trust
2019/20 Target = 75%
Ashford and St Peters Foundation Trust
Epsom and St Helier University Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trust
South East Coast Ambulance Service
Surrey and Boarders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust
Regional take up
National take up

Vaccine uptake
(recorded) 2018/19
75%
75.1%
55.8%
78.7%
47.6%
67.5%
63.2%
70.3%

Vaccine uptake
(recorded) 2019/20
78.8%
70.1%
79.5%
76.2%
76.0%
75.1%
73.7%
74.3%

21.2 Surrey County Council attends the ICS Seasonal Flu Programme Board and as part of
the local authority campaign, communications are being sent out to promote the
free flu vaccination under the national NHS Flu Programme to those eligible groups
(residents) and to the Surrey County Council workforce e.g. frontline staff, the care
workforce, carers.
21.3 Surrey County Council staff will be offered a paid for flu vaccination, primarily
through Community Pharmacy. Any member of staff who is not eligible for the free
NHS vaccine is able to procure a vaccine from a local chemist and, should their local
chemist not be part of the scheme, then members of staff will be able to claim for
the cost of the vaccine. It is estimated that 75% of staff may not be eligible for the
free NHS flu vaccine and will take up the offer of a Surrey County Council paid for
vaccine. All staff will be encouraged to get their flu vaccination by end of December
2020. However, the scheme is available until March 2021.
21.4 Recording of uptake by staff will be monitored through the SAP Portal self-logging
functionality set up for the flu vaccines, so anyone who has been vaccinated can log
this on their employee profile, regardless of whether it was an NHS vaccine or a
vaccine paid for by Surrey County Council. Vaccine uptake data for 2018/19 and for
2019/20 is unavailable as this was not collected nor requested for that time.
21.5 Whilst staff are strongly advised to take up the offer of receiving the seasonal flu
vaccination (when clinically appropriate to do so) this request is not mandatory. This
year the aim is to ensure 100% of health and social care staff are offered the flu
vaccination, reasons for declining will also be requested, with this information
further informing the Staff vaccination campaign.

Page 38 of 45

Page 128

FINAL 30.09.2020

22. Pneumococcal Vaccination
22.1 Pneumonia can be very serious; the pneumococcal vaccine protects against serious
and potentially fatal pneumococcal infections and is known as the pneumonia
vaccine. Pneumonia can affect anyone, however some people are at higher risk of
serious illness and so it is recommended that they receive the NHS vaccination (as
advised by their GP).
22.2 These include:
 Babies – babies are routinely vaccinated as part of the childhood vaccination
programme.
 Adults aged 65 and over are offered the pneumococcal polysaccharide
vaccine or PPV.
 Anyone aged from 2 years to 64 years with a health conditions that increases
their risk of infection.
 Anyone at occupational risk e.g. welders.
22.3 The table below provides an overview of the work undertaken in providing the PPV.
Please note the date of the report (the ‘date of extraction’) is June 2020. It should be
noted that 79.8% of people eligible in the over 75 years group have received the
vaccination.

Page 39 of 45

Page 129

FINAL 30.09.2020

Section C – Surge and Escalation Planning 2020/21 (Inc. Seasonal
Variation – Winter)
23. Surge and escalation planning
23.1 Modelling Forward for Urgent Care - Surrey Heartlands ICS has developed an Urgent
Care Model which identifies likely demand, capacity, admissions and discharge rates
by week until February 2021. The model uses historical data to predict non-elective
admissions and applies a range of assumptions depending on the scenario (e.g. 2nd
wave, minimal Covid impact). Various phases are considered, including the possible
impact of decreased admissions due to a 2nd wave of Covid, the planned return to
higher than normal 19/20 levels, and seasonal activity for Flu and Norovirus. This,
along with national modelling is supporting current planning activity.
23.2 Surge Planning (includes winter 2020/21) - Surrey Heartland ICS are undertaking a
number of programmes of work to continue to build resilience within our urgent
care services and prepare for extended periods of surge in demand, this includes the
winter period. Outlined below are the details of the current programmes and
specific projects.
Programme

Deliverable

Strategic Winter
Planning

Winter Planning Strategic Exercise took place on 20th August. This exercise
involves all partners who contribute to or deliver elements of care within the
ICS, along with attendance from surrounding partners including Frimley ICS,
to support joint working. This was the first time that such an event has been
delivered via ‘Teams’ across Surrey Heartlands.
The learning from the ICS exercise was fed into the LRF exercise which took
place on 27th August 2020.

Seasonal Flu
Plan

Think 111 First

The Surrey Heartlands ICS Seasonal Flu plan has been finalised which
describes a robust response to the challenge of meeting the enhanced
delivery of the seasonal flu vaccination programme needed to reduce the
numbers of people feeling unwell due to ‘flu; reducing Acute hospital
attendances/admissions; along with minimising take up of Social Care home
support and Residential and Nursing home admissions. Consideration of
different approaches in delivering the vaccine which take into consideration
of social distancing and the need to enhance the service to increase
accessibility e.g. to people who are homeless.
‘Think 111 First’ is a national programme with the primary objective of
reducing waiting times in ED by offering ‘bookable’ appointments within the
ED department or other areas of the Acute hospital should these be required;
more often it is envisaged that the person will be offered support via other
community services. These appointments will be booked via the NHS 111
service. Prior to booking advice and guidance will be provided as the person
may be able to receive support from their Pharmacy or advice from the NHS
111 clinical team.

Page 40 of 45

Page 130

FINAL 30.09.2020
Programme

Deliverable
The ICS Surge and Escalation Plan describes the combined ICS response to
surges in demand, along with the individual ICP access to locally agreed
additional escalation capacity; additional actions in relation to adverse
weather or an increase in ED attendances due seasonal flu / COVID 19/
Norovirus. Break planning for the Christmas/New Year period is also
undertaken.

ICS Surge and
Escalation Plan

A single plan which builds resilience and provides the architecture for the ICS
Mutual Aid Protocol, along with underpinning the Surrey Outbreak plan and
the Ethical Clinical Decision-Making Framework which guides and supports
difficult decision-making.
EU exit, preparations for the ending of the transition period, is led by the
Surrey Heartlands ICS EPPR team, reference to EU Exit is made within the
Surge and Escalation Plan should this be a causal factor of surges experienced
in Quarter 4 2020/21.
This joint plan underpins system oversight and supports decision-making in
times of extreme system pressure, linking the surge plan to the Urgent Care
Data Repository held within Alamac. It will identify key triggers with the ICPs
to evoke a proactive response, rather than reactive. This single plan negates
the need for individual place-based ICP Winter plans. ICS Urgent Care system
oversight is provided by the ICS Associate Directors of Urgent Care Assurance.
Production of a daily ICS report, which reflects the ICP, ICS and regional
position. This review includes a daily ‘look back’, provision of current position
and ‘look forward’ to any immerging system flow issues.

System
oversight and
assurance

Extending scope of the daily report to include system wide oversight of the
community resources availability and flow, Care Homes and Hospices via the
NHS Capacity Tracker; Primary Care and the voluntary sectors contribution (as
able); ultimately providing the opportunity to seek out possible options for
mutual aid and connects the systems.
Deployment of web-based dashboards, accessible anywhere are currently
used across Surrey Heartlands to share the ‘live’ position in relation to ED
activity. This information now includes all the Surrey Heartlands Acute
Hospitals and is refreshed every 10 minutes.
Development of three additional ‘pages’ within the web-based dashboard:General and Acute capacity including Critical Care;
Paediatric capacity;
Mental Health bed capacity
to include the OPEL score Critical Care and Paediatrics.

Page 41 of 45

Page 131

FINAL 30.09.2020
Programme

Consistent
generation of
OPEL Status

ICS Urgent and
Emergency Care
Strategy

Deliverable
ICS support all partners in calculating and declaring their OPEL position via an
agreed ICS scoring mechanism, which is further influenced by the individual
partner’s functionality.
Greater partner visibility of individual service OPEL status through roll-out of
web-based dashboards, fed directly from the repository and the daily Surrey
Heartlands ICS report. Primary Care will also be offered inclusion into this
scheme with OPEL assessment potentially being completed at a PCN level.
Preparation of an ICS Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) strategy,
incorporating local place base ICP deliverables.

24. Covid-19 capacity constraints
24.1 All the Acute and Community Hospitals are observing the IPC and Social Distancing
guidance, with direct impact on available beds, particularly within the Acute
hospitals, leading to the following:






ASPH has increased core bed capacity by 14 (to a total of 475), however
there are no additional escalation beds available. To meet a further surge in
demand, other acute hospital services would need to accommodate further
admissions e.g. by utilising In-Health and Urology, increasing number of
discharges or in supporting people to return home from the ED with
community support.
RSFT have reduced bed capacity from 433 to 405. Escalation plans include
opening the Guildford Borough Ward. Beds will increase again slightly to
415 from November 2020 to March 2021; however, there are no additional
escalation beds available, with the hospital principally relying on increasing
number of discharges or in supporting people to return home from the ED
with community support during periods of surge.
SaSH have 493 core beds, with 26 escalations beds. It should be noted that
whilst escalation beds are available – these numbers represent a net loss of
48 beds due to zoning and spacing; again, the above strategies will be put in
place at times of surge.

24.2 All EDs are experiencing an increase in attendance, with the 10th August 2020
representing one of the highest days of attendances so far this year. IPC and social
distancing requirements are being fully adhered to, leading to further pressure
within ED waiting rooms, which have effectively been halved in capacity. To counter
this a number of initiatives are being explored, such as patients being asked to wait
in their cars (after being triaged and risk assessed). EDs are scoping provision of
bookable appointments for patient to return in a more planned way; ED waiting
areas have been increased by increasing their footprint and utilising other areas.
24.3 Additional steps are being considered in the ED assessment process such as phone
call to the person’s car to call them into see the ED Doctor/ Nurse Practitioner. New
processes are impacting negatively on and / or slowing flow through ED. As
pressures increase throughout the coming months, there remains the risk that 4hour performance target will be comprised.
Page 42 of 45

Page 132

FINAL 30.09.2020

25. Impact on Elective services
25.1 Surrey Heartlands ICS has four acute hospitals, all of which have made significant
progress in restoring elective services, although challenges remain in relation to
Infection Prevention Control (IPC) measures which reduces efficiency of operation.
The number of referrals to the Acute hospitals dropped significantly during
lockdown, however activity has been increasing since mid-May 2020, as illustrated in
the chart below and is close to the Q1 baseline for 2019/20. Recovery will continue
throughout the Autumn 2020. The electronic referral service (eRS) is now fully
operational and the data reflects this. The graph below shows 90% of total referrals
as a small percentage of referrals are completed by paper for specialist mental
health and community referrals.

Section D– Assurance, Communications and Governance
26. Assurance
26.1 Bed Capacity and Mutual Aid Processes: Surrey Heartlands, working with partner
agencies, have created a data platform which provides a numerical overview of the
system and how it is operating – it should be noted no patient identifiable
information is stored within the system. This oversight helps teams and systems to
identify where the pressures are e.g. within ED or perhaps the number of people
waiting for specialist assistance in arranging discharge; this information enables staff
to create daily, rapid interventions which support individual patients and the wider
system flow. This information is able to be shared across, not only the local system,
but also on a wider Surrey Heartlands footprint.
26.2 The systems are able to collect and collate information which can be used in
presenting and triangulating data – this is vital in helping teams to understand
performance trends. The objective and detailed information generated creates the
foundation for system calls and reports that can be used, ongoing, on a daily basis. It
also informs the systems in their preparation for holiday and winter periods by
‘looking back’ to previous busy periods and analysing how the system responding.

Page 43 of 45

Page 133

FINAL 30.09.2020
26.3 A comprehensive surveillance reporting system has been put in place to understand
and track bed capacity across the system. The system relies on daily bed capacity
updates from Trusts and is aligned with agreed Mutual Aid process, ensuring the
system is able to track real time situation and seek support from other providers
within the system and other ICSs as needed.
26.4 These trackers are available at Trust level and are used by the system to monitor
daily changes over time and indicate if and when Trusts are approaching the trigger
point. They are read in conjunction with more timely operational information
obtained through urgent care processes already in place to allow the system to
respond on the day.
26.5 As with ED departments, social distancing interventions have affected capacity in the
main hospitals and Trusts are pro-actively managing their bed configuration so that
they can respond flexibly to growing demand while adhering to social distancing
guidelines.

27. EU Exit
27.1 Updated reasonable worst-case planning assumptions are still awaited in relation to
the impacts that may arise as a result of the end of the transition period for EU Exit,
which is 31st December 2020.
27.2 Updated guidance has been issued by Government for healthcare commissioners
and providers to prepare for EU Exit. This focusses on three main areas: supply chain
(especially medicines and medical products); business continuity, and; workforce.
The Surrey Heartlands CCG is working with healthcare and multi-agency partners to
ensure that appropriate preparedness is in place to manage any local impacts. From
an operational perspective, this will be managed through the CCG virtual Incident
Coordination Centre that is currently coordinating Covid-19 pandemic response
arrangements as well as the predicted additional winter demand pressures.

28. Surrey Heartlands Communications Plan
28.1 Communications and engagement strategy for 2020/21 has been further developed
by Surrey Heartlands partners, in collaboration with the Surrey Health and Wellbeing
Board communications sub group. This strategy is currently being implemented and
includes a range of channels including a media and social media campaign, internal
communications, stakeholder uptakes, use of digital media, primary care
communications, events and roadshows, as well as targeted communications for
clinical staff, at risk flu groups and other key audiences.
28.2 Escalation element of the plan links comms messages out to the community linked
to individual ICP escalation status, thereby providing pre-agreed comms messaging
in times of high system escalation.
28.3 The plan supports targeted messaging out to the wider community particularly in
relation to how the person may seek help and support without needing to attend
ED; messages are also tailored to each areas system escalation alerting the public to
how busy their local hospital is – again advising people to contact 111 or go to the
pharmacy or GP for advice; whilst reiterating the importance of calling 999 and /or
Page 44 of 45

Page 134

FINAL 30.09.2020
attending the hospital ED in cases of emergency. The plan has been reviewed in light
of the COVID pandemic and by further developing communication out to all sectors
of our society.

29. System Restoration, Recovery and Reform Governance
29.1 The Surrey Heartlands (SH) main vehicles responsible for the delivery of urgent care
during across the area are the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Local Accident &
Emergency Delivery Boards (LAEDBs) of North West Surrey, East Surrey and
Guildford & Waverley, along with the Surrey Downs System Resilience Group (SRG) –
which links to the Sutton and Kingston ICP LAEDB’s. Through these groups each of
the systems put in place their plans, with some schemes being established across
Surrey Heartlands to ensure that the systems were well prepared to manage
sustained surge pressures.
29.2 Overarching assurance in relation to Urgent Care is provided by the ICP’s to the
Surrey Heartlands Surge and Winter Workstream Board and onward to the Recovery
Board with the strategic Surrey Heartlands work plan complementing and supporting
local delivery. Two additional Boards have been formed, these are the ‘ICS Seasonal
Flu’ Board and the ‘Think 111 First’ Board. These Boards also work through EPRR
(Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response) groups to ensure a cohesive
approach.

SH ICS

ICS System Board
SH CCG

SH ICS
NWS ICP

G&W ICP
CrESH ICP

ICS Urgent Care
Development Board

ICS Recovery Board

ICS Seasonal Flu
Board

Surge and Winter
Workstream Board

SD ICP

ICS ‘Think 111 First’
Board

ICS Urgent Care
Development Board

NWS LAEDB

G&W LAEDB

Page 45 of 45

Page 135

CrESH AEDB

SD SRG

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 8

ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE
15 OCTOBER 2020
PREPARATIONS FOR WINTER PRESSURES
Purpose of Report:
To review Winter 19/20 Plan and to provide an overview of Frimley ICS Programme
for Winter 2020/21 including the work being undertaken to improve the take up of
vaccinations for residents and NHS staff.
To outline the impact and risks associated with winter pressures and the measures
put in place by the whole System for mitigation and promotes resilience throughout
the winter season.
To assure the Select Committee that appropriate measures are in place in
preparation for seasonal winter pressures, ensuring that local people receive
services at the right time in the right place and have the best possible outcomes.
Introduction
1. The winter period can present the most challenging times for local Health and
Care Services. The anticipated winter challenges are no surprise to Systems
every year. However, this year the challenges have been further compounded
with the COVID 19 Pandemic and the preparations for the UK Exit – End of
Transition Year.
2. Each year the Frimley Integrated Care System (ICS) have built upon the
excellent Partnership work carried out as part of the Urgent and Emergency
Care Delivery Plan implementation during the year in order to ensure all
System Partners are in a state of readiness for meeting the varied challenges
over the winter period.
3. Integrated Health and Social Care teams working in partnership with Primary
Care across Farnham and Surrey Heath have continued to support people in
the community and produce better outcomes for residents, prevented hospital
admissions, reduced length of stay and maintained good performance in
relation to delayed transfers of care. Front line practitioners are empowered to

Page 137

make decisions at the right time, in the right place for all residents regardless
of organisational boundaries.
4. We are proud of how the Frimley System continually commits to the robust
planning required and delivers consistently when faced with increased
demands and pressures.
5. It should be noted also that challenges to the System are experienced all year
round including Easter, Bank Holidays and half term holidays and indeed last
winter (1st November 2019 – April 2020), where specific plans are developed
with Partners in order to ensure services are maintained throughout the whole
of the year.
6. Frimley Health Foundation Trust is one of the test Trusts for the New Clinical
Standards; as a direct result of this the 4-hour Emergency Department (ED)
performance target is no longer reported.
7. Due to the COVID 19 response, the definition of Delayed Transfer of Care
(DToC) changed in mid-March 2020 and DToC reporting as it was known
ceased. Up to this point DToC across Frimley Health Foundation Trust
(FHFT) had improved when compared to 2018/19 and met the NHS target of
3.5% during all months except November 2019, and February 2020.
8. The System approach to Winter Planning combined with the reactive and
flexible approach to the COVID 19 surge enabled the Frimley System to
achieve the performance seen below:
Total
Delayed
Total 12 Ambulance
Average
Average
Transfer
hour
Handover
Attendances/day
of Care
Frimley
waits
Emergency
delays
at ED
Health
from
Admissions/day - DToC
1hr+
Decision
(Patients)
Target
(Patients)
Target 30
to admit
3.5%
mins max
Nov-19

0

3

676

251

4.3%

Dec-19

0

15

670

245

3.0%

Jan-20

0

11

652

235

2.5%

Feb-20

0

2

6445

235

4.2%

Page 138

Mar-20

0

5

487

170

Apr-20

0

1

344

155

Detailed below is the previous year as a comparison:
12 hour
Ambulance
Delayed
waits
Frimley
4 Hour
Handover Attendances Emergency Transfer
from
Health Performance
delays
to A&E
Admissions of Care
Decision
1hr+
- DToC
to admit
Nov-18

85.9%

0

13

20451

6198

5.2%

Dec-18

87.2%

0

11

20418

6431

4.2%

Jan-19

82.6%

0

16

20115

6431

2.5%

Feb-19

81.1%

0

8

18765

5923

2.8%

Mar-19

83.3%

0

18

20727

6284

3.6%

Apr-19

79.5%

0

14

19889

5384

3.8%

9. The Frimley ICS performance continued to be within the upper quartile
nationally, signalling that interventions to keep residents living well in the
community are working.
10. The experience last winter was that patients were more acutely unwell when
attending ED thus potentially staying longer in hospital. There were no
patients who waited over 12 hours from their decision to admit during the
winter months.
11. The number of delayed transfers of care, though higher than targeted, has not
increased to the levels other systems have experienced nationally during
winter. Frimley as a system continued to focus efforts to ensure good flow and
effective discharges were achieved through partnership working and
collaborative service planning.
12. This year saw Frimley North System Escalate to OPEL (Operational
Pressures Escalation Level) 4 from the 7th to 10th of January 2020. This was
due to unusually high pressures on both Acute and Community beds in the

Page 139

North. Frimley South System also felt these pressures but maintained a high
of OPEL 3 during Winter 2019/20.
13. Overall the Frimley System coped well during winter 19/20 and detailed below
are the planning preparations and actions that were taken in order to
maximise its resilience and ability to meet the winter challenges:

Effective Winter Planning
14. Winter Planning is underpinned by a cycle of continuous improvements.
Annually, there are a number of objectives that need to be met when
planning for the forthcoming winter:
Key Objectives of the Systems winter planning














Ensuring the System is resilient throughout the winter period providing safe, effective and sustainable care for the local
population
The System has sufficient capacity available to meet the likely
demands over winter including restoration and response following
COVID First Wave
The System is able to deliver quality care for patients/clients in the
most appropriate setting
The System is able to achieve national and local access targets and
trajectories
That the System is compliant with winter planning, national
guidance and regional Framework and also includes the Work Plan
for Urgent and Emergency Care Services
The System has learnt from previous winters locally and from other
Systems and applied best practice to service delivery to ensure
safe and effective patient flow
The System promotes prevention and supports self-care,
encourage residents to prepare for winter and cold weather
The System raises awareness amongst the public of the most
suitable place to go for different levels of care
The System is planning for the UK Exit – End of transition year on
31/12/2020

15. In addition to those key objectives for the System, there are National
directives shared with Systems during the year around NHSE requirements
for our winter preparation. Also as part of the winter planning process, the
lessons learnt from the previous year’s winter is incorporated within the Winter

Page 140

Plan and any current associated Plans such as the Surge and Escalation
Protocol are reviewed in order to provide a robust Winter Planning Framework
for the whole System.
Potential Risks and pressures identified for Winter
16. Following a Frimley ICS Winter Planning meeting held between all the Frimley
ICS Winter Planning leads a number of risks were identified. These risks have
been reviewed. The risks detailed below were created from all of our Partners
risks.
17. Inadequate Workforce







Resilience of Clinical and Support staff given the demands over last 6
months. Staff are still trying to “recover” from First Wave of COVID.
Sickness – absence of staff / closure of schools / caring for loved ones
Isolating – Child Care impact
Business Continuity impacts – service provision
Impact on flow throughout the System, placing pressures on other
Partners
Mental wellbeing

18. Primary Care Resilience






Workforce resilience
Dependency on digital platform
Flu vaccination delivery around the extended ask
COVID Testing
Comms – consistent messages to public in accessing services

19. Capacity across the System
Capacity from General Practice through to inpatient capacity (both Core and
Escalation beds) to Community capacity have all been impacted upon over
the last 6 months, which has reduced capacity in some areas and place more
demand in other areas. This will have a knock-on effect on the flow through
the System resulting in potential delays in discharge (acute and Community),
increase in medically stable for discharge, ambulance handover delays to
increase in demand to out-of-hours (OOH), Primary Care and ED.
20. Lack of testing the Population and the implications of the unmet need

Page 141



Inability to proactively manage Outbreaks, staffing impact isolating until
results obtained, service provision to our patients by all Key Workers and
beyond
Frustration and loss of confidence by service providers in the process



21. Reliance of an effective Same Day Emergency Care model for the System






Primary Care resilience
Effective delivery of 111 First
Minor Injuries
Paediatrics
Ambulatory Care

22. Multiple Responses / Returns at short notice to Region and National Teams



Ability to respond within deadlines and meet request for details on time
The subsequent competing demands re planning and actions required by
teams who are coping with winter / day to day demands

This Year’s Winter Plan 2020/21
Areas of focus
23. In response to the Preparing for a Challenging Winer 2020/21 document that
was published in July 2020 and System Wide Winter Planning the Frimley
ICS Winter Plans for Winter 20/21 will be focusing on:
Areas of focus:


Hospitals Demand and Capacity Plans



Flexibility of Clinical Workforce



Reducing the number of long-stay patients in hospital



Enhanced winter support from Adult Social Care



Community Providers – Ensuring adequate bed base



Triaging patients away from the Emergency Department and
admitted pathways to more appropriate pathways of care



Minimise Ambulance Handover delays in the Emergency Dept.



Maximising Healthcare worker / patients flu vaccinations



Ensuring Primary Care is resilient and responsive



Mental Health service provision



Effective Communication with the Public

Hospitals Demand and Capacity Plans

Page 142

24. As part of the COVID 19 response during 2020, the hospitals have
developed their demand and capacity plans. Particular focus is on patient
length of stay and their discharge plans so that the bed occupancy is
reduced to appropriate levels. The release of inpatient beds enables those
people who are acutely unwell and require a bed to be admitted in a timely
way and avoid prolonged stays in the Emergency Department.
Flexibility of Workforce
25. As part of each organisations business continuity arrangements, they have
reviewed their workforce capacity in order to ensure they have sufficient
cover throughout the winter and have arrangements in place to maximise
resources through flexible working. Work is currently being undertaken to
reinstate the ICS Workforce Bureau that was in place during the COVID
response in 2020. This Bureau will again support organisations facing
particular staffing issues to ensure that urgent and routine services are
maintained as clinically appropriate.
Reducing the number of long-stay patients in hospital
26. Focussed actions around reducing the length of patient pathways have
helped in ensuring that there is capacity available both in the acute and in
community bed settings for patients.
27. The Hospitals work hard with Community and Social Care partners in order
to ensure patients with particularly long length of stays were reviewed in
order to identify suitable alternative care settings. These actions occur on a
day to day basis throughout the winter, and as with last year a number of
patients are placed in interim beds or discharged for their assessments to
take place in their own homes. Evidence has shown this is the most
appropriate outcome for our patients.
28. The benefits of the partnership working and processes around patients
discharge are being locked in for the Winter of 20/21
Enhanced winter support from Adult Social Care
29. Social Care workforce is available seven days 8am-8pm and has flexible
and immediate access to funding. In line with national policy, funding will be
utilised to ensure timely discharge from hospital with assessments then
taking place within a six-week time frame. Case numbers will be continually
monitored to avoid backlog and there are plans to flexibly utilise ASC
resource across NW Surrey if needed.

Page 143

30. In previous years additional reablement resource has been commissioned
over the winter period. This is now funded all year and will be utilised to
support effective hospital discharge.
31. Continuing Health Care and Adult Social Care will continue to work in
partnership to enable timely decision making for residents with Surrey Heath
and Farnham providing flexible funding to support discharge and ongoing
needs.
Community Providers
32. Adult Social Care will again purchase in advance domiciliary care hours in
preparation for winter to enable discharge home for patients for
assessments to take place in their own homes. Flexibility within the Better
Care fund will enable purchase of nursing home beds as required for
individuals.
33. Community bed capacity will be provided through care home beds sourced
centrally by the Joint Central Placement Team where contracts and funding
have been agreed. The community teams will also utilise step-up bed
capacity at Farnham Hospital for when appropriate. Escalation bed capacity
will be agreed jointly between Frimley Health and Partners to agree any
additional community hospital beds that need to be opened and resource
needed to manage flow.
34. Admission avoidance pathways are followed throughout the year and a twohour response time with integrated partners is achieved via the community
service SPA (Single Point of Access).
Triaging patients away from the Emergency Department and admission
35. Pathways are agreed to ensure that people are assessed and treated in the
most appropriate place and that their needs are then met in the most
appropriate setting. Increasing the Ambulatory Care provision has been
focussed on throughout the year to ensure patients are redirected away
from the Emergency Department when appropriate.
Minimise Ambulance Handover delays in the Emergency Department
36. It has been nationally acknowledged that the number of ambulance
conveyed patients handover delays of 60 minutes or more within the Frimley
System is dramatically lower than other Systems nationally. There is an
absolute focus by the teams in the Emergency Department that crews are
released safely and as promptly as possible.

Page 144

37. However, all ambulance conveyed patients are closely monitored and where
necessary, the Hospital takes prompt action in deploying designated nurses
to receive the patient should there be a potential for a delay in handing over
to the main team in the Emergency Department. This then releases the
ambulance crews to leave the hospital and get back “on the road” to
respond to other emergency calls. There were no Ambulance Handover
Winter Trigger breaches this year in the Frimley system.

Frimley Health

Total Ambulance
Handover delays 60 mins+
Target 30 mins max

Nov-19

13

Dec-19

11

Jan-20

16

Feb-20

8

Mar-20

18

Apr-20

14

Maximising Healthcare worker / patients flu vaccinations
38. Flu vaccination is one of the most important interventions to ensure that
both staff and at-risk patients remain safe and well during any winter period.
It is also therefore one of the most effective interventions to reduce pressure
on the health and social care system during the winter. A comprehensive
programme is planned in Farnham and Surrey Heath to ensure that as
many people needing the vaccine receive it as possible.
39. Each organisation is acting proactively to maximise the vaccination take up
of their staff members including clear communications and ensuring easy
access for staff.
40. The CCGs are working with partners to find suitable ways to reach all
groups in our communities and deliver a successful flu programme during
the COVID pandemic. Vaccinations are being given in different locations to
those normally used to allow at scale delivery to the increased numbers
eligible this year as well as to ensure safety to health workers and patients.

Page 145

For example, a “drive-through” model is being employed in Surrey Heath
using the Blackbushe airport site.
41. General Practice, who deliver the majority of vaccinations, are being
supported to ensure they have adequate stock of vaccine available. Local
public communications are planned, in line with national messages, and
particular focus is again being made to include carers and minority groups in
the population.
Ensuring Primary Care is resilient and responsive
42. Resilient and responsive Primary Care is a key enabler for patients
receiving the right care, in the right place, at the right time. Adequate
availability of appointments in General Practice has been a priority and a
number of schemes will be put in place to compliment the year-round
initiatives to ensure sufficient capacity is available in the community to cope
with the expected demand
43. Over the past few months the Covid-19 pandemic has significantly changed
how general practice is delivering care, with many positive changes and
benefits
44. This winter, appointments will be available through a combination of face to
face, telephone and online access. Activity in General Practice is now back
to pre-COVID levels but far more of consultations are delivered online or by
telephone. The alternative methods of consultation will enable GPs, Practice
Nurses and other health professionals to effectively and efficiently provide a
responsive service whilst minimising risk and to fully utilise available staff if
a second wave of COVID occurs.
45. Our winter plans for primary care have involved the development of a
flexible approach to hot pathways (for suspected COVID patients) to provide
appropriate responses to demand, that optimise the capacity available at
any given time for core general practice. Enabling primary care to address
backlogs as outlined within the NHS England Phase 3 requirements, and
target work for vulnerable groups and to reduce health inequalities. At scale
hot sites will be available over the winter period with potential to add
additional sites if demand requires. This will enable continued focus on core
routine services.
46. Across the Frimley system, our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) have
recently confirmed plans to use funding to recruit an additional 150 new
Allied Health Professional (AHP) roles by March 2021 to support
multidisciplinary working and GP workload. The most popular new roles

Page 146

being Clinical Pharmacists, Physician Associates, Social Prescribing Link
Workers, Pharmacy Technicians and First Contact Physiotherapists.
47. Primary Care and Community Services will continue to provide a seven-day
service throughout the winter period. Specific schemes based on successful
impact last year will be utilised to create additional capacity and monitor
demand.
Mental Health service provision
48.

As a Mental Health Trust, Surrey and Borders Partnership Trust (SABP) are
not acutely affected in the same way as hospital or community colleagues by
the winter conditions. Demand for crisis response services is unplanned and
unpredictable and seasonal variation can be less of a significant factor.
However, it is also true to say that there is often an appreciable increase in
demand late winter to Easter (January-April). As a result, SABP focus on
winter pressures is to support Acute Trusts through maintaining performance
through their Liaison services (amongst others).

49.

Out of hours SABP have support for adults in crisis through their single point
of access and Safe Havens. Safe Havens provide out of hours help and
support to people and their carers who are experiencing a mental health crisis
or emotional distress. An equivalent service is available for children and
young people via the CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service)
Single Point of Access or emergency duty team and the CYP (Children’s and
Young People’s) Havens.

50.

SABP have plans for maintaining service continuity during periods of severe
weather. They also have agreed processes that aim to ensure that vulnerable
people known to services are supported during periods of cold weather as
required under the Department of Health Cold Weather Plan.

51.

The Trust continues to conduct face to face appointments when it is
appropriate but assessment and follow up appointments will generally be
offered over the phone and by video call.

Effective Communication with the Public
52.

As happened last year, North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG and Surrey
Heath CCG Communication Teams have met recently and have published the
Communications and Engagement Plan for Winter 2020/21. The Plan will
follow and support the National Winter Campaign promoting:
 Helping Us Help You Stay Well This Winter,

Page 147

 Flu,
 111 First,
 Alternatives to ED,
 The Impact of COVID 19,
 How can our ICS workforce help.
53.

The Winter Communications and Engagement Plan was launched in August
2020 and will run through to February 2021. Local reactive comms messages
will continue to go out to focus on developing and localised issues.

54.

From the August of 2020, the CCG has promoted National messaging to
support the “Summer of Self Care” and Flu Vaccination Campaign via its
website, social media and staff intranet channels, as well as issuing press
releases to the local media

A Look Back at Winter 2019-20 and Specific Actions undertaken by Surrey
Heath / Farnham Locality
The 19-20 Winter Plan
55. As has been shown from the preparations described in the previous
sections, planning for winter builds on the services and schemes already in
place. A key focus of the plan was embedding schemes and processes put
in place during the previous winter as business as usual instead of seasonal
incentives. Some additional initiatives were then implemented to provide
additional capacity and flexibility to manage the expected increase in
demand. A summary of elements of the implemented plan follows.
Frimley Integrated Care System
56. A system-wide project for all providers was put in place to focus on Length
of Stay. It ran from the 1st October for 90 days, centred on three wards at
both Wexham Park Hospital and Frimley Park Hospital to develop and
support processes and good practice for staff in the safe and timely
discharge of patients.
57. A system initiative for Care Homes was also delivered, the Hydrate initiative
was implemented to raise awareness and result in reduced falls and UTIs
(urinary tract infections) for Care Home residents. A Care Homes
pharmacist also worked across Farnham and Surrey Heath to undertake
medication reviews for care home residents to reduce hospital admissions.

Page 148

58. Social prescribing services became business as usual in 2019 and played a
key role in actively assisting people to access Voluntary services to support
their needs.
Frimley Park Hospital
59. Various initiatives to increase capacity and improve patient flow were
implemented. This included the joint project creating a specific Surrey Heath
ward in the hospital to facilitate links to the community teams and facilitate
discharge. Business as usual schemes included rapid implementation of the
SAFER Bundle throughout the hospital. This is a national NHS tool for
improving patient flow and blends five elements of best practice that can be
tailored to local circumstances. The hospital also committed to ensuring that
all Patients have a planned and agreed date for discharge early in their stay
(called EDD or expected date of discharge) and this was then used to
effectively monitor patient stays to avoid delays.
60. Additional Ambulatory Care Unit provision was created, and the unit was
available seven days per week and open bank holidays. This enabled more
patients to avoid admission to the hospital by being able to access
ambulatory pathways and return home the same day.
61. Frimley Park hospital continued to focus on ensuring a reduction in
Ambulance handover delays including the development of an Escalation
Protocol to facilitate this.
Community services including Adult Social Care
62. The established Integrated Care Teams continued to support people seven
days a week in the community to maintain them in their place of residence,
avoid unnecessary admissions to hospital and to support timely discharge if
hospital admission was required.
63. Care for some was coordinated through weekly Multi-Disciplinary Team
meetings in the community for people at high risk of admission, in crisis or
with complex care management needs. This was operational across both
CCG localities.
64. The In-Reach Team linked in with the hospital Frailty Unit and the
Ambulatory Care Unit in order to ensure timely discharge for Patients. The
In-Reach service provides a seven day a week service 8am-8pm Monday to
Friday and 9am-5pm Saturday and Sunday to support discharges and
admission avoidance. They work at the “front door” to help to avoid
admissions and triage in Emergency Department Observation Unit (EDOU)

Page 149

in order to ensure that admissions are appropriate and patients are ideally
discharged back to their homes before an acute admission has to take
place.
65. The community teams worked with the hospital to pro-actively ‘pull’ people
who were medically fit for discharge (MFFD) out of hospital and back into
the community, with emphasis on information sharing, joint assessment and
care management – e.g. daily Community Team Calls (where not fully colocated), IRIS System calls, reviewing of Urgent Care Dashboard / GP
Browser.
66. In Farnham there was co-ordinated and joined up working with the
Paramedic Home Visiting Service (operational Mon to Fri 8am to 7pm).
Also, additional funding for Enhanced Recovery and Support at Home to
provide one additional member of staff to support weekend and Bank
Holiday working (excluding Christmas Day and Easter Sunday). A second
clinician was also funded from November to March to support winter
pressures.
67. Surrey Equipment Service agreed to respond to any particular spikes in
demand as and when these happen. The Provider ensured that all
sub/peripheral stores were topped up to meet rises in demand.
68. Surrey County Council continued to work with East Berkshire CCG to
ensure that residents of Surrey who are registered with a GP in East
Berkshire receive equitable service provision. This is of particular benefit to
residents living along the border in Windlesham, Englefield Green, Egham
and Virginia Water. The focus was again on End of Life care services, joint
funding arrangements to support complex discharge from hospital and
intermediate care services.
Primary Care
69.

Across the whole of North East Hampshire, Farnham and Surrey Heath, an
additional 14,795 appointments were planned to be provided over a 20-week
period from 2nd December 2019 to 17th April 2020. Each GP practice was
also asked to protect at least one emergency same day appointment per
winter resilience session to allow Accident & Emergency (A&E) to have the
ability to book a patient into an appointment.

70.

Direct booking from NHS 111 started in November for Surrey Heath Practices
ensuring that the service was further supported with robust alternatives to
A&E attendance.

Page 150

71.

Seven-day working for Primary Care was business as usual over the winter
period. For example, Surrey Heath GP Practices provide seven-day access
with appointments available Monday to Friday from 8am to 8pm. On Saturday
mornings, a Hub model operates for the total population of Surrey Heath,
hosted in turn by each Practice. Pre-bookable and same day appointments
are offered between 9am-12pm and delivered by a range of GP, Nurse, AHP
and Healthcare Assistant (HCA) capacity. On average, an additional 40
appointments were offered each Saturday and utilised. On Sundays, an
additional 12 GP Appointments are provided via a sub-contracted
arrangement with North Hampshire Urgent Care (NHUC) (GP Out of Hours
provider).

72.

In addition, GP practices in Farnham utilised improved data collection and
monitoring, made available using the Primary Care module of Alamac. This
allows GP practices to collect and report demand on a weekly basis. For
2019/20 there was the real drive to establish consistency in the use of Alamac
to ensure its full potential for planning and System Resilience was achieved.

73.

Farnham patients also benefitted from the same day visiting service utilising
paramedics throughout the entire winter period. The service provided
additional capacity for Primary Care and ensured the most appropriate
clinician provided care to patients.

Mental Health Service
74.

The Surrey and Borders Partnership Trust (SABP) Crisis Line and Single
Point of Access (SPoA) was open 24/7 and can refer directly to the SABP
home treatment teams (HTTs) for a Rapid response assessment where
needed, these teams ran their usual rotas 24/7 over the winter period. HTTs
primary aim was to safely (and appropriately) support someone at home but
when needed was able to utilise Safe Havens, HTT support (which may
include access to Acute Therapy programmes) and Crisis Overnight Support
Services (COSS Beds).

75.

The People with Learning Disabilities Intensive Support Service (ISS) team
supported people as an alternative to an admission, along with a similar
function in Older Peoples Community Mental Health teams. Psychiatric
Liaison Services were available in all Hospitals 24/7. SABP also provided
CYP Havens (https://www.cyphaven.net) to support children and young
people in crisis.

76.

Out of hours, SABP have support for individuals in crisis through their single
point of access and Safe Havens.

Page 151

77.

The obligations of Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response
(EPRR) guidance and the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, SABP is required to
plan for and respond to a wide range of incidents and hazards that could
affect the health of the wider community and impact on the care of SABP inpatients and the delivery of health care services.

78.

As a member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) SABP works with partner
in the risk assessment of the hazards that are present in the county. These
incidents such as fires on chemical sites, pandemic influenza and fuel
disruption. While many hazards are present at any time of the year, winter
presents specific risks which have been identified and mitigated.

79.

SABP have plans for maintaining service continuity during periods of severe
weather. As part of their plan, SABP has access to 4x4 vehicles and drivers to
ensure continuity of care in the most severe of conditions. We also have tried
and tested processes that aim to ensure that vulnerable people known to
services are supported during periods of cold weather as required under the
Department of Health Cold Weather Plan.

80.

SABP begins staff flu planning in May each year to have an appropriate
immunisation programme in place to support staff. Staffing levels are
monitored on a daily basis on all of our wards, which form part of our daily
hospital calls to all wards. The trust has a pandemic flu plan that would be
operational in the event of a pandemic flu outbreak.

81.

SABP has in place a media and communication response in the unlikely event
of any significant reduction in service, which would support SABP in providing
a response to any incidents occurring during the winter period.

82.

SABP operates a robust On Call Manager and Director system to ensure that
both tactical and strategic responses can be effectively managed 24/7 and in
particular during out of hours periods.

83.

SABP continues to work closely with all their partners and stakeholders to
minimise any adverse seasonal effects on the delivery of our services.

Outputs of the Winter Planning Process
84. Outputs of the Winter Planning process 19/20 were as follows:


All System Partners Winter 19/20 Plans were submitted and reviewed

Page 152







All System Partners New and embedded Winter Schemes were reviewed
and checked for any mutual support required to maintain these schemes.
“Countdown to Winter” Plan produced – Activated (14.10.19 – 30.11.19)
“Home for Christmas” Plan produced – Activated (1.12.19 – 6.1.20)
Triggers for Winter Beds opening agreed with agreed support
requirements from Social Partners agreed,
Christmas and New Year NHSE Assurance gained (20.12.19 – 6.1.20)

85. These Plans were tested in November 2019 via a System-wide Winter
Confirm and Challenge meeting allowing all Partners to question and
confirm supporting partners Winter Plans. A System Wide Winter Table Top
Exercise also took place in December 2020, whereby all System Partners
enacted their plans in a number of test scenarios.
Monitoring and Assurance
86. In addition to the national reporting and assurance processes within the
Frimley System, there is a monthly Urgent & Emergency Care Board which
oversees the performance across the System and monitors the
implementation of the Winter Plan.
87. The Urgent & Emergency Care Board reports directly into the ICS
Leadership Group where performance is monitored, and assurance
obtained from partners. As business as usual, we do monitor on a day to
day basis the Escalation levels of our System partners through the ALAMAC
Reports electronically produced each day this includes the Sitreps of what
capacity is available in community services etc and the other surrounding
System Escalation Levels so that we ca pre-empt any potential border
issues for our System.
88. As a matter of course, any escalation or significant pressure expected or
experienced, the response by the System from our partners is very agile
and responsive.
89. Specifically, in relation to our Winter Plans, an assurance meeting was held
where a peer review took place attended by all System Partners to review
all of their Organisational Winter Plans. The overall Plan was then signed off
by the Frimley ICS Urgent & Emergency Care Board.
90. Also, a Confirm and Challenge submission with NHSE was undertaken for
our 19/20 Plan. Frimley System were commended on a number of
occasions for their robust comprehensive content for the whole System.

Page 153

91. The System is extremely fortunate in terms of having continued maximum
engagement from all partners and a Table Top Exercise of the Winter Plan
was held in November 2019, where full and detailed exploration of the Plans
in place in scenario based situations were tested.
92. For 20/21 Plan, it is felt that much of the day to day activities and additional
Business Continuity arrangements have been fully tested during the System
wide COVID 19 response and so a separate ICS Workshop will not be held
this year. However, the CCGs have participated in a number of LRF
Exercises across our Region.
93. The Urgent and Emergency Care Leads for the ICS System will dial into
weekly NHSE assurance conference calls where performance will be
discussed and assurance sought.
94. A number of Winter measures were monitored and reported to NHSE on a
daily basis, one of those were the A&E Attendances.

Winter Performance / Findings following Winter Review 19/20

19/20 Performance
95.

During the winter 2019/20, attendance to A&E did not see any sustained
increase and remained comparable to the previous year. The main difference
this year was the COVID 19 Response. This saw ED attendances drop
sharply from early February through to April. This is shown in the graph
below.

FHFT ED Attendances 2020/21
800.00
700.00
600.00
500.00
400.00
300.00
200.00
100.00
0.00
Nov-19

Dec-19

Jan-20

Page 154

Feb-20

Mar-20

Apr-20

96. Other measures that were monitored closely over Winter 2019/20 were:
 Ambulance handover delays over 60 minutes,
 12-hour waits in the Emergency Department from decision to admit,
 Delayed transfer of Care,
 National Alert/Escalation Status.
97. During the winter, the number of ambulance delays over an hour were kept
to a minimum. Whilst there were a number of isolated over 60-minute
Handover Breaches no NHSE Winter triggers were breached for over 60minute handovers (above 10 over 60-minute Handover Breaches in 24
hours).
98. The National Alert Status for the Frimley North System did escalate to
OPEL 4 level for one week in January during a period of exceptional
pressure on Bed capacity within both the Acute and Community setting.
Frimley South did not escalate to OPEL 4 at any time over Winter. This was
very different situation in other Systems who regularly escalated to OPEL 4.
99. The findings of the formal Review of the Winter Plan 19/20 with all System
Partners are as follows:











The System did not experience any bad weather that impacted majorly
on capacity for the whole of Health and Social Care,
Up to the outbreak of COVID 19, Seasonal Flu / Infection Control
Issues were lower this winter and thus did not impact on flow,
Whilst Patient attendance remained relative to previous year’s acute
bed capacity was lower, with both Acute and Community Partners
indicating that patient acuity had risen this year, with the patient
requiring lengthier stays before becoming medically stable, and more
complex packages of care to support the discharge and keep the
patient at home,
Excellent partnership working particular during January – Community
Bed delays minimal,
Social Partners and FHFT agreed triggers and the support that would
be required for the opening of additional Winter Pressure beds,
Frimley Park opened 10 additional Community beds (Virgin Care) on a
scaled approach from 4th of January to the 14th January,
Hale Ward (winter Pressure beds) remained closed this year. This was
the First time in 3 years where Hale wards Winter Pressure beds were
not opened.
Partners have bridged Packages of Care, provided mutual and cross
boarder support to avoid delays in a patients discharge

Page 155



Community Partners reported a higher acuity and complexity of
patients being discharged from the Acute, requiring higher levels of
support and longer periods of rehabilitation.

Flu vaccination
100. Vaccination take up was generally good in the different eligible cohorts and
compared well nationally. Specific achievement in 19-20 for target groups
included:
Target Group

Surrey Heath

Farnham

Comment

Patients aged
under 65 years
and in a clinical
risk group

47%

47.3%

Patients aged 65
years and over

75.4%

75.4%

Pregnant women

49.3%

56.7%

Though not
achieving the 55%
target we were 3rd
and 4th highest in
the South East
Farnham and SH
were 2 of only 3
areas in the SE to
achieve the 75%
target
Farnham was the
only area to
achieve the 55%
target

GP Practice
Frontline
Healthcare
Workers

67.5%

78.6%

101. During last winter there were no significant outbreaks of Flu seen across the
system.
Conclusions
102. The System Partners all planned extensively for Winter 19/20 and the System
“coped” well last year having some excellent services / pathways in place for
our patients as an alternative to a hospital admission. The feedback was that
the System was very responsive last year.
103. We will continue this year building on the good practice and improved
services / pathways we have within our System, particularly by locking in the

Page 156

benefits from the changes to practice during the COVID 19 response in order
to place us in the best possible position for the forthcoming winter.
104. Included in our Winter Plan for 20/21, we will be planning for the UK Exit end
of the Transition Year and seeking assurance from System partners in respect
of various areas such as workforce, supplies, rotas and Business Continuity,
105. Confirmation was previously received around supporting EU Nationals to
complete applications and to date no risks have been identified around
specific issues within Organisations in terms of workforce.
106. Lessons have been learnt from last winter and we will progress at pace in
finalising this year’s Winter Plan and expect the Winter Plan to be signed off in
October 2020 at the Frimley ICS Urgent & Emergency Care Board.
107. This year there will be further planning elements such as Covid 19 recovery
and response to a potential Second Wave and also the potential implications
in relation to the UK Exit end of the Transition Year.
Recommendations
108. The Committee is recommended to:
a)

b)
c)
d)

Note the plans put in place by the System Partners for 20/21 Winter Plan
together with the risks associated with winter pressures and the mitigating
actions
Acknowledge the outcomes of winter 19/20
Be assured of the measures put in place by the whole System for
mitigation which promoted resilience throughout the winter season
That preparation for winter 20/21 is already significantly progressed.

Next steps
Complete the Frimley ICS Winter Plan 20/21
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Report contact: Jayne Tunstall
Transformation Lead for Urgent & Emergency Care and Head of System Resilience
Aldershot Centre For Health, Hospital Hill, Aldershot, Hampshire, GU11 1AY 01252
335125 / 07976548046
jayne.tunstall@nhs.net www.northeasthampshireandfarnhamccg.nhs.uk

Page 157

Tom Lawlor
Director of Operations (Interim) - Surrey Heath
Surrey Heath CCG, Surrey Heath House Knoll Road Camberley GU15 3HD Tel.
07557 499686
Tom.lawlor@nhs.net www.surreyheathccg.nhs.uk

Sources/background papers:
Frimley ICS inter Plan 20/21
Frimley ICS Winter Plan 19/20
Frimley ICS Winter Review Report 19/20

Page 158

Item 9

ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE
15 OCTOBER 2020
RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER AND FORWARD WORK
PROGRAMME
The Committee is asked to review its recommendations tracker and forward work
programme.
Recommendation
That the Committee reviews the attached forward work programme and its
recommendations tracker, making suggestions for additions or amendments as appropriate.
Next Steps
The Select Committee will review its work programme and recommendations tracker at each
of its meetings.
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Report contact: Ben Cullimore, Scrutiny Officer
Contact details: 020 8213 2782 / ben.cullimore@surreycc.gov.uk

Page 159

This page is intentionally left blank

www.surreycc.gov.uk

Adults and Health
Select Committee
Forward Work Programme
2020/2021
Adults and Health Select Committee (Chairman: Mrs Bernie Muir, Scrutiny Officer: Ben Cullimore)

Page 161

Date of
Meeting

Scrutiny Topic

Description

Outcome

Method

15 October
2020

Report of the Mental
Health Task Group

The Select Committee is to receive
the report of the Mental Health Task
Group, which was established to map
the individual and carer’s journey
through the adult mental health
system in Surrey in order to consider
how organisations across the public
sector are working together to
support those with mental health
conditions.

The Select Committee will be provided with a detailed
report on the findings and recommendations of the
Mental Health Task Group.

Report

15 October
2020

Update on ASC
Mental Health
Transformation
Programme

The Select Committee is to receive
an update on the ASC Mental Health
Transformation Programme.

The Select Committee will review and scrutinise the
ongoing ASC Mental Health Transformation Programme,
making recommendations accordingly.

Report

15 October
2020

Winter Pressures in
Agreed to be considered in Winter
Surrey Heartlands and Pressures recommendation on 10
Frimley Health and
October 2019.
Care – Follow Up

The Select Committee is to review a follow-up report that
outlines performance against the key themes included in
the original Winter Pressures report. The Select
Committee will also ensure that appropriate measures
are in place for Winter 2020-21.

Report

15 October
2020

Uptake of
Vaccinations in Surrey
Heartlands and
Frimley Health and
Care

Agreed to be considered in Winter
Pressures recommendation on 10
October 2019. Specific reference is to
be made to:





The Select Committee will scrutinise the ongoing work
being done to improve the take up of appropriate
vaccinations in Surrey for residents, NHS staff, partners
and those who interact with the system.

Report

Performance data which
includes reasons why
someone would refuse a
vaccination/not come forward
Communications
Partnership work to raise
awareness and how local
authorities can feed into the
communication and promotion
of vaccinations

Page 162

15 October
2020

2021/22 Budget –
Initial Assumptions

The Select Committee is to receive
an update about initial financial
assumptions concerning the 2021/22
Budget.

The Select Committee will scrutinise the early financial
assumptions concerning the 2021/22 Budget and to
provide relevant feedback before the draft proposals are
fully developed.

Report +
Workshop

17
December
2020

Budget Proposals
2021/22

The Select Committee will receive the
draft budget proposals for 2021/22.

The Select Committee will scrutinise the Council’s budget
proposals, to provide feedback and to make/agree
recommendations.

Report

17
December
2020

Adult Social Care
Complaints Bi-Annual
Review

The Select Committee has identified
complaints received by Adult Social
Care as a key area for examination.
Reports highlighting complaint activity
will be provided to Select Committee
on a bi-annual basis.

The Select Committee is to review complaint activity in
Adult Social Care for the period July – September 2020.

Report

19 January
2021

Proposals for New AllAge Autism Strategy

The Select Committee is to receive a
report on the development of a new
All-Age Autism Strategy.

The Select Committee will review and scrutinise the
development of a new All-Age Autism Strategy, making
recommendations accordingly.

Report

19 January
2021

Adult Social Care
Debt

The Select Committee has identified
the reduction of debt owed to the

The Select Committee will gain an understanding of how
the Council manages debt owed to it by residents for the
provision of adult social care services and gain an insight

Report

Council for the provision of adult
social care services as a key priority.

into whether new initiatives introduced to expedite debt
recovery have been successful.

The Adult Social Care Directorate
has introduced new processes to
improve how it handles and follows
up on debt, which the Committee will
review alongside information on the
Council’s current debt position.

Page 163

19 January
2021

Update on ASC
Practice Improvement
Transformation
Programme

The Select Committee is to receive
an update on the ASC Practice
Improvement Transformation
Programme.

The Select Committee will review and scrutinise the
ongoing ASC Practice Improvement Transformation
Programme, making recommendations accordingly.

Report

To be
confirmed

General Practice
Integrated Mental
Health Service

The Select Committee is to receive
an update on the roll out of GPIMHS
across Surrey, as well as information
on plans for its future development.

The Select Committee will review the progress of the
GPIMHS programme of work, making recommendations
accordingly.

Report

To be
confirmed

Surrey and Borders
Partnership New
Hospitals Programme

The Select Committee is to receive a
report on Surrey and Borders
Partnership’s New Hospitals
Programme, with particular focus on
the development of the Abraham
Cowley Unit at St Peter’s Hospital.

The Select Committee will review the progress of the
New Hospitals Programme and future plans, making
recommendations accordingly.

Report

To be
confirmed

Reconfiguration of
Urgent Care in Surrey
Heartlands

NHS England has developed clear
guidance for commissioners
responsible for the development of
Urgent Care. This report will outline
an update on the impact and risks
associated with the reconfiguration of
Urgent Care services in Surrey
Heartlands.

The Select Committee will review the progress of the
Surrey Heartlands programme of change.

Report

To be
confirmed

Transformation of the
offering of outpatient

Members are to consider a Surrey
Heartlands’ programme of work

The Select Committee will review Surrey Heartlands’
transformation programme, taking into consideration the

Report

Ongoing

which focuses on reducing
substantially the need for patients to
travel to outpatient appointments.
This will contribute to a reduction in
the production of greenhouse gases
and air pollution and will feed into the
Surrey County Council’s ‘Rethinking
Transport’ programme.

associated impacts and risks for Surrey residents and
making recommendations accordingly.

South West London
and Surrey Joint
Health Overview and
Scrutiny – Improving
Healthcare together
2020 - 2030

In June 2017, Improving Healthcare
Together 2020 - 2030 was launched,
a programme led by Merton, Sutton
and Surrey Downs CCGs to review
the delivery of acute services at
Epsom and St Helier University
Hospitals NHS Trust (ESTH). ESTH
serves patients from across Merton,
Sutton and Surrey and so the Health,
Integration and Commissioning
Select Committee joined colleagues
from the London Borough of Merton
and the London Borough of Sutton to
review the Improving Healthcare
Together Programme as it
progresses.

A Sub-Committee of the South West London and Surrey
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been
established to scrutinise the Improving Healthcare
Together 2020 – 2030 Programme as it develops.

Joint Health
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Mental Health

For Members of the Task Group to
understand the patient journey
through the adult mental health
system in Surrey to consider how
organisations across the public sector
are working together to support those
with mental health conditions to live
full and fulfilling lives. The Task
Group will focus its review on adult
mental health services in Surrey

The Task Group will review the journey of adults with
mental health conditions in Surrey through support
services and interventions to assess how their
interactions with different public sector organisations aid
their recovery. The Task Group will present its final report
and recommendations to the Select Committee at its 15
October meeting.

Membership:

Page 164

appointments and
support to health and
care using digital and
technological
innovations

Task Groups

Nick Darby
Bernie Muir
Angela Goodwin
Chris Botten

while recognising that mental health
problems often begin in childhood.

Standing Items (to be considered at each formal Select Committee meeting)



Update on Adult Social Care Transformation: To provide an update on the progress of the Adult Social Care transformation programmes.

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

ADULTS AND HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE - ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER
The recommendations tracker allows Committee Members to monitor responses, actions and outcomes against their recommendations or
requests for further actions. The tracker is updated following each meeting. Once an action has been completed, it will be shaded green to
indicate that it will be removed from the tracker at the next meeting.

KEY
Date of
meeting
14 July
2020

No Progress Reported

Item
Adult Social Care
Transformation
Update

Recommendations/Actions

Action In Progress

To

The Select Committee:

Page 167

1. Requests that a report on
the Mental Health
programme of work is
presented at its next
meeting on 15 October
2020, and that this
outlines the review
process and planned
actions in more detail;
2. Recommends that key
stakeholders and partners
are involves in the Mental
Health review;
3. Recommends that there is
better publicity of the
mental health services
and resources available to
residents;
4. Requests that a detailed
report on the Practice
Improvement programme

Executive
Director of ASC

Deputy Director
of ASC

Deputy Director
of ASC

Executive
Director of ASC

Action Completed

Response
1. A report on the ASC Mental Health
Transformation is included on the
agenda for the 15 October 2020
meeting.
2. The Deputy Director’s response has
been circulated to the Select
Committee.
3. The Deputy Director’s response has
been circulated to the Select
Committee.
4. Added to the forward plan for
consideration in early 2021.

is presented at a future
meeting.
14 July
2020

Accommodation
with Care and
Support
Programme Update

Page 168
14 July
2020

Learning
Disabilities and
Autism Service
Update

The Select Committee:
1. Agrees that a report is
formulated and submitted
to Cabinet to outline its
view on the Decision on
the Change of Route to
Market for Two Extra
Care Housing Sites and
any related
recommendations;
2. Asks for a follow-up report
outlining plans for further
sites for Independent
Living and Extra Care
Housing.

Scrutiny Officer

Assistant
Director of
Commissioning

The Select Committee:
1. Welcomes the progress
made by the Learning
Disability and Autism
Service to date and
supports its plans for the
future;
2. Recommends that future
annual health
assessments are more
focused on unearthing
mental health issues,
which can have physical
manifestations;

1. The report has been submitted to
Cabinet.
2. The Scrutiny Officer is following this up
with the Assistant Director.

Assistant
Director of
Disabilities

Assistant
Director of
Disabilities

Assistant
Director of

1. Officers have been notified of this
recommendation.
2. The Assistant Director is composing a
briefing note to address this and the
below recommendation.
3. The Assistant Director will address this
in the briefing note as above.
4. These will be included on all future
performance dashboards.

3. Recommends that greater
emphasis is placed on the
transition period and that
the steps taken to
address this are outlined
in a follow-up report;
4. Recommends that officers
explore the inclusion of
KPIs on to the Select
Committee’s performance
dashboard to monitor
future progress.
5 June
2020

Page 169

Improving
Healthcare
Together 20202030 Programme
Update

Disabilities/
Scrutiny Officer

The Select Committee:
1. Supports the proposal to
build a new specialist
emergency care hospital
but has not received the
assurances or sufficient
information and data
needed to give its support
to the preferred site in
Sutton.
2. Supports the proposed
investment that will be
made in Epsom Hospital,
wherever it is decided the
new SECH will be built.
3. Recommends that IHT
work with Surrey County
Council to improve
transport access, both
public and private, to the
new SECH and ensure
that these improvements

IHT

IHT

IHT

A response to recommendations 1-5 can be
found on pages 132 to 136 of the document:
https://improvinghealthcaretogether.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/06/Paper3_Paper_Draft-Decision-Making-BusinessCase_03.07.20.pdf
At its last meeting on 29 July 2020, the South
West London and Surrey Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee confirmed
that the Improving Healthcare Together 20202030 Programme sub-committee would
continue to monitor and scrutinise the
progress of the Implementation Plan, with the
next meeting taking place on 21 October
2020.

Page 170

are in place by the
planned opening date in
2025. Furthermore, the
Select Committee
recommends that the
design and
implementation of this
improved public transport
and road network
addresses issues and
concerns raised relating
to travel times, transport
costs, parking and other
access issues impacting
on Surrey residents,
particularly those in areas
of high deprivation.
4. Recommends that
findings from the work
currently being
undertaken on the
immediate effects to the
IHT Programme of the
Covid-19 pandemic, and
the mitigating actions that
will be implemented as a
result, are included in the
final Business Case.
5. Recommends that a full
review of the IHT
Programme is undertaken
when the likely continuing,
long-term impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic is
sufficiently understood.
The scope of the review

IHT

IHT

should include the impact
on the capacity of the
public transport system,
changes to residents’
preferred use of health
services, and changes to
patterns of working for
health workers.

Page 171

4
December
2019

South East Coast
Ambulance Service
Update

6. Recommends that the
South West London and
Surrey Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee ensures that
the Improving Healthcare
Together 2020-2030
Programme subcommittee continues to
monitor and scrutinise the
progress of the
Implementation Plan.

IHT

1. The Select Committee is
to examine the possibility
of Members observing
hospital handover delays.
2. The Select Committee
requests that a report on
SECAmb’s strategic
planning is presented at a
future meeting.

Executive
Director of
Quality and
Nursing,
SECAmb

1. The possibility of a site visit has been
delayed indefinitely due to the Covid19 crisis. However, information on
handovers was circulated to the Select
Committee in the report.
2. The report has been circulated to the
Select Committee.

This page is intentionally left blank

